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Investment Objective, Financial Information and Performance Summary

Investment Objective

Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc (‘the Company’ or ‘AERIF’) will seek to generate stable returns, principally in the form of 
income distributions, by investing in a diversified portfolio of renewable energy infrastructure investments.

Highlights

 � The Company's initial public offering (‘IPO’) took place on 5 June 2019 and raised EUR 154.3 million
 � Over 70.9% of the capital raised during the IPO was invested and a further 23.8% of the proceeds committed by 31 December 2019 
 � Five investments were made into a 132 MW1 diversified portfolio of operating assets across four different countries
 � The Company achieved its dividend target of 1.5 cents2 per Ordinary Share for the period up to 31 December 2019
 � The Company entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement to acquire its first construction-ready asset, which is a 43.2 MW 

wind farm located in Finland
 � The current portfolio is projected to power 93,315 households and offset over 112,723 tonnes of CO2 emissions annually3

 � Long-term structured debt4 is approximately 34.8% of gross asset value5 (‘GAV’)
 � The Company's net asset value (‘NAV’) as at 31 December 2019 increased by 4.8% per Ordinary Share since the IPO 
 � The Company earned a Green Economy Mark from the London Stock Exchange
 � Subsequent to the reporting date:

 –  On 6 March 2020 the Company successfully raised EUR 40.0 million (oversubscribed) under its placing programme (as outlined in 
the Company’s IPO prospectus) to fund future acquisition opportunities

 –  On 23 March 2020, the Company acquired an additional 9.6 MW operating wind farm in Denmark.

Financial information As at 31 December 2019

NAV per Ordinary Share (cents) 102.7

Ordinary Share price (cents) 107.8

Ordinary Share price premium to NAV6 4.9%

Dividends per Ordinary Share (cents) 1.5

Net assets (EUR million) 158.9

Ongoing charges6 1.7%

Performance summary % change7,8

NAV total return per Ordinary Share6 4.8%

Share price return per Ordinary Share6 7.8%

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The disclosure in the tables above is considered to represent the Company’s APMs. Definitions of these APMs and other performance 
measures used by the Company, together with how these measures have been calculated, can be found on page 79.

1 Represents the Company’s proportionate share of total megawatts across its existing investments as of 31 December 2019.
2 All references to cents are in Euros, unless stated otherwise.
3  CO2 savings are based on the Company’s proportionate share. Calculations follow the methodology of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. CO2 savings of European assets are 

based on the European average.
4 Represents the Company’s proportionate share of total debt at the asset (’SPV’) level across its existing investments as of 31 December 2019.
5 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.
6  These are Alternative Performance Measures for the period from commencement of operations on 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019. Share price total return is based on 

an opening share price of EUR 1.00 and NAV total return is based on an opening NAV after launch expenses of EUR 0.98 per Ordinary Share.
7  Total returns in Euro for the period.
8 Source: Bloomberg.
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Strategic Report

Chairman’s Statement 

Introduction
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the first annual 
report of Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc for the 
period to 31 December 2019, and to welcome all of our new 
Shareholders. 

The Company raised EUR 154.3 million of capital in its IPO on 5 June 
2019, to be deployed in an ex-UK, pan-European portfolio of 
renewable energy assets, diversified across both geography and 
generation technology (wind, hydro and solar photovoltaic (‘PV’)). 

On 6 March 2020 the Company successfully raised a further EUR 
40.0 million (oversubscribed) under its placing programme to fund 
future acquisition opportunities.

The investment opportunity for the Company arises from the energy 
transition which is underway, with the urgent need to reduce carbon 
emissions driving a shift to low-carbon sources of energy generation 
and an increasing electrification of energy use. 

Europe is a leading participant in this transition, with renewable 
energy capacity expected to almost double over 2019-40, adding 
518 GW, with significant investment required to support this.

The opportunity for investors to participate in the financing of this 
transition through listed renewable energy infrastructure funds 
(‘REIFs’ or ‘YieldCos’) was pioneered in the UK in 2013, and the 
sector has since become a recognised asset class, with a value of 
some GBP 8.0 billion. 

Within this group, the Company is unique in its exclusive focus on 
pan-European, ex-UK investments.

Dividends and Returns
The Company’s IPO prospectus set out a target dividend of 1.5 
cents per Ordinary Share in relation to the period ended 31 December 
2019. In line with the IPO prospectus, the Company announced its 
first dividend of 0.75 cents per Ordinary Share in November 2019 
and a further 0.75 cents per Ordinary Share in February 2020, in 
respect of the quarterly periods to September and December 2019 
respectively. 

The Company is targeting a dividend of 4.0 cents per Ordinary 
Share in relation to the year ending 31 December 2020, subsequently 
increasing to 5.0 cents per Ordinary Share thereafter. Dividends on 
the Ordinary Shares are expected to be paid quarterly, normally in 
respect of the three months to 31 March, 30 June, 30 September 
and 31 December, with dividends declared in May, August, November 
and February.

As of 31 December 2019, the Company’s NAV was EUR 158.9 
million. This represents an increase of 4.8% since the IPO NAV. This 
strong NAV performance is reflective of capital deployment into 
high quality renewable assets, and our Investment Adviser’s ability 
to add value by de-risking them. 

Investment Strategy and Adviser 
Our investment strategy is deliberately multi-technology, including 
wind, hydropower and solar PV assets. Each of these technologies 
delivers different levels of production volatility, and this is reflected 
in the marketplace for asset acquisition through differing discount 
rates which are applied to their forecasted cash flows. The pan-
European marketplace also offers a changing landscape of Government 
subsidy schemes affecting the value of energy output, with an 
increasing trend towards the withdrawal of new subsidies, replaced 
by a reliance on market prices and bilaterally negotiated power 
purchase agreements (‘PPAs’). The maturity of PPA markets across 
Europe is far from uniform, and whilst some energy markets are 
linked across certain countries, there is certainly no uniformity in 
energy pricing across our target countries. 

The task for our Investment Adviser, Aquila Capital 
Investmentgesellschaft mbH (‘Aquila Capital’ or ‘Investment Adviser’), 
is therefore to scour the landscape of opportunities across Continental 
Europe and Ireland, selecting those with the best risk-adjusted 
return profile, managing correlated and uncorrelated risk, so as to 
optimise the ability of our portfolio to sustain our target dividend 
whilst keeping our asset value whole. 

This task is well matched to the breadth and depth of skills of Aquila 
Capital, part of the Aquila Group, which has over EUR 10.7 billion 
of assets under management or administration (‘AuM/AuA’), and 
has undertaken transactions worth approximately EUR 9.5 billion, 
with aggregate capacity across wind, solar PV and hydropower 
energy of approximately 5,000 MW (as at 31 December 2019). 

The individual investment decisions are made in order to keep the 
portfolio as a whole diversified within our published investment 
restrictions, and to also ensure an appropriate risk-return profile 
between various forms of market remuneration (government 
support, PPA and merchant revenue). In summary, we seek to 
provide investors with regular income, by balancing the portfolio 
across renewable technology, location and remuneration.

Initial Portfolio
Since IPO, the Company has invested in five operating and income 
bearing assets, deploying 70.9% of the initial IPO proceeds raised 
and entered into a conditional commitment for a further 23.8% 
of proceeds raised in relation to a sixth asset, an in-construction 
wind farm. As result of successful capital deployment, the Company 
now has an interest in a 132 MW9 portfolio of operating assets 
located in Denmark, Norway, Finland and Portugal. Further details 
of our portfolio are provided in our Investment Adviser’s report on 
page 8. The steady pace of deployment is a testament to the strong 
pipeline of investible renewable energy assets provided to the 
Company by Aquila Capital. 

9 Represents the Company’s proportionate share of total megawatts across its existing investments as of 31 December 2019.
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Leverage
In keeping with our focus on generating immediate cash yield, the 
Company has targeted assets with only a moderate level of project 
debt. As at 31 December 2019, across the Company’s investment 
portfolio there is approximately EUR 85.0 million of non-recourse, 
project debt (on a proportional basis) at the asset SPV (‘SPV’) level, 
equivalent to approximately 34.8% of GAV. The leverage is fully 
amortising and has been structured to account for each asset’s 
seasonal production profile. There is no existing debt at either the 
Company level or its subsidiary, Tesseract Holdings Limited (‘HoldCo’).

Asset Performance10

The portfolio produced 318.5 GWh of electricity, which is 5.1% 
below the expected electricity production of 335.5 GWh. The 
shortfall in total production is directly related to the portfolio’s 
wind assets, as they were collectively off target by 10.4% as  
a result of below-average wind conditions and minor disruptions. 
Note that below-average wind conditions during this period were 
an industry wide phenomenon and since this time, we have observed 
performance above expectations in 2020.

Supporting the case for technology diversification, the Company’s 
investment in the Sagres hydro portfolio, delivered above  
expectations during the reporting period. The hydro portfolio 
produced 118.5 GWh of electricity, which was 5.5% above 
expectations, mainly due to exceptionally high precipitation in the 
fourth quarter of 2019. Note, these results exclude a contribution 
from Svindbaek I and Svindbaek II which were acquired in  
December 2019 and March 2020 respectively. 

Whilst the Company’s portfolio operates across a number of separate 
markets, overall power prices have been recently subdued due to 
a combination of several factors, including (but not limited to):

 � COVID-19 has had a negative impact on oil and other 
commodity prices on expectations of lower demand

 � Investments in liquified natural gas projects have outpaced 
global demand

 � Winter conditions have been relatively mild across Europe
 � High precipitation in the Nordic region 
 � Rebalancing effect of substituting fossil fuels for intermittent 

sources of energy

Environmental, Social and Governance
The Company strives to provide investors with a truly diversified 
portfolio of renewable assets, by investing in renewable energy 
infrastructure investments such as hydropower plants, onshore 
wind and solar PV across continental Europe and Ireland. Backed 
by this objective, the 132 MW11 portfolio has the potential to power 
93,315 households and offset over 112,723 tonnes of CO2 emissions 
annually12.

The Company is committed to focusing on the green economy, 
and as such has chosen Aquila Capital as its Investment Adviser. 
As a signatory of the United Nations’ Principles for Responsible 
Investments, Aquila Capital has integrated Environmental, Social 
and Governance (‘ESG’) across every single stage of its investment 
process for real assets, reflecting the sustainable strategy of the 
Company. 

In October 2019, the Company became 
one of the first beneficiaries of the Green 
Economy Mark from the London Stock 
Exchange, reflecting the strong 
contribution from the Company towards 
the global green economy. This 
classification is an easy means for investors 
to identify companies that are truly 
aligned to the transition to a sustainable 
low carbon world. 

Conclusion and Outlook
I would like to express my gratitude to my fellow Board members 
and to all of the Company’s advisers, particularly for all of their 
work leading up to the IPO and in the busy period which followed. 

Despite recent movements in power prices and the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Company’s portfolio benefits from both diversification 
and a strong mix of current contracted revenues (via government 
support schemes and PPAs). 

The Board is pleased with the initial progress made by the Company 
in delivering against its investment objectives. Despite a difficult 
market backdrop, the Board believes that this positions the Company 
well for achieving its dividend and return targets in both the short 
and long-term. The pipeline of new investment opportunities that 
the Invesment Adviser is engaged with provides confidence that  
the Company can achieve further gains in portfolio diversification 
and scale.

Ian Nolan 
Chairman
27 April 2020

10  All figures quoted in this section are presented on a proportional basis from the date of economic transfer (Sagres – 1 January 2018, Tesla & Holmen II – 1 January 2019, 
Olhava – 9 August 2019).

11 Represents the Company’s proportionate share of total megawatts across its existing investments as of 31 December 2019.
12  CO2 savings are based on the Company’s proportionate interest share. Calculations follow the methodology of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. CO2 savings of European 

assets are based on the European average.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Investment Advisers’ Report

Investment Adviser Background
The Company’s Alternative Investment Fund Manager (‘AIFM’), 
International Fund Management Limited has appointed Aquila 
Capital as the Investment Adviser to the AIFM in respect of the 
Company. Its key responsibilities are to originate, analyse and assess 
suitable renewable energy infrastructure investments, and advise 
the AIFM accordingly. Additionally, the Investment Adviser performs 
asset management services in relation to the operational assets in 
the portfolio or, to the extent asset management is delegated to 
third parties, oversees and monitors such asset management.

The Aquila Group is an experienced and long-term investor in 
essential, real asset investments. Founded in 2001 by Dr. Dieter 
Rentsch and Roman Rosslenbroich, the Aquila Group currently 
manages EUR 10.7 billion (AuM / AuA) for its clients worldwide (as 
at 31 December 2019). It has transacted an additional EUR 9.5 
billion, including investments in up to 5.0 gigawatts of renewable 
energy capacity, over 1,300,000 square metres of real estate in 
Europe and manages EUR 1.5 billion in multi-asset infrastructure 
(as at 31 December 2019). KlimaInvest Green Concepts, the leading 
German climate neutral company, is also part of Aquila Group. Last 
year Aquila Group entered into a strategic partnership with Daiwa 
Energy & Infrastructure.

Aquila Capital is focused on sustainable performance and creating 
value for its clients by capitalising on macroeconomic trends, 

dislocations and tipping points through bottom-up management 
carried out by highly specialised and passionate investment teams. 
Aquila Capital pursues operational stability, a distinct alignment of 
interest philosophy and stringent corporate governance. 

The business centres on secular and sustainable trends in renewable 
energy, social housing, green logistics, infrastructure, timber and 
agriculture. Within these areas, Aquila Capital offers a range of 
real asset investment strategies managed by dedicated specialists 
in their respective fields. Expert investment teams with entrepreneurial 
mindsets draw on their sector networks and experience to screen, 
develop, finance, manage and operate investments along the entire 
value chain.

As this concept requires local management teams and a local 
presence, Aquila Capital is represented by 14 investment offices in 
12 countries with more than 350 employees at group level. 

The principal regulated entities within the Aquila Group, based in 
Germany and Luxembourg, are subject to significant European 
regulatory standards. Compliance with these standards helps to 
ensure the highest levels of service and comprehensive security for 
the Aquila Group’s investors and business partners.

Embedded in its activities lies a passion for real assets and living 
ESG, better every day.

Transacted capacity

Wind energy 
2,703 MW, >640 WTGs 

Solar PV
1,662 MWp, >50 PV parks

Hydropower
614 MW, 143 plants

Offices

ESG
Overall reduction of CO2 emissions
106.9m tons

Green energy produced
320.9 TWh

Households supplied
88.4m

London

Hamburg (HQ)
Amsterdam

Luxembourg Frankfurt

Zurich

BarcelonaMadrid

Lisbon

Prague

Oslo

Current renewables portfolio of Aquila Capital in Europe13

13  Map is shown for illustrative purposes only. Exact locations of offices and assets might deviate. Points indicate one or more assets and are not indicative of size. Data as at 
31 December 2019. ESG data based on lifetime of the current portfolio.
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Christine Brockwell, Head of Partnerships 
& Portfolio Management, Energy & 
Infrastructure EMEA
Christine Brockwell is responsible for 
establishing and managing partnerships 
with equity investors that pursue direct 
investments in Aquila-managed 
renewable energy assets. In her role 
as Portfolio Manager, she has overall 
responsibility for the investment and 

performance of renewable energy income products. Christine 
has more than 15 years of relevant experience. Prior to joining 
Aquila Capital in 2018, she held positions at Global Capital 
Finance and UK Green Investment Bank (UK GIB), the world’s 
first green bank. As Head of Offshore Wind at the UK GIB, she 
had overall responsibility for the offshore wind sector and its 
related investments. Under her management, UK GIB invested 
for the first time in construction-phase offshore wind assets and 
made investment commitments of 550 million GBP. Christine 
holds a master’s degree in economics from the New York University 
and a bachelor’s degree in biology from the Georgia Institute 
of Technology.

Michael Anderson, Manager Partnerships 
& Portfolio Management, Energy & 
Infrastructure EMEA
Michael Anderson is responsible for 
the management of the Energy & 
Infrastructure team’s income products, 
as well as the origination and execution 
of direct investment opportunities. 
Michael has over 10 years of experience 
in infrastructure, finance and M&A. 

Prior to joining Aquila Group in 2020, he worked in the corporate 
finance and treasury teams at Transurban Group (a listed toll 
road company) in Australia, where he focused on the execution 
of financing and M&A activities. Prior to Transurban Group, he 
was an associate at Greenhill, an independent investment bank. 
Michael holds a bachelor’s degree in economics and a bachelor’s 
degree in business management from the University of Queensland, 
Australia. 

Max Dreiner, Investment Associate Energy 
& Infrastructure EMEA
Max Dreiner is responsible for the 
valuation, due diligence and coordination 
of new investment opportunities as 
well as the structuring of new investment 
products. He has been in the financial 
sector since 2014. Prior to joining Aquila 
Group in 2017, Max worked at AIM 
Luxembourg, where he conducted 

macroeconomic research for potential renewable investments in 
Africa and valued infrastructure investments in South East Asia. 
At KPMG and Ernst & Young, he analysed a variety of investments 
and portfolios for asset management firms and audited their 
financial statements. Max Dreiner holds a bachelor’s degree in 
business administration from the University of Trier and a master’s 
degree in investments and finance from the Queen Mary University 
of London, where he graduated with distinction.

Daniel Metzger, Analyst Partnerships & 
Portfolio Management, Energy & Infra-
structure EMEA
Daniel Metzger is responsible for the 
assessment of new investment 
opportunities and the coordination of 
the investment process. Prior to joining 
Aquila Group in 2019, he worked in the 
auditing and consulting industry with 
a focus on auditing, M&A, and 

restructuring projects in the energy as well as the mechanical 
engineering sector. Daniel holds a bachelor’s degree in business 
informatics from the University of Applied Sciences Mittelhessen 
(THM) and a Master of Science with finance specialisation from the 
Hamburg School of Business Administration (HSBA).

Whilst the entire Aquila Group has over 350 employees worldwide, the Company benefits from a core team that is dedicated to the 
management and ongoing performance of the Company.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Investment Portfolio, Financial Performance and Valuation

Investment Portfolio
Portfolio as at 31 December 2019

Project Type of asset Country Capacity Status COD20

Asset life 
from COD20 Equipment 

Energy 
offtaker

Ownership 
in asset Leverage18 Acquisition date

Tesla Wind energy Norway 150 MW14 Operational
2013-  
2018 25y

N100, N90, 
N117 (Nordex) 

PPA with 
utility/
Spot15 25.9% 29.4% Jul 2019

Sagres Hydropower Portugal 103 MW14 Operational
1951- 
2006 n.a.19 Various

FiT17/ 
 Spot15 18.0% 45.5% Jul 2019

Holmen II Wind energy Denmark 18 MW Operational 2018 25y
V126-3.6 

(Vestas) 
FiP16/  

Spot15 100.0% 42.8% Jul 2019

Olhava Wind energy Finland 35 MW Operational 
2013- 
2015 27.5y

V112-3.0, 
V126-3.3 

(Vestas) 
FiT17/  

Spot15 100.0% 54.5% Sep 2019

Svindbaek Wind energy Denmark 22 MW Operational 2018 25y
SWT-3.2-101 

(Siemens) 
FiP16/  

Spot15 100.0% 29.1% Dec 2019

JUST AN EXAMPLE EQUI TE ELIT VOLOREPRO CONSEQUI

© 2020 AQUILA CAPITAL – FOR PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS ONLY 2

Holmen II

Tesla

Olhava

Sagres

Svindbaek

 Hydropower    
 Windenergy

Portfolio

Source: Aquila Capital as at 31.12.2019

map and quote 

“This is a unique proposition for investors to take advantage 
of the rapidly advancing renewable energy sector in Europe 
and to participate in opportunities presented by Europe’s 
energy transition to a low carbon society. The transition aims 
to create a clean, affordable and reliable energy system in 
Europe, which is reshaping the energy market. 

Aquila Capital has a proven track record of investing in 
the sector. The asset manager will use this expertise to 
provide a balanced mix of tech-
nologies that provide stable cash 
flows and allow for the reliable 
maintenance of dividend targets 
for investors.”

Christine Brockwell, Head Partnerships 
and Portfolio Management, EMEA,  
Lead Investment Adviser of AERIF

Source: Aquila Capital as at 31 December 2019

14 Installed capacity at 100% ownership.
15 Currently, a major part of the portfolio is remunerated with a feed-in tariff (‘FIT’).
16  Feed-in premium is structured as a Contract for Difference (‘CFD’) at the spot market price.
17 FIT is structured as a CFD.
18  Leverage as of 31 December 2019 based on the Fair Value of the Assets.
19 21 Individual assets; average concession life of 13 years.
20  Commercial Operation Date.
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Source: Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH.
21 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.
22 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.
23 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.

Current portfolio

Tesla – Onshore wind farm in Norway
Percent share of GAV21: Approx. 16.3%

Sagres – Small-scale hydropower plants in Portugal
Percent share of GAV22: Approx. 12.9%

Holmen II – Onshore wind farm in Denmark
Percent share of GAV23: Approx. 17.5%

 � Comprises 44 x N100 and N90 wind  
turbines (2.5 MW each) and 11 x N117 wind 
turbines (3.6 MW each) from Nordex.

 � Statkraft power purchase agreement  
covers 70% of the expected P50  
production for the next nine years.

 � Portfolio of 21 operational small-scale 
hydropower plants with a long 
operating history.

 � Approx. 75% of production covered 
by a long-term feed-in tariff, which 
gradually expires for the individual 
power plants.

 � Five Vestas turbines, with a 
capacity factor of 43%.

 � Danish premium tariff for a 
fixed volume of production 
(until 2025).
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Strategic Report (continued)

Source: Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH. 
24 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.
25 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.

Current portfolio

Olhava – Onshore wind farm in Finland
Percent share of GAV24: Approx. 23.1%

Current portfolio
Olhava - Onshore wind farm in Finland

FOR PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS ONLY | CONFIDENTIAL | © 2020 AQUILA CAPITAL

Capacity
35 MW
Status 
Operational
COD
2013, 2015
Offtake / Support
FiT CfD25 / GoO

Project ownership
100%

Percent share of GAV26

Approx. 23.1%

– Consists of 8 x Vestas V112-3.0MW turbines and 3 x Vestas V126-3.3MW turbines

– Qualifies for the Finnish feed-in tariff (“FiT”); eligible for guarantees of origin (GoO) certificates

Source: Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH, as of September 2019. 25 Feed-in tariff is structured as a Contract for Difference (CfD).26 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s 
investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.

 � Consists of 8 x Vestas V112-3.0 MW turbines and 
3 x Vestas V126-3.3 MW turbines.

 � Qualifies for the Finnish feed-in tariff; 
eligible for guarantees of origin 
certificates.

Svindbaek – Onshore wind farm in Denmark 
Percent share of GAV25: Approx. 14.1%

Current portfolio
Svindbaek - Onshore wind farm in Denmark

FOR PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS ONLY | CONFIDENTIAL | © 2020 AQUILA CAPITAL

Capacity
22.4 MW
Status 
Operational
COD
2018
Offtake / Support
FiP / CfD27

Project ownership
100%

Percent share of GAV28

Approx. 14.1%

– 7 Turbines: Siemens Gamesa SWT- 3.2- 101

– Located on the west coast of Denmark 

– Benefits from a Danish Premium tariff (feed-in premium structured as a Contract for Difference) for a fixed volume of production, which is expected to 
last for another 8 years

– The Project helps to save 18,337 tons of CO² emissions which totals ca. 458,433 tons over the projected lifetime of the Project which equals the annual 
average energy consumption of 5,098 households based on an European average

Source: Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH, as of September 2019. 26 Feed-in premium tariff is structured as a Contract for Difference (CfD) at the spot market price.27 GAV is the sum of 
fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant assets and liabilities of AERIF.

 � 7 Turbines: Siemens Gamesa 
SWT-3.2-101.

 � Benefits from a Danish Premium tariff 
(feed-in premium structured as a 
Contract for Difference) for a fixed 
volume of production, which is 
expected to last for another 8 years.

Commitment (Conditional)
Korkeakangas – Onshore wind farm in Finland

Commitment
Korkeakangas - Onshore wind farm in Finland

6FOR PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS ONLY | CONFIDENTIAL | © 2020 AQUILA CAPITAL

Envisaged Capacity
43.2 MW
Status
Construction
Envisaged COD
2022
Envisaged offtake / support
PPA / GoO

Envisaged project ownership
100%

– On 20 December 2019, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement to acquire 100.0% of the shares of Korkeakangas Wind Oy, a 
Finnish company that owns Project Korkeakangas for a total consideration of EUR 36.7 million, subject to certain conditions.

– Consists of 9 x turbines from a top-tier turbine manufacturer with an expected operating life of 30 years.

– Eligible for guarantees of origin (GoO) certificates.

Source: Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH, as of September 2019.1 BNEF, as of November 2019.2 GAV is the sum of fair value valuations of AERIF’s investments, cash and other relevant 
assets and liabilities of AERIF.

 � 20 December 2019, the Company entered into  
a sale and purchase agreement to acquire  
100.0% of the shares of Korkeakangas Wind  
Oy, a Finnish company that owns Project  
Korkeakangas for a total consideration of  
EUR 36.7 million, subject to certain conditions.

 � Consists of 9 x turbines from a  
top-tier turbine manufacturer.

 � Eligible for guarantees of origin certificates.
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Portfolio Breakdown
In the six months ended 31 December 2019, the Company 
exceeded its deployment target, with over 70.9% of the capital 
raised during the IPO invested and a further 23.8% of the pro-
ceeds committed26. The original deployment target for the IPO 
proceeds was nine to twelve months. 

Deployment profile since IPO

0
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40,000

60,000
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120,000

140,000

160,000

Jun 2019 Jul 2019 Aug 2019 Sep 2019 Oct 2019 Nov 2019 Dec 2019

EUR ‘000

0%

25%

50%

75%

100% 

Invested capital Committed capital % invested/committed

In accordance with the Company’s investment objectives, the current 
portfolio is geographically diversified, with investments located in 
Denmark, Finland, Norway and Portugal. The current portfolio 
compromises four onshore wind parks in the Nordics; namely 
Finland, Norway and Denmark and a portfolio of 21 hydro power 
plants located in Portugal. During the period, the Company also 
entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement to acquire 
a sixth asset, Korkeakangas, an onshore wind park located in 
Finland. 

Geographical allocation27

23.1%

16.3%16.2%

Norway

Finland

12.9%
Portugal

Cash and other assets

31.5%
Denmark

The current portfolio was carefully constructed to provide a high 
degree of contracted revenues and stable cash flows. A balanced 
mix of assets benefiting from government subsidies as well as assets 
that benefit from long-term fixed price PPAs provide diversification 
amongst revenue streams and counterparties. Over 70% of the 
present value of AERIF’s forecast revenue over the next 5 years is 
contracted in the form of governmental subsidies or fixed price 
PPA, providing excellent earnings visibility.

Present value of revenues28 (five years)

65.0%

7.5%

27.5%
Fixed price PPA

Governmental subsidy

Market

Present value of revenues28 (ten years)

48.9%

13.7%

37.4%

Fixed price PPA

Governmental subsidy

Market

26 One asset, Korkeakangas is subject to a conditional sale and purchase agreement. 
27  Based on the (‘GAV’) as of 31 December 2019, excludes Korkeakangas.
28 Asset revenues are discounted by the weighted average of all discount rates used for the asset valuations as of 31 December 2019, excludes Korkeakangas.
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The portfolio power generation relative to budget since economic 
transfer date for the financial period ended 31 December 2019 is 
set out in the table above.

Since its inception, the Company’s portfolio has produced 318.5 
GWh of electricity, which was 5.1% below expectations, largely 
due to below-average wind conditions and minor disruptions.

The performance of the wind assets was 10.4% below target, with 
electricity production in 2019 totalling 223.2 GWh. This was partly 
offset by the portfolio’s approach of diversifying across various 
technologies and locations. In contrast to the portfolio’s wind 
assets, which are all located in Scandinavia, the Portuguese hydro 
power portfolio produced 5.5% more electricity than forecasted. 
In Iberia, the hydrological situation improved considerably after a 
dry summer. This was particularly evident in the fourth quarter of 
2019, which saw exceptionally high and intensive precipitation 
levels in Northern Portugal, which led to higher than budget power 
production. Due to the strong performance towards the end of the 
year, the Hydro portfolio was able to offset the below average pre-
cipitation levels in the first months of 2019. 

Earnings during the financial period were also affected by the 
following:

 � Olhava – the technical availability guarantee led to reimburse-
ments by the Operational and Management (‘O&M‘) provider, 
as the guaranteed availability of the wind turbines could not 
be achieved due to substation works and technical incidents

 � Tesla – the asset SPV was obliged to make a compensation 
payment under its PPA, as the amount of electricity delivered 
was less than required under the PPA. Weak market power 
prices in Norway, especially with regard to El-Certs, led to 
below-budget electricity revenue

 � Holmen II – in Denmark, spot prices and subsidies were not 
high enough to offset the impact of lower than expected 
production

 � Sagres – the prices achieved in Portugal were on average 
above the forecast values, resulting in revenues from 2018 
and 2019 which were 6.7% above expectations

Acquisitions
During 2019, the Company successfully completed the following 
investments.

Asset Name Amount (EUR million)

Sagres 16.3

Holmen II 23.8

Tesla 20.6

Olhava 24.4

Svindbaek 24.3

Total30 109.4

On 23 March 2020, the Company also acquired an additional, 
9.6 MW operating wind farm in Denmark (Svindbaek II) for 
EUR 13.2 million. 

Portfolio Production Performance29

Year Budget (GWh) Actual (GWh) Variance (%)

2019 335.5 318.5 (5.1)

29  All figures quoted in this section are presented on a proportional basis from the date of economic transfer (Sagres – 1 January 2018, Tesla & Holmen II – 1 January 2019, 
Olhava – 9 August 2019).

30 Excludes interest receivables, transaction costs and other.

Strategic Report (continued)
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31  Calculation is based on the Company’s proportionate share of asset SPV cash flows (after debt servicing) from the economic transfer date. Calculation excludes Svindbaek 
as it was acquired on 12 December 2019.

Investment Commitment (Conditional)

Project Type of asset Country Capacity Status COD
Asset life 
from COD Equipment 

Energy 
offtaker

Ownership 
(conditional) Leverage Acquisition date

Korkeakangas Wind energy Finland 43 MW Construction 2022 30y Nordex TBD 100.0% TBD
2020 

(envisaged)

On 20 December 2019, the Company entered into a conditional 
sale and purchase agreement to acquire 100.0% of the shares of 
Korkeakangas Wind Oy, a Finnish company that owns Project 
Korkeakangas for a total consideration of EUR 36.7 million, subject 
to certain conditions. 

Project Korkeakangas is a ready-to-build onshore wind farm 
construction project, located in Karstula, Central Finland. Construction 

work began in January 2020 and the project is expected to be fully 
operational in December 2021. The wind farm is expected to have 
an operating life of 30 years with a total capacity of 43.2 MW. 
Whilst the Investment Adviser’s lifetime assumption is generally 25 
years for wind assets, Korkeakangas benefits from an O&M agreement 
with a 30 years availability guarantee.

Dividend Cover
The Company achieved a 6.731 times dividend cover for the period ended 31 December 2019. Note the Company reports a higher dividend 
coverage than what can be expected over the medium and long-term due to a number of factors:

 � Asset SPV cash flow contributions over the reporting period are recorded from their economic transfer dates (Tesla & Holmen II – 
1 January 2019, Olhava – 9 August 2019, Sagres – 1 January 2018), reflecting the terms of each acquisition. Some of these economic 
transfer dates precede the Company’s actual acquisition of these investments. One in particular, Sagres, reflects an 18 month 
differential between the economic transfer date and acquisition date, which yields an extraordinarily high dividend cover. To illustrate 
the impact, excluding Sagres from the dividend coverage calculation would reduce the Company’s dividend cover to 1.6 times

 � As the Company listed on 5 June 2019, only the Q3 dividend is recorded in the dividend coverage calculation 

Leverage
As at 31 December 2019, the Company has approximately EUR 85.0 million of project debt across its investment portfolio (on a look 
through, proportionate basis), representing approximately 34.8% of the GAV. The average length of the investment portfolio debt is 13.0 
years. The leverage is fully amortising and has been structured to account for each asset’s seasonal production profile. 

Equity Issuance and Performance 

Value (EUR) Ordinary Shares on issue
NAV per Ordinary Share 

(EUR cents per share)

Opening NAV IPO 154,304,752 154,304,752 100.0 

Share issue costs (3,122,849)

Subsequent share issues 353,704

Increase in valuation of investments 8,607,381

Foreign exchange losses (12,737)

Net loss for the period (53,661)

Dividend paid (1,160,011)

Closing NAV 31 December 2019 158,916,579 154,668,084 102.7

 � On 31 May 2019, the Company raised EUR 154.3 million in its IPO. Following the admission into London Stock Exchange the company 
issued 154,304,752 Ordinary Shares 

 � The NAV at 31 December 2019 was EUR 158.9 million (102.7 cents per Ordinary Share), representing an increase of 4.8% from IPO, 
after adjusting for share issue costs

 � The costs in relation to the IPO and the issue of the Ordinary Shares amounted to EUR 3.1 million
 � 363,332 Ordinary Shares have been issued to the Company‘s Investment Adviser, in relation to fees payable during the  

financial period, in accordance with the Investment Advisory Agreement
 � The unrealised movement in the fair value of investments amounted to EUR 8.6 million (refer to page 14 for further details)
 � Dividends of EUR 1.2 million (0.75 cents per Ordinary Share) were paid during the financial period with respect to the third quarter of 2019
 � On 6 March 2020 the Company successfully raised EUR 40.0 million (oversubscribed) under its placing programme to fund future 

acquisition opportunities
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Portfolio Valuation Movement

As of 31 December 2019, the Company’s investments were valued as follows:

Asset Name Valuation Amount (EUR million)

Sagres 16.8

Holmen II 24.3

Tesla 28.0

Olhava 25.0

Svindbaek 24.4

A summary of the fair value movement in portfolio valuation is shown below. Most investments within the portfolio experienced a valuation 
uplift resulting from a combination of higher power price curve forecasts and transitioning from purchase price to fair value calculations, 
in accordance with the Company’s valuation policy. The largest contribution related to the Company interests in Tesla, which recorded an 
increase of approximately EUR 7.5 million, as a result of the transition from purchase price to fair value calculations and a recent extension 
of capacity for the asset.

32 Includes HoldCo transaction costs, operating expenses, interest and dividend income, interest paid and payable.

Acquistion cost
of new

invesments

110,052.6

405.6

862.6
353.3

Tesla Sagres  Holmen II Olhava Svindbaek Other32 Valuation as at
31 December 2019

0.0
(472.8)

154,304.8 (3,122.8)

353.7

8,607.4 (12.7) (53.7) (1,160.0)

Opening
NAV IPO

Share
Issue costs

Subsequent 
share issues

Increase in 
valuation of 
Investments

Foreign exchange
losses

Net loss 
for the 
period

Dividend paid Closing NAV as at 
31 December 2019

Portfolio valuation bridge (EUR ‘000)

Strategic Report (continued)
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The chart below shows the Company’s share price performance since the IPO against the Company’s reported NAV. 
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Valuation Assumptions
The Investment Adviser has carried out fair market valuations of the SPV investments as at 31 December 2019 and the Directors have 
satisfied themselves as to the methodology used, the discount rates and key assumptions applied, and the valuation. All SPVs are at fair 
value through profit or loss and are valued using the IFRS 13 framework for fair value measurement. The following economic assumptions 
were used in the valuation of the SPVs.

As at 31 December 2019

Discount rates The valuation methodology comprises country and asset-specific discount rates for each asset.

Power prices Power prices are based on an initial two years of market forward pricing, and then a rolling average 
of capture rates (i.e. technology and country or region specific power price curves) to reflect the 
forecasted impact of intermittent electricity on power prices and to limit quarterly volatility. Power 
price forecasts are independently sourced from a provider with coverage in almost all European 
markets.

Energy yield / load factors Estimated based on third party assessments and operational performance data (where applicable).

Inflation rates Long-term inflation is based on central bank targets for the respective jurisdiction.

Asset life In general, an operating life of 25 years for onshore wind and 30 years for solar PV. In individual 
cases a longer operating life is assumed where the contractual set-up (ie. O&M agreement with 
availability guarantee) supports such assumption. The operating life of hydropower assets are 
estimated in accordance with their expected concession term.

Operating expenses The operating expenses are primarily based on the respective contracts and, where not contracted, 
on the assessment from a technical adviser.

Taxation rates The underlying country-specific tax rates are derived from due diligence reports from leading tax 
consulting firms. 
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Valuation Sensitivities33

A sensitivity analysis is produced to show the impact of changes in 
key assumptions adopted to arrive at the valuation of SPVs. For 
each of the sensitivities, it is assumed that potential changes occur 
independently of each other with no effect on any other base case 

assumption, and that the number of investments in the SPVs remains 
static throughout the modelled life. 

The NAV per Ordinary Share impact from each sensitivity is shown 
below. 

Strategic Report (continued)

(i) Discount Rates
The discounted cash flow (‘DCF’) valuation of the SPV investments 
represents the largest component of NAV and the key sensitivities 
are considered to be the discount rate used in the DCF valuation and 
assumptions.

The weighted average discount rate applied to calculate the portfolio 
valuation is 7.6% at 31 December 2019. 

An increase or decrease of 0.5% in this rate at project level has the 
following effect on valuation.

Discount rate

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

-0.5% 
Change 

 EUR ‘000

Total  
NAV Value  

EUR ‘000

+0.5%
Change  

EUR ‘000

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 3.97 165,057 158,917 153,209 (3.69)

(ii) Power Price
Long term power price forecasts are provided by a leading market 
consultant and are updated quarterly. The sensitivity below assumes 
a 10.0% increase or decrease in power prices relative to the base 
case for every year of the asset life, which is relatively extreme (a 
10.0% variation in short term power prices, as reflected by the 
forward curve, would have a much less effect). The sensitivity considers 
a flat 10.0% movement in power prices for all years, i.e. the effect 

of adjusting the forecast electricity price assumptions in each of the 
jurisdictions applicable to the portfolio down by 10.0% and up by 
10.0% from the base case assumptions for each year throughout 
the operating life of the SPV.

A 10.0% increase or decrease in the forecast electricity price has the 
following effect.

Power price

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

-10.0% 
Change 

EUR ‘000

Total  
NAV Value  

EUR ‘000

+10.0%
Change  

EUR ‘000

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (9.09) 144,854 158,917 172,723 8.93

0c
EUR cents per
Ordinary Share5c 10c 15c-15c

Power Price (+/- 10%)

Energy Yield (p10/p90 10 years)

Inflation (+/- 0.5%)

Discount Rate (+/- 0.5%)

OpEx (+/- 10%)

Asset Life (+/- 1 year)

-10c -5c

33 References in this section to per share, refer to Ordinary Shares.
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(iii) Energy yield
The base case assumes a ‘P50’ level of output. The P50 output is 
the estimated annual amount of electricity generation (in MWh) 
that has a 50.0% probability of being exceeded, both in any single 
year and over the long term – and a 50.0% probability of being 
under achieved. Hence the P50 is the expected level of generation 
over the long term. The sensitivity illustrates the effect of assuming 
‘P90 10 year’ (a downside case) and ‘P10 10 years’ (an upside case) 
energy production scenarios. A P90 10 years downside case assumes 
the average annual level of electricity generation that has a 90.0% 
probability of being exceeded over a 10 years period. A P10 10 years 
upside case assumes the average annual level of electricity generation 
that has a 10.0% probability of being exceeded over a 10 years 

period. This means that the portfolio aggregate production outcome 
for any given 10 years period would be expected to fall somewhere 
between these P90 and P10 levels with an 80.0% confidence level, 
with a 10.0% probability of it falling below that range of outcomes 
and a 10.0% probability of it exceeding that range. The sensitivity 
does not include the portfolio effect which would reduce the 
variability because of the diversification of the portfolio. The 
sensitivity is applied throughout the next ten years.

The table below shows the sensitivity of the SPV value to changes 
in the energy yield applied to cash flows from project companies 
in the portfolio as per the terms P90, P50 and P10 explained above.

Energy yield

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

P90 
10 year Total 

EUR ‘000

Total  
NAV Value  

EUR ‘000

P10 
10 year Total

EUR ‘000

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (8.71) 145,450 158,917 171,783 8.32

(iv) Inflation Rates
The projects’ income streams are principally a mix of subsidies, fixed-
price PPAs and merchant revenues. Subsidies and fixed-price PPAs 
tend not to be inflation linked, whilst merchant revenues are generally 
subject to inflation. The current contractual life of subsidies and 
fixed-price PPAs are shorter than their respective asset lives, meaning 
from a valuation perspective, the assets are more exposed to merchant 
revenues over the asset life. The projects’ management and maintenance 
expenses typically move with inflation, but debt payments are fixed. 
This results in the SPV returns and valuation being positively correlated 
to inflation. The SPVs valuation assumes long-term inflation of 
2.0% p.a.

The sensitivity illustrates the effect of a 0.5% decrease and a 0.5% 
increase from the assumed annual inflation rates in the financial 
model for each year throughout the operating life of the SPV.

Inflation

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

-0.5% 
Change 

EUR ‘000

Total  
NAV Value  

EUR ‘000

+0.5%
Change  

EUR ‘000

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (3.72) 153,167 158,917 165,108 4.00
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(v) Asset Life
In general, an operating life of 25 years for onshore wind and 30 
years for solar PV is assumed. In individual cases, a longer operating 
life is assumed where the contractual set-up (ie. O&M agreement 
with availability guarantee) supports such an assumption. The 
operating life of hydropower assets are estimated in accordance with 
their concession term.

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact on the valuation 
assuming all assets within the portfolio have a year longer and a 
year shorter asset life assumed.

Asset life

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

-1 year 
Change 

EUR ‘000

Total  
NAV 

Value  
EUR ‘000

+1 year
Change  

EUR ‘000

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (3.12) 154,094 158,917 163,286 2.82

(vi) Operating Costs
The sensitivity shows the effect of a 10.0% decrease and a 10.0% 
increase to the base case for annual operating costs for the SPVs, 
in each case assuming that the change to the base case for operating 
costs occurs with effect from 1 January 2020 and that change to 

the base case remains reflected consistently thereafter during the 
life of the project.

An increase or decrease of 10.0% in operating expenses at the SPV 
level has the following effect on valuation, as shown below.

Operating costs

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

-10.0% 
Change 

 EUR ‘000

Total  
NAV

Value  
EUR ‘000

+10.0%
Change  

EUR ‘000

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 3.64 164,545 158,917 153,280 (3.64)

Strategic Report (continued)
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Market Outlook34

Despite recent market developments as a result of COVID-19, the 
long-term outlook for income producing wind, solar PV and 
hydropower assets throughout continental Europe and Ireland 
remains strong. European leaders continue to support the transition 
to a low carbon society through an increase of their country’s 
Renewable Energy Share (‘RES’). The recent agreement on the 
revised Renewable Energy Directive (EU) 2018/2001, which increased 
the overall European Union (‘EU’) target for RES to 32% in 2030, 
is expected to further increase renewable energy investments in 
the region and contribute to the long-term goal of 75% of the EU 
energy mix from renewable energy in 2050.

Europe is expected to generate 87% of the electricity mix from 
renewables by 2050 with wind and solar PV being the most prominent. 
It is expected that onshore wind will contribute approximately 80% 
of the wind electricity provided to the European grid. Hydropower 
is also seen as a key source of energy, providing around 14% of 
electricity for the period 2018-2050. By 2030, more than half of 
Europe’s electricity is expected to be supplied by wind and solar PV. 
With respect to fossil fuel, coal and gas are expected to be in constant 
decline from 35% in 2017 to 10% by 2032. Nuclear is also expected 
to phase-out from 25% in 2017 to 8% in 2050. The advancement 
of the renewables market is anticipated to drive investments totaling 
USD 1.8 trillion until 2050, providing sufficient opportunity for the 
Company’s continued growth.

Governments across Europe are increasingly focused on market-
based, sustainable support schemes to limit the impact on consumer 
bills. In response, we expect new projects to be built in locations 
where they are economically viable, without having to rely on 
government support. This trend is supported by a significant 
reduction in wind and solar PV Levelised Cost Of Energy over the 
past decade, which has allowed renewables investment activity to 
be focused in areas with a strong matching natural resource. For 
that reason, we expect Southern Europe will be increasingly attractive 
for solar PV opportunities, Northern Europe plus coastal areas for 
wind opportunities and regional specific areas characterised by 
high precipitation for hydropower. 

All of the Company’s wind investments to-date have been in Nordic 
countries associated with high wind speeds, and its hydropower 
investments are located in central and northern Portugal where 

there is comparatively higher precipitation than in the southern 
part of the country. Our 2020 outlook of investments is expected 
to follow a similar geographic pattern. 

Another trend we expect to continue is investor interest in long-
term fixed-price PPAs to mitigate market power price risk. Whilst 
utilities have traditionally dominated the market, corporate offtakers 
are becoming more prevalent. The Company views the implementation 
of PPAs as an important part of its overall strategy. 

The Investment Adviser has a dedicated Merchant Markets Desk 
(‘MMD’) responsible for the origination, negotiation and execution 
of PPAs. The MMD team works with the off takers to structure 
delivery obligation profiles and alternative hedging solutions. Below 
are the main PPA pricing structures applied to the contracts and 
associated considerations. 

When considering the structure of PPAs, the views on market risk 
and outlook are the key driver behind approaches to power purchase, 
given the trade-off between security (e.g. price certainty) and 
potential upside (e.g. long term prices in merchant market). Analysis 
of the risk profile of different products and consideration of visible, 
long term revenue and the potential to capture potential upside 
on long term prices are key to the right balance between risk and 
return.

34 Source: Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH.
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COVID-19
COVID-19, the disease caused by the Coronavirus, is  becoming an 
increasing challenge for the global economy.

Since the launch of the Company in June 2019, the portfolio has 
been built on the basis of a robust investment strategy, from which 
the Company is currently benefiting. In particular, this includes 
assets with low gearing, the lowest possible foreign currency impact 
and a high level of contracted revenues in the near and mid-term. 
Further, the portfolio of assets is diversified across renewable 
technologies, energy markets and regions.

The Company's existing investments in Sagres, Holmen II, Tesla, 
Olhava, Svindbaek I and II are connected to the power grid as 
existing investments and continue to produce electricity regardless 
of current market conditions. There is no project development risk 
for these investments.

Each of the Company's existing investments continue to benefit 
from contracted revenue either in the form of government subsidies 
FIT or PPAs which last between 6 and 10 years. As a result, the 
electricity prices for a large portion of the production volume are 
protected and not fully dependent on short to medium term 
macroeconomic developments. Over 70% of the present value of 
the Company’s forecast revenue (as at 31 December 2019) over 
the next five years is contracted in the form of governmental 
subsidies or fixed price PPA, providing excellent earnings visibility. 

As a result of the pro-active asset management practices implemented 
by Aquila Group, all existing facilities are technically in top condition 
and production is not affected by current market conditions. Aquila 
Group’s asset management teams are in close contact with the 
technical and commercial operating managers of the affiliated 
companies in order to continue to ensure the best possible operation 
of the plants and, if necessary, to react to changing risk profiles.

The Company’s Investment Adviser and other stakeholders have 
implemented procedures to ensure the safety and wellbeing of all 
employees, as well as preserving business continuity.

Conclusion
The Investment Adviser believes that Company’s diversified portfolio 
by geography, technology and remuneration mix positions the 
Company well to selectively target future investment opportunities 
which fit the Company’s investment policies. The Company is 
supported by its Investment Adviser, which has a team of more 
than 50 investment professionals focused on the acquisition of 
renewable power generation assets to further expand the portfolio 
and achieve an adequate level of installed capacity. As such, the 
Company is in a strong position to actively participate in the energy 
transition.

Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH
27 April 2020

PPA pricing structures

Types of PPA Volume deliver obligation & delivery profile Volume risk
Production 
profile risk Merchant risk

Fixed Volume

Baseload

 � Predefined volumes according to a predefined 
hourly profile

 � Delivery profile obligations for every hour

 � Pre-agreed fixed or floor price

Fixed Volume for 
defined period

 � Annual/quarterly/monthly  
pre-defined volumes

 � Delivery profile obligation within the predefined 
timeframe but no matter when

 � Pre-agreed fixed or floor price

Variable 
Volume

As-Produced

 � Pre-agreed % of production at  
a pre-agreed fixed or floor price

 � No volume delivery obligation  
or delivery profile obligation

Route-to-Market

 � Pre-agreed % of production at  
market spot price price

 � No volume delivery obligation  
or delivery profile obligation

 � No fixed or floor price
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Environmental, Social and Governance

In 2015, the UN launched 17 Sustainable Development Goals 
(‘SDG’), with the purpose of putting an end to poverty, improving 
health and education, reducing inequality, spurring economic 
growth and tackling climate change around the world. These 
goals are set to stimulate action for people, the planet and 
prosperity, with the agenda of transforming the world by 2030.

Investors, companies and countries are all needed to help mobilise 
capital and achieve these goals, as according to the UN Commission 
on Trade and Development, meeting the SDGs will require USD 
five to seven trillion in investment each year from 2015 to 2030.35

Providing investors with a balanced portfolio of renewable 
assets which supports Europe’s Energy Transition goals.
In 2018, the EU agreed a climate and energy framework and set 
ambitious goals for 2030. The EU aim is to have a clean, affordable 
and reliable energy system in Europe, through at the end of targeting:

 � At least a 40% decline below 1990 levels in greenhouse gas 
emissions

 � A 32% renewables share of the energy system
 � A 32.5% improvement in energy efficiency

The Company aims to invest in a diversified portfolio of renewable 
energy infrastructure investments, including hydropower plants, 
onshore wind and solar PV, across continental Europe & Ireland. 
The objective of the fund is to provide investors with a truly diversified 
portfolio of renewable assets.

“This is a unique proposition for investors to take advantage of 
the rapidly advancing renewable energy sector in Europe and 
to participate in opportunities presented by Europe’s energy 
transition to a low carbon society. The transition aims to create 
a clean, affordable and reliable energy system in Europe, which 
is reshaping the energy market.

Aquila Capital has a proven track 
record of investing in the sector. The 
Investment Adviser will use this 
expertise to provide a balanced mix 
of technologies that provide stable 
cash flows and allow for the reliable 
maintenance of dividend targets for 
investors.”

Christine Brockwell,  
Lead Investment Adviser 

35  Source: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/blog/2017/7/13/What-kind-of-blender-do-we-need-to-
finance-the-SDGs-.html).
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With the objective of providing investors with a truly diversified portfolio of renewable assets, the Company contributes to the following 
four SDGs of the UN 17 SDGs.

Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts.

We are committed to investing in the energy transition. Our current renewables portfolio, which includes wind farm 
investments across Finland, Norway and Denmark, and a hydropower plant investment in Portugal, is projected to save 
112,273 tons of CO2 emissions annually (proportionate share).

Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all.

We are committed to investing in and expanding clean energy sources such as solar PV, wind and hydro.

Our current portfolio is projected to produce more than 8.3 TWh of green energy over its lifetime (proportionate share).

Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialisation and foster innovation.

Building resilient renewable energy is a key part of infrastructure and is crucial to achieving sustainable development. The 
more investment there is in renewable energy, the greater the technological innovation. As a result of investment, there 
has been a significant improvement in the cost efficiency of green energy supplies, in particular from wind and solar PV.

Make cities inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable.

Running towards a tighter community
The wind farm Tesla is an onshore wind farm in operation in southwestern Norway. It has a capacity of 150 MW and is 
currently the largest wind farm in the country. Every year, a festival is organised for the local community, which aims to 
bring the community together and strengthen relationships. Around 500-800 participants gather at this annual festival, 
either taking part in the run, a public march, or simply to spend some time together and be a part of the community. In 
addition to this day, we also organise a seperate half marathon and a special 5,419 km run (which is the same length as 
the Fitjar postcode) in June, to further boost our involvement in building the community spirit.
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LSE acknowledges AERIF as a Green Economy Fund

After the Company was listed on the London Stock Exchange (‘LSE’), 
it was awarded the Green Economy Mark by the LSE. This label 
recognises all listed companies and funds which derive 50% or 
more of their total revenues from products and services that 
contribute to the global green economy.

The Green Economy Mark is based on a 
methodology that incorporates the FTSE 
Russell Green Revenues data model, which 
categorises companies using a unique 
industrial taxonomy for green goods, 
products and services. It has been designed 
to recognise companies across any industry 
that make a significant contribution to the 
transition to a low carbon economy.

“The Board welcomes this move by the London Stock Exchange 
to single out those companies and funds which are truly focused 
on the green economy. With many investors looking to benefit 
from the ongoing transition to a sustainable low carbon world, 
it is important that investors have an 
easy means to identify those companies 
and funds which are truly aligned to 
this. We are extremely pleased to be 
recognised in this way and to be among 
the first beneficiaries of this 
accreditation”

Ian Nolan, Chairman of the Company

Our purpose
Backed by the purpose of investing in the transformation to cleaner 
energy, the Company firmly believes that acting responsibly towards 
the environment and their investors is a key factor of long-term 
success. Our goal is to be a responsible investor, ensuring that ESG 
criteria are incorporated into our day-to-day investment decisions.

Our commitment
Since our launch, we have been committed to sustainable investing. 
This is reflected across our investment philosophy and approach, 
including the selection of our investment adviser, Aquila Capital. 
We chose to partner with an investment adviser that has sustainable 
goals which are aligned to ours, ensuring that we are able to provide 
a holistic responsible investment offering.

 

“Climate change and the necessity to transition to a low-carbon 
economy has changed the investment world. While investors 
are more aware of the implications that ESG factors can play in 
risk mitigation and performance, 
regulators are also increasingly 
concerned with how companies interact 
not only with the environment but also 
with their employees and society. 
Aquila Capital approaches ESG from 
all of these angles in order to provide 
a holistic view.”

Daniela Hamann, ESG representative and 
Head of Corporate Communication at  
Aquila Capital
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Investment Policy and Key Performance Indicators

Investment policy
The Company will seek to achieve its investment objective set 
out on page 3, through investment in renewable energy infrastructure 
investments in continental Europe and the Republic of Ireland 
comprising (i) wind, photovoltaic and hydropower plants that 
generate electricity through the transformation of the energy of 
the wind, the sunlight and running water as naturally replenished 
resources, and (ii) non-generation renewable energy related 
infrastructure associated with the storage (such as batteries) and 
transmission (such as distribution grids and transmission lines) 
of renewable energy, in each case either already operating or in 
construction/development (‘Renewable Energy Infrastructure 
Investments’).

The Company will acquire a mix of controlling and non-controlling 
interests in Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments and 
may use a range of investment instruments in the pursuit of its 
investment objective, including but not limited to equity, mezzanine 
or debt investments.

In circumstances where the Company does not hold a controlling 
interest in the relevant investment, the Company will seek, through 
contractual and other arrangements, to, inter alia, ensure that 
the Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investment is operated and 
managed in a manner that is consistent with the Company’s 
Investment Policy, including any borrowing restrictions.

Investment restrictions
The Company aims to achieve diversification principally through 
investing in a range of portfolio assets across a number of distinct 
geographies and a mix of wind, solar PV and hydro technologies 
involved in renewable energy generation. The Company will observe 
the following investment restrictions when making investments:

 � no more than 25 per cent. of its Gross Asset Value (including 
cash) will be invested in any single asset;

 � following full investment of the Net Issue Proceeds, the 
Company’s portfolio will comprise no fewer than six 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments;

 � no more than 20 per cent. of its Gross Asset Value (including 
cash) will be invested in non-generation renewable energy 
related infrastructure associated with the storage (such as 
batteries) and transmission (such as distribution grids and 
transmission lines) of renewable energy;

 � no more than 30 per cent. of its Gross Asset Value (including 
cash) shall be invested in assets under development and/or 
construction;

 � no more than 50 per cent. of its Gross Asset Value (including 
cash) shall be invested in assets located in any one country;

 � no investments will be made in assets located in the UK; and
 � no investments will be made in fossil fuel assets.

Compliance with the above restrictions will be measured at the 
time of investment and non-compliance resulting from changes in 
the price or value of assets following investment will not be considered 
as a breach of the investment restrictions.

The Company will hold its investments through one or more SPVs 
and the investment restrictions will be applied on a look-through 
basis.

Although not forming part of the investment restrictions or the 
Investment Policy, where Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments 
benefit from a power purchase agreement, the Company will take 
reasonable steps to avoid concentration with a single counterparty 
and intends that no more than 25 per cent. of income revenue 
received by Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments will be 
derived from a single off-taker.

Changes to the investment policy
The Directors do not currently intend to propose any material 
changes to the Company’s investment policy. Any material changes 
to the Company’s investment policy set out above will only be made 
with the approval of Shareholders.

Hedging
The Company does not intend to use hedging or derivatives for 
investment purposes but may from time to time use derivative 
instruments such as futures, options, futures contracts and swaps 
(collectively ‘Derivatives’) to protect the Company from fluctuations 
of interest rates or electricity prices. The Derivatives must be traded 
on a regulated market or by private agreement entered into with 
financial institutions or reputable entities specialised in this type of 
transaction.

Liquidity management
The Alternative Investment Fund Manager (‘AIFM’) will ensure that 
a liquidity management system is employed for monitoring the 
Company’s liquidity risks. The AIFM will ensure, on behalf of the 
Company, that the Company’s liquidity position is consistent at all 
times with its Investment Policy, liquidity profile and distribution 
policy. Cash held pending investment in Renewable Energy Infrastructure 
Investments or for working capital purposes will be invested in cash 
equivalents, near cash instruments, bearer bonds and money market 
instruments.

Borrowing limits
The Company may make use of long-term limited recourse debt 
for Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments to provide leverage 
for those specific investments. The Company may also take on 
long-term structural debt provided that at the time of entering into 
(or acquiring) any new long-term structural debt (including limited 
recourse debt), total long-term structural debt will not exceed 50 
per cent. of the prevailing Gross Asset Value. For the avoidance of 
doubt, in calculating gearing, no account will be taken of any 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments that are made by the 
Company by way of a debt or a mezzanine investment. In addition, 
the Company may make use of short-term debt, such as a revolving 
credit facility, to assist with the acquisition of suitable opportunities 
as and when they become available. Such short term debt will be 
subject to a separate gearing limit so as not to exceed 25 per cent. 
of the Gross Asset Value at the time of entering into (or acquiring) 
any such short-term debt.
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In circumstances where these aforementioned limits are exceeded 
as a result of gearing of one or more Renewable Energy Infrastructure 
Investments in which the Company has a non-controlling interest, 
the borrowing restrictions will not be deemed to be breached. 
However, in such circumstances, the matter will be brought to the 
attention of the Board who will determine the appropriate course 
of action.

Dividend policy
Subject to having sufficient distributable reserves to do so, the 
Company is targeting a minimum of 4.0 cents per Ordinary Share 
in relation to the financial year ending December 2020 and 
5.0 cents per Ordinary Share in respect of subsequent financial 
years, with the aim of increasing this dividend progressively over 
the medium term.

Distributions on the Ordinary Shares are expected to be paid 
quarterly, normally in respect of the three months to 31 March, 
30 June, 30 September and 31 December, and are expected to 
be made by way of interim dividends to be declared in May, 
August, November and February. Following Admission, the first 
interim dividend was declared in November 2019 in respect of 
the period to 30 September 2019.

The Company will declare dividends in Euro and Shareholders will, 
by default, receive dividend payments in Euros. Shareholders may, 
on completion of a dividend election form, elect to receive dividend 
payments in Sterling (at their own exchange rate risk). The date 
on which the exchange rate between Euro and Sterling is set will 
be announced at the time the dividend is declared. A further 
announcement will be made once the exchange rate has been 
set. Dividend election forms will be available from the Registrar 
on request.

Key performance indicators (‘KPIs’)  
The Board measures the Company’s success in achieving its investment 
objective by reference to the following KPIs:

(i) Achievement of NAV and share price growth over the long term
The Board monitors both the NAV and share price performance 
and compares with other similar investment trusts. A review of 
performance is undertaken at each quarterly Board meeting and 
the reasons for relative under and over performance against various 
comparators is discussed. The Company’s NAV and share price 
returns for the period from listing on 5 June 2019 to 31 December 
2019 was 4.8% and 7.8% respectively.

The Chairman’s statement on pages 4 and 5 incorporates a review 
of the highlights during the period. The Investment Adviser’s Report 
on pages 6 to 20 highlights investments made and the Company’s 
performance during the period. 

(ii) Maintenance of a reasonable level of premium or discount of 
share price to NAV
The Company’s Broker monitors the premium or discount on an 
ongoing basis and keeps the Board updated as and when appropriate. 
At quarterly Board meetings the Board reviews the premium or 
discount in the period since the previous meeting in comparison 
with other investment trusts with a similar mandate. 

(iii) Maintenance of a reasonable level of ongoing charges  
The Board receive management accounts which contain an analysis 
of expenditure which are reviewed at their quarterly Board meetings. 
The Board reviews the ongoing charges on a quarterly basis and 
considers these to be reasonable in comparison to peers.

Based on the Company’s average net assets during the period ended 
31 December 2019, the Company’s ongoing charges figure calculated 
in accordance with the AIC methodology was 1.7%.

(iv) To meet its target total dividend in each financial year  
The Company’s IPO Prospectus set out a target dividend of 1.5 
cents per Ordinary Share in relation to the period ended 31 December 
2019. In line with the IPO prospectus, the Company announced its 
first dividend of 0.75 cents per Ordinary Share in November 2019 
and a further 0.75 cents per Ordinary Share in February 2020, in 
respect of the quarterly periods to September and December 2019 
respectively.  

The Company aims to pay 4 cents per Ordinary Share in relation to 
the year ending 31 December 2020, and then 5 cents per Ordinary 
Share.
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Risk and Risk Management 

Principal risks and uncertainties
The Company has carried out a robust assessment of its principal 
and emerging risks and the procedures in place to identify any 
emerging risks are described below.

Procedures to identify principal or emerging risks  
The Board regularly reviews the Company’s risk matrix and focuses 
on ensuring that the appropriate controls are in place to mitigate 
each risk. The experience and knowledge of the Board is important, 
as is advice received from the Board’s service providers, specifically 
the AIFM, who is responsible for the risk and portfolio management 
services and outsources the portfolio management to the Investment 
Adviser. The following is a description of the work that each service 
provider highlights to the Board on a regular basis.

1.  Investment Adviser: the Investment Adviser provides a report 
to the Board at least quarterly or periodically as required on 
industry trends, insight to future challenges in the renewable 
sector including the regulatory, political and economic changes 
likely to impact the renewables sector;  

2.  Alternative Investment Fund Manager (‘AIFM’): following advice 
from the Investment Adviser and other service providers, the 
AIFM maintains a register of identified risks including emerging 
risks likely to impact the Company; 

3.  Broker: provides advice periodically specific to the Company 
on the Company’s sector, competitors and the investment 
company market whilst working with the Board and Investment 
Adviser to communicate with Shareholders;

4.  Company secretary: briefs the Board on forthcoming legislation/
regulatory change that might impact on the Company.

5.  AIC: The Company is a member of the Association of Investment 
Companies (‘AIC’), which provides regular technical updates as 
well as drawing members’ attention to forthcoming industry 
and regulatory issues.

Procedure for oversight 
Audit and Risk Committee: Undertakes a review at least twice a 
year of the Company’s risk matrix and a formal review of the risk 
procedures and controls in place at the AIFM and other key service 
providers to ensure that emerging (as well as known) risks are 
adequately identified and so far as practicable, mitigated.
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Principal risks
The Board considers the following to be the principal risks faced by the Company along with the potential impact of these risks and the 
steps taken to mitigate them.

Principal Risks Potential Impact/Description Mitigation

Economic and Political
Electricity Prices The income and value of the Company’s 

investments may be affected by future 
changes in the market price of electricity.

While some of the revenues of the 
Company’s investments benefit from fixed 
prices, they are also partly dependent on the 
wholesale market price of electricity which is 
volatile and is affected by a variety of factors 
including:

 � market demand

 � generation mix of power plants

 � government support for various forms 
of power generation

 � fluctuations in the market prices of 
commodities

 � foreign exchange

There is a risk that the actual prices 
received vary significantly from the model 
assumptions, leading to a shortfall in 
anticipated revenues by the Company.

The Company holds a balanced mix of 
investments that benefit from government 
subsidies as well as long term fixed price 
PPAs. Over 70% of the present value of 
AERIF’s forecast revenue over the next 5 years 
is contracted in the form of governmental 
subsidies or fixed price PPA36.

The Investment Adviser retains the services 
of a market leading energy consultant to 
assist with determining future power pricing.

The Company may use derivative instruments 
such as futures, options, futures contracts 
and swaps to protect from fluctuations in 
future electricity prices.

Interest Rates/Inflation Changes to interest rates may impact 
discount rates applied to the portfolio 
valuations and costs of debt both in the 
underlying SPVs and the Company. Risks 
from changes in interest rates also include 
debt refinancing risk and the possibility of 
bank covenant breaches with a resulting 
valuation impact and potential loss on 
underperforming investments.

Future revenue and expenditure of the 
Company’s investments include assumptions 
about inflation. Any variation from these 
inflation assumptions could impact, positively 
or negatively, the valuations and the asset 
value performance of the Company.

Interest rate risk on bank debt is mitigated by 
use of hedging instruments. 

The AIFM monitors the effectiveness of the 
hedging strategy. 

Most of the Company’s non-contracted 
revenues and costs of the Company’s 
investments are either indexed or correlated 
to inflation.

36   Present value of operating revenue over the next five years as at 31 December 2019. Revenue streams are discounted by the weighted average of all discount rates used 
in the asset valuations as of 31 December 2019.
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Principal Risks Potential Impact/Description Mitigation

Exchange Rates The Company holds investments in non-
Eurozone jurisdictions. Changes in foreign 
currency rates may therefore impact the 
value of investments and of the income 
received.

The Company maintains all uninvested cash 
in base currency (Euro) other than for small 
amounts of operational cash in sterling and 
therefore does not expect a need to hedge 
currency. 

The AIFM monitors and reports regularly to 
the Board on currency exposure.

SPV’s may have natural hedges to non-Euro 
revenue through structuring of operating 
expenses and debt service in the respective 
currency to hedge some currency exposure. 

Equity Market Volatility The Company’s ability to raise equity from 
investors to repay debt or to support further 
investments could be impacted by stock 
market volatility.

Market sentiment could go against 
renewable energy funds and the Company’s 
share price could move to a significant 
discount.

The Company’s adviser, Numis, monitors 
market conditions and reports regularly to 
the Board. In the event that the Company is 
unable to raise new capital to repay debt, the 
Company could hold back from making new 
investments until the stock market recovered 
and, in extremis, investments could be sold 
to reduce debt.

In the event of the share price moving to 
a significant discount, the Board could 
implement its share buy-back policy as 
described in the prospectus.  

Pandemic COVID-19 has had a significant recent 
impact on economies across the globe. This 
may lead to recession in certain countries 
and possible global recession.

The Company’s response is focused on 
dealing with the short-term practical impact 
of COVID-19. In order to protect people, 
travel is restricted at the Company’s service 
providers, social distancing is being enforced 
and all meetings are conducted by video or 
phone. 

The Investment Adviser is in close contact 
with each asset’s O&M service providers and 
continues to work with the counterparties 
to identify and mitigate these risks. The 
Board has assessed other relevant areas of 
risk (price and operational risks) identified 
and mitigants remain appropriate in light of 
COVID-19. 

Global Recession Global recession may lead to a fall in demand 
for electricity with a resulting impact on 
electricity prices which are likely to fall. 

Other impacts of a global recession include 
potential lack of debt availability, lack of 
access to capital markets for fund raising 
and increased counterparty risks as balance 
sheets become stressed.

Over 70% of the present value of the 
Company forecast revenue over the next 
five years is contracted in the form of 
governmental subsidies or fixed price PPA37.

The Investment Adviser has a dedicated 
MMD team which is responsible for the 
origination, negotiation and execution of 
PPAs.

The Board, along with the Company’s 
advisers, focus on risk identification and 
oversight will help to ensure key risks 
resulting from a global recession are 
identified and addressed in advance. 

37   Present value of operating revenue over the next 5 years as at 31 December 2019. Revenue streams are discounted by the weighted average of all discount rates used in 
the asset valuations as of 31 December 2019.
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Principal Risks Potential Impact/Description Mitigation

Change in Political Sentiment A change in political direction in one 
of the countries in which the Company 
targets investment, could lead to changes, 
reductions or withdrawals of government 
support arrangements or potentially the 
nationalisation of investments. This would 
have a material impact on the valuation of 
the investments and the Company’s NAV.

The AIFM, advised by the Investment Adviser, 
continuously monitors all jurisdictions in 
which the Company invests. 

Operational
Investment Performance There is a risk that the portfolio under-

performs and, as a result, the target returns 
are not met over the longer term. This could 
lead to the dividend not being covered and 
an inability to pay the target dividend.

Each quarter the Board reviews a report 
prepared by the Investment Adviser on the 
portfolio performance. 

In addition, a report on key risks is provided 
by the AIFM along with how these risks are 
being actively mitigated. 

The Investment Adviser has a substantial 
team of executives employed across various 
disciplines within the renewables sector in 
14 investment offices in 12 countries who 
oversee and monitor all of the investments.

New investments are proposed to the 
Board by the AIFM having received 
recommendations from the Investment 
Adviser. These are reviewed and approved 
by the Board in line with the Company’s 
investment policy.

Pipeline and Investment Deployment An important part of the Investment 
Advisers’ role is its ability to source high 
quality potential investment opportunities in 
line with the Company’s investment strategy. 

Should suitable opportunities not be 
forthcoming and cash remains uninvested 
this could result in ‘cash drag’ with a 
potential impact on the dividend target and 
investment objective.

The Investment Adviser is a market leader in 
this sector and has a good track record in 
originating potential investments. 

The AIFM monitors the investment pipeline 
received from the Investment Adviser and 
reports to the Board on progress in meeting 
the Company’s investment targets.

It is unlikely that the Board would agree to 
raise new capital in the absence of a strong 
investment pipeline hence mitigating any 
impact of ‘cash drag’.

Competition for Assets With increasing numbers of investors 
looking for asset backed yield, it is possible 
that new competitors will enter the market 
in which the Company operates. This could 
lead to increased pricing for the Company’s 
target investments with corresponding lower 
returns. 

The track record of the Investment Adviser 
and its market position and penetration 
allow it to access potential investments that 
newer entrants might not. 

The Board is mindful of pricing when it 
reviews new investment proposals and the 
need to deliver on the Company’s target 
objective and strategy. 
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Principal Risks Potential Impact/Description Mitigation

Counterparty Risk The majority of the operational risk in the 
Company’s investments is retained by the 
counterparty or its subcontractors. However, 
some risks will remain within the investment.

Poor performance by a subcontractor may 
lead to the need for a replacement which 
could have cost implications impacting 
the performance of the investment and 
potentially distributions to the Company 
until the issue is resolved.

The value of the Company’s investments and 
the income they generate may be affected 
by the failure of counterparties to comply 
with their obligations under a PPA.

Constant monitoring of the investments and 
the counterparties/service providers allows 
the Investment Adviser to identify and 
address risks early. 

Diversification of counterparties and service 
providers ensures any impact is limited. In 
addition, a diversified portfolio provides 
further mitigation.

The Investment Adviser assesses the credit 
risk of companies against defined criteria 
prior to them becoming counterparties to 
PPAs.

Operation and Maintenance of Assets Failure to properly operate and maintain 
assets may result in reduction of revenues 
and value of assets.

Operation and maintenance of assets are 
subcontracted to a counterparty who is 
liable to ensure effective operation and 
maintenance. The Investment Adviser 
ensures that each such counterparty has the 
experience and resources to comply with 
their obligations and monitors compliance 
on an ongoing basis.

Construction of Assets For investments which are not in operation, 
delays in completion may result in delays in 
expected revenue. Cost overruns and defects 
in construction may affect the value of the 
asset.

The Investment Adviser, part of Aquila 
Group is an experienced manager of 
development and construction projects in 
various jurisdictions throughout Europe. 

Construction and post-completion risks 
are generally mitigated by appropriate 
contractual mechanisms. The Investment 
Adviser assesses acceptable counterparties 
and monitors compliance on an ongoing 
basis.

Performance of the Investment Adviser The Investment Adviser manages over EUR 
10 billion for clients worldwide, there is a 
risk that it allocates resources to activities 
in which the Company is not engaged 
which could have a negative effect on the 
Company’s investment performance.

The Investment Adviser is dependent on key 
people to identify, acquire and manage the 
Company’s investments. There is a risk that 
a key person leaves the Investment Adviser.

The Investment Adviser has substantial 
resources and is not required to commit all 
of its resources to the Company. 

The Company and AIFM are made aware of 
and review potential conflicts of interest at 
the time of each investment being made. 

In addition, an investment allocation policy 
has been implemented by the Investment 
Adviser and has been agreed by the Board.  

The strength and depth of the Investment 
Adviser’s resources mitigate the risk of a key 
person departure.
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Principal Risks Potential Impact/Description Mitigation

IT Security A hacker or third party could obtain access 
to the Investment Adviser or any other 
service provider and destroy data or use it 
for malicious purposes. Data records could 
be destroyed resulting in an inability to 
make investment decisions and monitor 
investments.

Service providers have been carefully selected 
for their expertise and reputation in the 
sector. Each service provider has provided 
assurances to the AIFM and Company on 
their cyber policies and business continuity 
plans along with external audit reviews of 
their procedures where applicable. 

The Investment Adviser has an information 
security policy in place and has appointed an 
IT security officer whose tasks are to provide 
support for emergency events and crises, the 
monitoring of the resumption and repair of 
the IT security measures after completion of 
a disturbance or incident, and the ongoing 
development of improvements to the IT 
security concept.

The AIFM reports to Board annually following 
review of these procedures.  

Financial
Portfolio Valuation The principal component of the Company’s 

balance sheet is its portfolio of renewable 
investments. Each quarter the AIFM is 
responsible for preparing a fair market 
value of the investments, with input and 
guidance from the Investment Adviser. 
These valuations and the key underlying 
assumptions are approved by the Board. 

There is a risk that these valuations and 
underlying assumptions such as future 
electricity prices and discount rates being 
applied are not a fair reflection of the market 
meaning that the investment portfolio could 
be over or under valued. 

The Investment Adviser has a strong 
track record in undertaking valuations of 
renewable assets built up over the years 
since it was founded in 2001.

The AIFM and the Board review and 
interrogate the valuations and underlying 
assumptions provided by the Investment 
Adviser on a quarterly basis prior to 
approving them.

In addition, when there is a conflicted 
investment proposed by the Investment 
Adviser, the Investment Adviser procures and 
provides the Board and AIFM with an fairness 
valuation opinion on that investment from 
an independent adviser.
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Principal Risks Potential Impact/Description Mitigation

Leverage Risk The use of leverage creates special risks 
including:

 � exposure to interest rate risks due to 
fluctuations in prevailing market rates

 � covenant breaches
 � enhanced loss on underperforming 

investments 

As a result, the investment risk may be 
enhanced through the use of leverage.

The Company’s investment policy restricts 
the use of leverage to:

 � Short-term debt: 25% of the prevailing 
GAV

 � Long-term structural debt: 50% of the 
prevailing GAV

The AIFM monitors all debt levels against 
these policy restrictions and reports them to 
the Board on a quarterly basis. 

The Company may use derivative instruments 
to protect itself from fluctuations in interest 
rates.

Compliance, Tax and Legal
Changes to tax legislation or rates Changes in tax legislation such as base 

erosion and profit shifting rules, withholding 
tax rules and rates could result in tax increases 
resulting in a drop of income received from 
the Company investments.

The corporate structure of the Company is 
reviewed periodically by the company and its 
advisers.  

The Investment Adviser works closely with 
tax and industry experts prior to providing 
structuring recommendations to the 
Company prior to investment and on an 
ongoing basis. 

Regulatory and Compliance changes The Company is required to comply with 
Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 
to ensure maintenance of investment trust 
status, UK Listing Authority regulations 
including Listing rules, Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act and Alternative Investment 
Fund Managers Directive (‘AIFMD’).  

Failure to comply with the relevant rules 
and obligations may result in reputational 
damage to the Company or have a negative 
financial impact.

All service providers including the broker, 
Administrator, Investment Adviser and AIFM 
are experienced in these areas and provide 
comprehensive reporting to the Board and 
on the compliance of these regulations. 

 

The AIFM is experienced in compliance with 
the AIFMD reporting obligations and reports 
at least quarterly to the Board.
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Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006

During the period under review, the Board discharged its duty 
under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, to promote the 
success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole 
and having regard to the interests of stakeholders. The Board has 
a duty to promote the long-term success of the Company for the 
benefit of its shareholders as a whole and, in doing so, the Board 
is required to consider the likely consequences of its actions over 
the long-term and on other stakeholders and the environment.  

The Directors are required to describe how they have had regard 
to matters set out in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

Company sustainability and stakeholders
As an externally managed investment company, the Company does 
not have any employees. Its main stakeholders are as set out in the 
below diagram which explains the relationship between the Company 
and each of its stakeholders.

Company’s Operating Model

The Company was listed on the main market of the London Stock Exchange on 5 June 2019. The Company’s investments are held via its 
sole subsidiary, Tesseract Holdings Limited, which in turn holds the investment portfolio via a number of SPVs.
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The Board is aware of the need to foster the Company’s business 
relationships with suppliers, customers and other key stakeholders 
through its stakeholder management activities as described below.

Stakeholder Management
Investors 
The Investment Adviser and Board feel it is important to the 
Company’s continued success to have the potential to access equity 
capital in order to expand the Company’s portfolio over time in 
order to further diversify the investment portfolio, to create economies 
of scale and to help manage the premium at which the Company’s 
shares trade against its NAV.  Additionally, the Board is looking to 
attract long-term investors in the Company and, in doing so, it has 
sought out opportunities to meet with Shareholders to gauge the 
opinion of investors on the Company’s activities. 

To help the Board in its aim to act fairly  between the Company’s 
members, it seeks to ensure effective communication is provided 
to all Shareholders.   The Board invites Shareholders to attend the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 8 June 2020 at a location 
to be confirmed.  The Annual Report and Half-yearly accounts will 
be issued to Shareholders and will be made available on the 
Company’s website.  The quarterly factsheet is also available on 
the Company’s website.  The Board and Investment Adviser with 
the help of the Company’s brokers have met with a number of the 
Company’s larger Shareholders, both prior to and following listing. 
Shareholders’ views are considered by the Board at their quarterly 
board meetings.

Investment Adviser
The Investment Adviser is the most significant service provider to 
the Company and a description of its role can be found on page 38.

The Board receives regular reports from the Investment Adviser, 
discusses the portfolio at each Board meeting and maintains a 
constructive dialogue between meetings. A representative of the 
Investment Adviser additionally attends Board meetings. The 
Investment Adviser’s remuneration is based on the NAV of the 
Company which aligns the adviser’s interests with those of Shareholders.

Service Providers
The Board believes that positive relationships with each of the 
Company’s service providers are important to support the 
Company’s long-term success.  

In order to ensure strong working relationships, the Company’s 
key service providers (the Investment Adviser, AIFM, Company 
Secretary, Administrator) are invited to attend quarterly Board 
meetings to present their respective reports. This enables the 
Board to exercise effective oversight of the Company’s activities.  
Separately, the auditor is invited to attend the Audit Committee 
meeting at least once per year.  The Audit Chairman maintains 
regular contact with the Audit Partner to ensure the Audit process 
is undertaken effectively.  As this is the Company’s first year, the 
Board has spent a considerable amount of time  between Board 
meetings engaging with the Company’s key service providers to 
develop these strong working relationships and to determine 

good working practices to ensure the smooth operational function 
of the Company. The Board and its advisers seek to maintain 
constructive relationships with the Company’s key service providers 
on behalf of the Company through regular communications, 
meetings and the provision of relevant information and update 
meetings.

The most significant service provider for the Company’s long-
term success is the AIFM who has engaged the Investment Adviser 
for the purpose of providing investment advisory services to the 
Company.  The Board regularly monitors the Company’s investment 
performance in relation to its objectives, investment policy and 
strategy.  The Board receives and reviews regular reports and 
presentations from both the AIFM and Investment Adviser and 
seeks to maintain regular contact to maintain a constructive 
working relationship.

Portfolio Investments
Prior to being presented to the Board of HoldCo, the Company’s 
wholly owned subsidiary, the Company’s Board is presented with 
potential investment opportunities that have been identified by 
the Investment Adviser and which have undergone a process of 
analysis and challenge by the AIFM. The Board considers each 
proposal against the Company’s investment objective, investment 
policy and strategy as disclosed on page 24. In considering each 
investment opportunity, the Board considers the Company’s long-
term success by having particular regard to the following aspects 
of each proposal:

 � potential revenue forecast to be generated by each asset;
 � the diversity of the Company’s portfolio;
 � any environmental issues of each asset; 
 � the length of tenure of each asset;
 � hedging aspects to limit risk;
 � gearing aspects; and
 � the structure of the asset and whether the asset is to be held 

directly or via a SPV.

As at 31 December 2019, over 70.9% of the capital raised during 
the IPO was invested and a further 23.8% of the proceeds committed.

Conclusion
The Board is mindful of the directors’ duties as described by section 
172 of the Companies Act 2006, when deliberating all important 
decisions.
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Other Information 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
As the Company has outsourced operations to third parties, there 
are no significant greenhouse gas emissions to report from the 
operations of the Company.

In relation to the Company’s investments, the level of greenhouse 
gas emissions arising from the low volume of electricity imports 
and from operation and maintenance activity is not considered 
material for disclosure purposes. Further, as the assets are renewable 
energy generators, they reduce carbon dioxide emissions on a net 
basis. 

Anti-bribery, corruption and tax evasion
It is the Company’s policy to conduct all of its business in an honest 
and ethical manner. The Company takes a zero-tolerance approach 
to bribery and corruption and is committed to acting professionally, 
fairly and with integrity in all its business dealings and relationships 
wherever it operates. The Company does not tolerate the criminal 
facilitation of tax evasion. The Company’s AIFM, Investment Adviser, 
Secretary, Administrator and Depositary have confirmed that anti-
bribery policies and procedures are in place and that they do not 
tolerate bribery. The Company’s policy and the procedures that 
implement it are designed to support that commitment.

Conflicts of Interest
As required by law, a Director must avoid a situation where he or 
she has an interest that conflicts with the Company’s interests. The 
Company’s Articles of Association provide the Directors authority 
to authorise potential conflicts of interest. The Directors are able 
to impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation if they 
think this is appropriate. The procedure observed by the Board in 
considering dealing with conflicted matters is as follows:

 � Any Board member so conflicted must recuse themself from 
the discussion involving the relevant conflict;

 � Only Directors who have no interest in the matter being 
considered are able to debate the matter and take the 
relevant decision; and

 � In taking the decision the Directors must act in a way they 
consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote the 
Company’s success.

The Directors have declared any potential conflicts of interest to 
the Company. These are entered into the Company’s register of 
potential conflicts, which is reviewed regularly by the Board. The 
Directors are obliged to advise the Company Secretary as soon as 
they become aware of any potential conflicts of interest.

The Company has established procedures to deal with any potential 
conflicts of interest in circumstances where the Aquila Group is 
advising both the AIFM (for the Company) and Aquila managed 
funds who are counterparties to the Company. These procedures 
may, on a case by case basis, include:

 � separate teams at the Investment Adviser being established in 
relation to any proposed transaction to represent the  
Company and the relevant counterparty;

 � a fairness opinion on the value of the Renewable Energy 
Infrastructure Investments to be obtained from an 
independent expert;

 � a due diligence and reporting package from relevant 
professional advisers on which the Company (or other 
applicable vehicles) can place reliance;

 � the AIFM operating its own risk management system and 
internal control system as well as monitoring approved 
systems operated by the Investment Adviser; and

 � any conflict of interest arising in the course of the transaction 
being resolved in accordance with procedures agreed 
between the Investment Adviser and the AIFM, subject to 
Board agreement.

Employees
The Company has no employees. As at 31 December 2019 the 
Company had four Directors, of whom three are male and one is 
female. The Board’s policy on diversity is contained in the corporate 
governance report (see page 45).

Viability statement
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code and the 
Listing Rules, the Directors have assessed the prospects of the 
Company over a longer period than the 12 months required by the 
‘Going Concern’ provision.

In reviewing the Company’s viability, the Directors have assessed 
the viability of the Company for the period to 31 December 2024 
(the ‘Period’). The Board believes that the period, being approximately 
five years, is an appropriate time horizon over which to assess the 
viability of the Company, particularly when taking into account the 
long-term nature of the Company’s investment strategy, which are 
modelled over five years and the principal risks outlined above. 
Based on this assessment, the Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Company will be able to continue to operate and to meet 
its liabilities as they fall due over the period to 31 December 2024.

In their assessment of the prospects of the Company, the Directors 
have considered each of the principal risks and uncertainties set 
out above and the solvency of the Company. The Directors have 
considered the Company’s income and expenditure projections. 
The internal control framework of the Company is subject to a 
formal review on at least an annual basis. On a quarterly basis, the 
Board reviews the risk report prepared by the AIFM.
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The Directors do not expect there to be any material increase in 
the annual ongoing charges of the Company over the Period and 
as the Company grows the annual ongoing charges ratio is expected 
to decrease. The Company’s income from investments provide 
substantial cover to the Company’s operating expenses, and any 
other costs likely to be faced by the Company over the Period of 
the assessment. 

This assessment has included a detailed review of the issues arising 
from the COVID-19 pandemic as discussed in the Chairman's 
Statement and Investment Adviser’s Statement on pages 5 and 20.

Outlook
The outlook for the Company, including the future development 
and performance of the Company, is discussed in the Chairman’s 
Statement on page 5 and the Investment Advisers’ Report on pages 
19 and 20.

Strategic Report
The Strategic Report set out on pages 4 to 36 of this Annual Report 
was approved by the Board of Directors on 27 April 2020.

For and on behalf of the Board

Ian Nolan
Chairman of the Board 
27 April 2020
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Governance

Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and financial statements for the 
period ended 31 December 2019.

Strategic report
The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the 
Strategic Report on pages 4 to 36. 

Corporate governance
The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 42 to 45 forms 
part of this report.

Risk and risk management
The Risk and risk management on pages 26 to 32 forms part of 
this report.

Legal and taxation status
The Company is an investment company within the meaning of 
Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006. The Company conducts 
its affairs in order to meet the requirements for approval as an 
investment trust under section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 
2010. The Company has received initial approval as an investment 
trust and the Company must meet eligibility conditions and ongoing 
requirements in order for investment trust status to be maintained. 
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has met the conditions 
and requirements for approval as an investment trust for the period 
ended 31 December 2019.

Market information
The Company’s Ordinary Shares are listed on the LSE. The quarterly 
NAV per Ordinary Share is published through a regulatory information 
service.

Retail distribution of Investment Company shares via 
financial advisers and other third party promoters
As a result of the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) rules determining 
which investment products can be promoted to retail investors, 
certain investment products are classified as ‘non-mainstream 
pooled investment products’ and face restrictions on their promotion 
to retail investors. 

The Company has concluded that the distribution of its shares, 
being shares in an investment trust, is not restricted as a result of 
the FCA rules described above. 

The Company currently conducts its affairs so that the shares issued 
by the Company can be recommended by financial advisers to retail 
investors and intends to continue to do so for the foreseeable 
future. 

Articles of Association
Amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association require an 
Ordinary Resolution to be passed by Shareholders.

Management

The Board 
The independent Board is responsible to Shareholders for the overall 
management of the Company. The Board has adopted a Schedule 
of Matters Reserved for the Board which sets out the division of 
responsibilities between the Board and its various committees, the 
Chairman and the Chairman of the various committees, together 
with the duties of the Board, further details can be found on pages 
44 to 45. 

Through the Committees and the use of external independent 
advisers, the Board manages risk and governance of the Company. 

Appointment and Replacement of Board
The rules concerning the appointment and replacement of directors 
are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association which require 
that a Director shall be subject to election at the first AGM after 
appointment and re-election at least every three years thereafter. 
However, in accordance with the UK Code of Corporate Governance, 
the Board has resolved that all Directors shall stand for annual 
re-election at the AGM. Further details of the Board’s process for 
the appointment and replacement of Board members can be found 
on page 37.

Alternative Investment Fund Manager
The Company is classified as an Alternative Investment Fund under 
The Alternative Investment Fund Managers’ Directive and is therefore 
required to have an AIFM. International Fund Management Limited 
is the AIFM of the Company. 

The AIFM is responsible for portfolio management of the Company, 
including the following services: 

(i)  monitoring the Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments 
in accordance with the Investment Policy; 

(ii)  acquiring or disposing of Renewable Energy Infrastructure 
Investments (subject to Board approval); 

(iii)  evaluating investment opportunities identified by the Investment 
Adviser and making relevant recommendations to the Board; 
and 

(iv)  acting upon instructions from the Board, executing transactions 
on behalf of the Company. Under the terms of the AIFM 
Agreement, the AIFM is required to provide risk management 
services to the Company, including: 

 a.  assisting the Board with the establishment of a risk reporting 
framework; 

 b.  monitoring the Company’s compliance with Investment 
Policy and the Investment Restrictions in accordance with 
the AIFM risk management policies and procedures and 
providing regular updates to the Board; 
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 c.  carrying out a risk analysis of the Company’s exposures, 
leverage, counterparty and concentration risk; and 

 d.  analysing market risk and liquidity risk. The AIFM will be 
required to record details of executed transactions, carry 
out reporting obligations to the FCA and prepare investor 
reports. In addition, the AIFM is required to assist the Board 
in establishing, maintaining and reviewing valuation policies 
for calculating the NAV.

The AIFM is entitled to:

(a)  a management fee of EUR 100,000 per annum plus, an additional 
amount which is equal to 0.015 per cent. per annum of the 
NAV of the Company that exceeds EUR 300 million;

(b)  an additional fee of EUR 3,000 per annum in respect of each 
jurisdiction in which a marketing notification has been made 
in accordance with the AIFM Directive; and

(c)  the reimbursement of the Investment Adviser fee payable by 
the AIFM to the Investment Adviser as set out below.

An additional fee will be agreed between the AIFM and Company 
in the event that the AIFM is requested by or on behalf of the 
Company to undertake additional risk and duties outside the scope 
of the AIFM Agreement.

The AIFM Agreement is for an initial term of two years from 
Admission and is terminable by either party on not less than  
six months’ notice in writing. The AIFM Agreement may  
be terminated earlier by the AIFM with immediate effect in 
certain circumstances.

The AIFM has the benefit of an indemnity from the Company in 
relation to liabilities incurred by the AIFM in the discharge of its 
duties other than those arising by reason of gross negligence, wilful 
misconduct or fraud of or by the AIFM.

Investment Adviser
The AIFM has appointed Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft 
mbH as the Investment Adviser to provide investment advisory 
services to the AIFM in respect of the Company pursuant to the 
Investment Advisory Agreement.

The Investment Adviser is responsible for certain investment advisory 
services to the Company, including sourcing potential opportunities 
in which the Company may invest, as well as on-going monitoring 
of the Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments.

Although the Company is not a party to the Investment Advisory 
Agreement, the Company will benefit from the advisory services 
provided to the AIFM in respect of the Company and its Renewable 
Energy Infrastructure Investments.

The Investment Advisory Agreement will continue in force for an 
initial period of four years from the date of the Admission. The 

Investment Advisory Agreement will continue thereafter on a rolling 
basis and may be terminated following the Initial Period on 12 
months’ notice in writing. The Investment Advisory Agreement may 
be immediately terminated by either party in certain circumstances 
such as a material breach which is not remedied or liquidation of 
either party.

The AIFM has also agreed to indemnify the Investment Adviser for 
losses that the Investment Adviser may incur in the performance 
of its duties pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement that 
are not attributable to the fraud, gross negligence or wilful default 
of, the Investment Adviser determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction.

Under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the following fee is 
payable to the Investment Adviser:

 � 0.75 per cent. per annum of NAV (plus VAT) of the Company 
up to EUR 300 million;

 � 0.65 per cent. per annum of NAV (plus VAT) of the Company 
between EUR 300 million and EUR 500 million; and

 � 0.55 per cent. per annum of NAV (plus VAT) of the Company 
above EUR 500 million.

During the first two years of its appointment, the Investment adviser 
has undertaken to apply its fee (net of any applicable tax) in 
subscribing for, or acquiring, Ordinary Shares. If the Ordinary Shares 
are trading at a premium to the prevailing NAV, the Company will 
issue new Ordinary Shares to the Investment Adviser. If, however, 
the Ordinary Shares are trading at a discount to the prevailing NAV 
at the relevant time, no new Ordinary Shares will be issued by the 
Company and instead the Company will instruct its broker to acquire 
Ordinary Shares to the value of fee due in the relevant period. The 
Investment Management Agreement is terminable by either the 
Investment Adviser or the Company giving to the other not less 
than six months’ written notice, such notice not to expire earlier 
than the third anniversary of first admission to the London Stock 
Exchange.

Company Secretary and Administrator
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited has been appointed to provide 
company secretarial and administration services to the Company. 

Depositary
European Depositary Bank has been appointed as the Company’s 
depositary.

Alternative Investment Fund Portfolio Managers’ Directive 
(‘AIFMD’)
In accordance with the AIFMD, the AIFM must ensure that an annual 
report containing certain information on the Company is made 
available to investors for each financial year. The investment funds 
sourcebook of the FCA (the ‘Sourcebook’) details the requirements 
of the annual report. All the information required by those rules 
are included in this Annual Report or will be made available on the 
Company’s website.
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Continuing Appointment of Service Providers
The Board has committed to undertake a review of the continued 
appointment of these  service provider on an annual basis to ensure 
these are in the best long term interests of the Company’s Share-
holders and will undertake a comprehensive service provider review 
during the year ending 31 December 2020. However, as the Company 
was less than a year old at period end, the Board felt that effective 
judgement of the Company’s service providers, especially the Com-
pany’s Investment Adviser, could not be undertaken in such a short 
space of time. 

Capital structure, voting rights and restrictions
At incorporation the Company issued 1 Ordinary Share of EUR 0.01. 
On 29 April 2019 the Company issued 50,000 Management Shares 
of GBP 1.0 each. On 30 May 2019 the 50,000 Management Shares 
were redeemed. At listing and onwards the Company issued the 
following shares: 

At the period end the Company’s issued share capital comprised 
154,668,084 Ordinary Shares.

Since the period end, the Company issued a further 290,258 Ordi-
nary Shares at a price of EUR 1.0350 per Ordinary Share on 
17 February 2020 to the Investment Adviser pursuant to the Invest-
ment Advisory Agreement. 

On 6 March 2020, the Company announced further EUR 40.0 
million under its placing programme to fund future acquisition 
opportunities by issuing 38,095,235 Ordinary Shares at EUR 1.0500 
per Ordinary Share.

Voting rights
Each Ordinary Share held, entitles the holder to one vote. All  
Ordinary Shares carry equal voting rights and there are no restric-
tions on those voting rights. Voting deadlines are stated in the 

Notice of Meeting and Form of Proxy and are in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006.

Restrictions
There are no restrictions on the transfer of Shares, nor are there any 
limitations or special rights associated with regard to control attached 
to the Ordinary Shares. There are no agreements between holders 
regarding their transfer known to the Company, no restrictions on 
the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital, and no 
agreements to which the Company is a party that might affect its 
control following a successful takeover bid.

Results and dividend
The Company’s revenue loss after tax for the period amounted to 
EUR 54,000. The Company made a capital profit after tax of EUR 
8,595,000. Therefore, the total return after tax for the Company 
was EUR 8,541,000.

The Company has paid the following interim dividends in respect of the period under review:

 
In respect of the 

period to

Dividend  
amount per  

Ordinary Shares 
in cents Pay Date Record Date Ex-Dividend Date

1st Interim Dividend
30 September  

2019 0.75
29 November  

2019
15 November  

2019
14 November  

2019

2nd Interim Dividend
31 December  

2019 0.75
20 March  

2020
21 February  

2020
20 February  

2020

Event
Date Ordinary 
Shares issued

Ordinary  
Shares issued

Price paid per  
Ordinary Share EUR

Initial Public Offering 5 June 2019 154,304,752 1.00

Issue of Ordinary Shares to the Investment Adviser pursuant  
to the Investment Advisory Agreement 11 November 2019 363,332 0.9735
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Substantial Shareholders
As at 31 December 2019, the Directors have been formally notified of the following interests in the Company’s Ordinary Shares, 
comprising 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Since the period-end, the Company was notified of the following holdings:

Shareholder Holding Percentage Held Date Notified

BlackRock Inc. 23,087,666 14.92% 20/01/2020

Stichting Jurisdisch Eigendom Privium Sustainable Impact Fund 6,000,000 3.88% 21/01/2020

Shareholder Holding Percentage Held* Date Notified

BlackRock Inc. 20,267,792 13.10% 29/11/2019

CCLA Investment Management Limited 20,224,336 13.08% 8/12/2019

Baring Asset Management Limited 11,470,000 7.42% 6/06/2019

Standard Life Aberdeen Plc 8,422,190 5.45% 6/06/2019

City Asset Management Plc 7,932,980 5.13% 10/06/2019

*Based on number of Ordinary Shares in issue of 154,668,084 at the Company’s period end.

Settlement of Ordinary Share transactions
Ordinary Share transactions in the Company are settled by the 
CREST share settlement system.

Shareholder Engagement
The Board is mindful of the importance of engaging with the 
Company’s Shareholders to gauge their views on topics affecting 
the Company.

Under normal circumstances the Board would encourage shareholders 
to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting, however in light 
of the situation regarding COVID-19, and to comply with recent 
UK Government guidance restricting movement, shareholder 
attendance at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting is no longer 
possible. Shareholders are encouraged to vote their holdings using 
the enclosed Form of Proxy or electronically using the instructions 
contained in the notes to the Notice of AGM and notes to the Form 
of Proxy. The Company’s first Annual General Meeting to be held 
on 8 June 2020. Proxy voting figures will be made available shortly 
after the AGM on the Company’s website at www.aquila-european-
renewables-income-fund.com where Shareholders can also find 
the Company’s quarterly factsheets, dividend information and other 
relevant information.

Appointment of Auditor
The Company’s auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, having 
expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors, will be 
put forward for appointment at the Company’s first Annual General 
Meeting and the Board will seek authority to determine their 
remuneration for the forthcoming year. 

Going concern
The Directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements. The following is a summary of the Directors’ 
assessment of the going concern status of the Company.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least 
twelve months from the date of this document. In reaching this 

conclusion, the Directors have considered the liquidity of the 
Company’s portfolio of investments as well as its cash position, 
income and expense flows. The Company’s net assets at 31 December 
2019 were EUR 158.9million. As at 31 December 2019, the Company 
held EUR 38.9million in cash. The total expenses for the period 
ended 31 December 2019 was EUR 1.5 million, which represented 
approximately 1.7% of average net assets during the period. At 
the date of approval of this document, based on the aggregate of 
investments and cash held, the Company has substantial operating 
expenses cover.

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic the Directors have fully considered 
each of the Company’s investments. The Directors do not foresee 
any immediate material risk to the Company’s investment portfolio 
and income from underlying SPVs. A prolonged and deep market 
decline could lead to falling values to the underlying business or 
interruptions to cashflow, however the Company currently has more 
than sufficient liquidity available to meet any future obligations.

The market and operational risks and financial impact as a result 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, and measures introduced to combat 
its spread, were discussed by the Board, with updates on operational 
resilience received from the Investment Adviser, Administrator and 
other key service providers. The Board was satisfied that the key 
service providers have the ability to continue to operate.

Auditor information
Each of the Directors at the date of the approval of this report 
confirms that:

(i)  so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; 
and 

(ii)  the Director has taken all steps that he/she ought to have taken 
as director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant 
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information. 
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This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Annual General Meeting
The following information is important and requires your immediate 
attention. If you are in any doubt about the action you should take, 
you should seek advice from your stockbroker, bank manager, 
solicitor, accountant or other financial adviser authorised under the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Resolutions relating to the following items of special business will 
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) 
to be held on 8 June 2020.

Resolutions 12 and 13 Authority to issue Ordinary Shares and 
to dis-apply pre-emption rights
The Directors have authority to issue up to 600 million Ordinary 
Shares on a non-pre-emptive basis pursuant to the Placing Programme 
which opened on 6 June 2019 and will close on 9 May 2020 (or 
any earlier date on which it is fully subscribed or as otherwise 
determined by the Directors). 

Shareholders’ pre-emption rights over the Placing Programme have 
been dis-applied so that the Directors will not be obliged to offer 
any new Ordinary Shares to Shareholders on a pro rata basis. No 
Ordinary Shares will be issued at a price less than the (cum-income) 
Net Asset Value per existing Ordinary Share at the time of their 
issue. 

The Directors intend to use the net proceeds of any Subsequent 
Placing under the Placing Programme to acquire Renewable Energy 
Infrastructure Investments in accordance with the Company’s 
investment objective and Investment Policy and for working capital 
purposes. 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Board is seeking 
authority to allot up to a maximum of 30,991,668 Ordinary Shares 
(representing approximately 20% of the Ordinary Shares in issue 
at the date of this document) and to dis-apply pre-emption rights 
when allotting those Ordinary Shares at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. Authority granted under both resolutions will 
expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting to be held 
in 2021 unless renewed prior to this date via a General Meeting. 
The full text of resolutions 1 and 15 is set out in the Notice of 
Meeting on page 83.

The authority granted by Shareholders to issue Ordinary Shares will 
provide flexibility to grow the Company and further expand the 
Company’s list of assets. Ordinary Shares will only be issued at a 
premium to the NAV (cum income) after the costs of issue. Ordinary 
Shares issues are at the discretion of the Board.

Resolution renewal of authority to purchase own shares
Prior to the Company’s listing on 5 June 2019 the Directors were 
granted authority to make market purchases of up to 14.99 per 
cent. of the Ordinary Shares in issue on Admission, equating to a 
maximum of 23,184,745 Ordinary Shares. During the period ended 
31 December 2019, the Company did not utilise its authority to 
purchase its own shares. 

The initial authority to make market purchases will expire at the 
conclusion of the first AGM of the Company. The Directors recommend 
that a new authority to purchase up to 23,228,255 Ordinary Shares 
(subject to the condition that not more than 14.99% of the Ordinary 
Shares in issue, excluding treasury Shares, at the date of the AGM 
are purchased) be granted and a resolution to that effect will be 
put to the AGM. Any Ordinary Shares purchased will either be 
cancelled or, if the Directors so determine, held in treasury. 

The Companies Act 2006 permits companies to hold shares acquired 
by way of market purchase as treasury shares, rather than having 
to cancel them. This provides the Company with the ability to 
re-issue Ordinary Shares quickly and cost effectively, thereby 
improving liquidity and providing the Company with additional 
flexibility in the management of its capital base. No Ordinary Shares 
will be sold from treasury at a price less than the (cum-income) 
NAV per existing Ordinary Share at the time of their sale unless 
they are first offered pro rata to existing Shareholders. At the period 
end the Company did not hold any shares in treasury. 

Unless otherwise authorised by Shareholders, Ordinary Shares will 
not be issued at less than NAV and Ordinary Shares held in treasury 
will not be sold at less than NAV.

Resolution 15 Notice of general meetings
The Board believes that it is in the best interests of Shareholders 
of the company to have the ability to call meetings on 14 days’ 
clear notice should a matter require urgency. The Board will therefore 
propose resolution 15 at the AGM to approve the reduction in the 
minimum notice period from 21 clear days to 14 clear days for all 
general meetings other than annual general meetings.

Once approval is granted, the approval would be effective until the 
Company’s next AGM, when it is intended that a similar resolution 
will be proposed. In accordance with the Shareholders’ Rights 
Directive, the Company will offer the Shareholders the ability to 
vote by electronic means. This facility will be accessible to all 
Shareholders, should the Board call a General Meeting at 14 clear 
days’ notice. Short notice will only be used by the Board under 
appropriate circumstances.

Regulatory Disclosures – Information to be disclosed in 
accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.4.
The Listing Rules requires listed companies to report certain 
information in a single identifiable section of their annual financial 
reports. The Company confirms that only LR 9.8.4(7) (issue of 
shares) is applicable during the year under review.

By order of the Board

Brian Smith
For and on behalf of
PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Company Secretary
27 April 2020 
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Corporate Governance

Introduction
This Corporate Governance statement forms part of the Directors’ 
Report.

The Board of the Company has considered the Principles and 
Provisions of the AIC Code of Corporate Governance (AIC Code). 
The AIC Code addresses the Principles and Provisions set out in the 
UK Corporate Governance Code (the UK Code), as well as setting 
out additional Provisions on issues that are of specific relevance to 
the Company. 

The Board considers that reporting against the Principles and 
Provisions of the AIC Code, which has been endorsed by the Financial 
Reporting Council provides more relevant information to Shareholders. 

The Company has complied with the Principles and Provisions of 
the AIC Code. 

The AIC Code is available on the AIC website (www.theaic.co.uk) 
and the UK Corporate Governance Code can be found on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website (www.frc.org.uk). It includes 
an explanation of how the AIC Code adapts the Principles and 
Provisions set out in the UK Code to make them relevant for 
investment companies.

Compliance
Throughout the period ended 31 December 2019 the Company 
complied with the recommendations of the AIC Code except, as 
explained below, where the Company does not believe it appropriate 
to comply. 

The Board, being small in size and composed entirely of independent 
non-executive Directors, has not appointed a Management 
Engagement Committee. The engagement of the Investment Adviser, 
the AIFM and other service providers is considered by the Board as 
a whole. The Board has also decided not to nominate a Deputy 
Chairman or a Senior Independent Director.

The UK Corporate Governance Code includes provisions relating 
to the role of the chief executive, executive Directors’ remuneration 
and the need for an internal audit function. For reasons set out in 
the AIC Code, the Board considers these provisions are not relevant 
to the Company as it is an externally managed investment company. 
In particular, all of the Company’s day-to-day management and 
administrative functions are outsourced to third parties. As a result, 
the Company has no executive Directors, employees or internal 
operations. The Company has therefore not reported further in 
respect of these provisions.

The Board
Composition
At the date of this report, the Board consists of four non-executive 
directors including the Chairman. 

The Board believes that during the period to 31 December 2019 
its composition was appropriate for an investment company of 
the Company’s nature and size. All of the Directors are independent 
of the Investment Adviser and are able to allocate sufficient time 
to the Company to discharge their responsibilities effectively. 

The Directors have a broad range of relevant experience to meet 
the Company’s requirements and their biographies are shown 
below.

Ian Nolan (Role: non-executive 
Chairman)
Ian Nolan led the team which was 
recruited by the UK Government in 
2011 to establish the UK Green 
Investment Bank and was its Chief 
Investment Officer until 2014. Previously, 
Ian held the position of Chief Investment 
Officer at 3i Plc and was a director of 
Telecity Group Plc. He is currently a 

Partner and Chairman of the Investment Committee of Circularity 
Capital LLP. Ian has three decades of experience in finance, private 
equity and investment management. He qualified as a chartered 
accountant with Arthur Andersen and graduated with a BA in 
Economics from Cambridge University.

Ian has confirmed that he has sufficient time to devote to the 
Company and to fulfil his duties as Board member.

Reason for Recommended election of Ian Nolan: Having considered 
Ian’s appointment the Board regard his experience, knowledge 
and commitment to be invaluable both within and outside 
meetings and are strongly recommending that Shareholders vote 
in favour of his election at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.

David MacLellan (Role: Chair of the 
Audit Committee and member of the 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee)
David MacLellan is the founder and 
currently Chairman of RJD Partners, a 
private-equity business focused on the 
services and leisure sectors. Previously, 
David was the Chairman of John Laing 
Infrastructure Fund and an executive 

director of Aberdeen Asset Managers Plc following its acquisition 
in 2000 of Murray Johnstone where he was latterly Chief Executive 
having joined the company in 1984. David has served on the 
boards of a number of companies and is currently a non-executive 
director of J&J Denholm Limited and Chairman of Stone Technologies 
Group Limited. He is a past council member of the British Venture 
Capital Association and is a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Scotland.

David has confirmed that he has sufficient time to devote to the 
Company and to fulfil his duties as Board member.
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Reason for Recommended election of David MacLellan: Having 
considered David’s appointment the Board regard his experience, 
knowledge and commitment to be invaluable both within and 
outside meetings and are strongly recommending that Shareholders 
vote in favour of his election at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.

Kenneth MacRitchie (Role: Chair of the 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee and member of the Audit 
Committee)
Kenneth MacRitchie has 30 years’ 
experience of advising on the financing, 
development and operation of 
independent power projects across 
Europe, Middle East and Africa. He 
was a partner at the global law firm, 

Clifford Chance and, thereafter, at Shearman & Sterling where 
he served on their Management Board. He also has experience 
of advising the UK Government on renewable energy policy and 
led the establishment of Low Carbon Contracts Company Limited, 
the UK Government owned company which provides subsidies 
for the UK renewables industry. He is a graduate of the Universities 
of Glasgow, Aberdeen and Manchester.

Kenneth has confirmed that he has sufficient time to devote to 
the Company and to fulfil his duties as Board member.

Reason for Recommended election of Kenneth MacRitchie: Having 
considered Kenneth’s appointment the Board regard his experience, 
knowledge and commitment to be invaluable both within and 
outside meetings and are strongly recommending that Shareholders 
vote in favour of his election at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.

Patricia Rodrigues (Member of the 
Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee and member of the Audit 
Committee)
Dr Patricia Rodrigues has over 17 years 
of leadership experience in infrastructure 
and real asset investment and 
management and investment banking. 
She began her career at Morgan Stanley. 
Subsequently, she worked for Macquarie 

Group, including as a Managing Director (Real Assets), where 
she was responsible for developing new Infrastructure, Real 
Estate, Agriculture Timber and Energy investment products 
globally. She was Head of Portfolio Investment Management for 
UK Green Investment Bank before leading the growth strategy 
of the non-real estate Real Assets discretionary business for The 
Townsend Group. More recently, she served as Infrastructure 
Senior Director for PSP Investments. Patricia graduated with an 
M Eng-equivalent in Chemical Engineering from The University 
of Porto and a PhD in Chemical Engineering from Cambridge 
University.

Patricia has confirmed that she has sufficient time to devote to 
the Company and to fulfil her duties as Board member.

Reason for Recommended election of Patricia Rodrigues: Having 
considered Patricia’s appointment the Board regard her experience, 
knowledge and commitment to be invaluable both within and outside 
meetings and are strongly recommending that Shareholders vote in 
favour of her election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

In line with the AIC Code, the Board has decided that each 
director should be subject to annual re-election by Shareholders, 
although this is not required by the Company’s Articles of 
Association.

The Board recommends all the Directors for re-election for the 
reasons highlighted above.

The Directors have appointment letters which provide for an 
initial term of three year. Copies of the Directors’ appointment 
letters are available on request from the Company Secretary. 
Upon joining the Board, any new director will receive an induction 
and relevant training is available to Directors on an ongoing basis.

A policy of insurance against Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities is 
maintained by the Company.

A procedure has been adopted for Directors, in the furtherance 
of their duties, to take independent professional advice at the 
expense of the Company.

Board committees
The Board decides upon the membership and chairmanship of 
its committees.

Audit and Risk Committee
A report on page 50 provides details of the role, composition 
and meetings of the Audit Committee together with a description 
of the work of the Audit and Risk Committee in discharging its 
responsibilities. Mr MacLellan is the Chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee which comprises David MacLellan, Kenneth 
MacRitchie and Patricia Rodrigues.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee will meet at least 
once a year or more often if required. Its principal duties include 
identifying and nominating to the Board new Directors undertaking 
an annual performance evaluation of the Board, led by the 
Committee Chairman. Kenneth MacRitchie is the Chairman of the 
Remuneration and Nomination committee. The other members 
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are David 
MacLellan and Patricia Rodrigues. The Committee is responsible 
for (i) considering the remuneration of the Directors, (ii) identifying 
individuals qualified to become Board members and selecting the 
director nominees for election at general meetings of the Shareholders 
or for appointment to fill vacancies; (iii) determining director 
nominees for each committee of the Board; and (iv) considering 
the appropriate composition of the Board and its committees.
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Each Committee has adopted formal terms of reference, which 
are reviewed at least annually, and copies of these are available 
on the Company’s website or on request from the Company 
Secretary.

The Board as a whole  also fulfils the functions of a Management 
Engagement Committee. The Board will annually review and 
consider the actions and judgements of management in relation 
to the interim and annual financial statements and the Company’s 
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, the Listing 

Rules, the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and the AIC Code. 
It will review the role of the Investment Adviser and the AIFM 
and examine the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
systems. However, as the Company was less than a year old at 
period end, the Board felt that effective judgement of the 
Company’s service providers could not be undertaken in such a 
short space of time. 

Meeting attendance 

Quarterly Board 
Meetings

Audit  
Committee

Remuneration 
and Nomination 

Committee*

Number of meetings held 2 2 N/A

Ian Nolan 2/2 2/2 N/A

David MacLellan 2/2 2/2 N/A

Kenneth MacRitchie 2/2 2/2 N/A

Patricia Rodrigues 2/2 2/2 N/A

*  There were no Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings held during the period to 31 December 2019. 

In addition, a number of decisions were undertaken via email or 
telephone conference held to deal with administrative matters and 
the formal approval of documents and investment proposals which 
were considered time critical. 

Decision Making
The Board is responsible for the overall stewardship of the Company’s 
affairs and has adopted a schedule of matters specifically reserved 
for decision by the Board. Strategic issues and all operational matters 
of a material nature are considered at its meetings, including 
reviewing the Company’s performance by reference to the Company’s 
key performance indicators.

The Board has access to independent advice at the Company’s 
expense where it judges it necessary to discharge its responsibilities 
properly.

During the period the Board considered and recommended for 
approval to the Board of the HoldCo each transaction prior to 
investment, including, where deemed appropriate the need for 
gearing, hedging and the overall structure of each transaction. 
Prior to being presented to the Board, each transaction was 
considered by the AIFM who review it against an agreed set criteria 
of items to ensure it was suitable for the Company’s long term 
success and in Shareholders best interest. 

Division of Responsibilities
The following sets out the division of responsibilities between the 
Chair, Board and the Committee Chair. 

Role of the Chair includes:
 � Leadership of the Board;
 � Ensuring the Board is provided with sufficient information in 

order to ensure it is able to discharge its duties;
 � Ensuring each Board members views are considered and 

appropriate action taken;
 � Ensuring that each Committee has the support required to 

fulfil its duties;
 � Engaging the Board in assessing and improving its 

performance;
 � Overseeing the induction and development of directors;
 � Supporting the investment manager and other service 

providers;
 � Seeking regular engagement with major Shareholders in 

order to understand their views on governance and 
performance against the company’s investment objective and 
investment policy; 

 � Ensuring that the Board as a whole has a clear understanding 
of the views of Shareholders;

 � Ensuring regular engagement with each service provider; and 
 � Keeping up to date with key developments.

Role of Committee Chair includes:
 � Ensuring appropriate papers are considered at the meeting;
 � Ensuring committee members views and opinions are 

appropriately considered;
 � Seeking engagement with Shareholders on significant 

matters related to their areas of responsibility; 
 � Maintaining relationships with advisers; and
 � Considering appointing independent professional advice 

where deemed appropriate.
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Role of the Board includes:
 � Reviewing the Board pack ahead of the meeting;
 � Providing appropriate opinion, advice and guidance to the 

Chairman and fellow Board members;
 � Supporting the Board, Chairman and service providers in 

fulfilling their role; and
 � Providing appropriate support at the Annual General Meeting.

Board diversity
The Board recognises the benefits of diversity and supports the 
recommendations of the Davies Report. All Board appointments 
will be made on merit and have regard to diversity regarding factors 
such as gender, skills, background and experience. Whilst recognising 
the importance of diversity in the Boardroom, the Board does not 
consider it to be in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders 
to set prescriptive diversity criteria or targets. As at 31 December 
2019 the Company had four Directors, three of whom are male 
and one of whom is female.

Board tenure
The Directors recognise that independence is not a function of 
service or age and that experience is an important attribute within 
the Board. The directors are mindful that they will reach their ninth 
anniversary simultaneously in April 2028. In order to ensure continuity, 
the Board has adopted a succession plan that allows for a gradual 
refreshment. Accordingly, the Board may decide to recommend a 
director with more than nine years’ service for re-election at the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting. 

In accordance with the 2019 AIC Code of Corporate Governance 
Director’s stand for re-election annually. 

Board evaluation
A formal annual Board evaluation process will be performed on 
the Board, its committees and the individual Directors. However, 
as the Company has been operating for less than a year, it has been 
agreed to initiate such an assessment in 2020. 

Internal control
The AIC Code requires the Board to review the effectiveness of the 
Company’s system of internal controls. The Board recognises its 
ultimate responsibility for the Company’s system of internal controls 
and for monitoring its effectiveness. The system of internal controls 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives. It can provide only reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The Board has undertaken 
a review of the aspects covered by the guidance and has identified 
risk management controls in the key areas of business objectives, 
accounting, compliance, operations and secretarial as being matters 
of particular importance upon which it requires reports from the 
relevant key service providers. The Board believes that the existing 
arrangements, set out below, represent an appropriate framework 
to meet the internal control requirements. By these procedures the 
Directors have kept under review the effectiveness of the internal 
control system throughout the period and up to the date of this 
report.

Financial aspects of internal control
These are detailed in the Report of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Other aspects of internal control
The Board holds at least four regular meetings each year, plus 
additional meetings as required. Between these meetings there is 
regular contact with the Investment Adviser and the Company 
Secretary and Administrator.

The Administrator, PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited, reports 
separately in writing to the Board concerning risks and internal 
control matters within its purview, including internal financial 
control procedures and company secretarial matters. Additional 
ad hoc reports are received as required and Directors have access 
at all times to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, 
which is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board 
procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations 
are complied with.

The contact with the Investment Adviser and the Administrator 
enable the Board to monitor the Company’s progress towards its 
objectives and encompass an analysis of the risks involved. The 
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal 
controls systems is monitored regularly and a formal review, utilising 
a detailed risk assessment programme, takes place at least annually. 
This includes review of the internal controls reports of the Administrator 
and the Registrar. 

Principal risks
The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment 
of the principal risks facing the Company, including those that 
would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity. The principal risks and how they are being managed 
are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 26 to 32.

Shareholder relations
Under normal circumstances the Board would encourage shareholders 
to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting, however in light 
of the situation regarding COVID-19, and to comply with recent 
UK Government guidance restricting movement, shareholder 
attendance at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting is no longer 
possible. Shareholders are encouraged to vote their holdings using 
the enclosed Form of Proxy or electronically using the instructions 
contained in the notes to the Notice of AGM and notes to the Form 
of Proxy. The Notice of AGM sets out the business of the AGM and 
any item not of an entirely routine nature is explained in the Directors’ 
Report. Separate resolutions are proposed for each substantive 
issue. The Company’s Broker and Investment Adviser, together with 
the Chairman seeks regular engagement with major Shareholders 
in order to understand their views on governance and performance 
against the Company’s investment objective and investment policy. 
The Chairmen of each of the Company’s Committees seeks 
engagement with Shareholders on significant matters related to 
their areas of responsibility. The Board as a whole is provided with 
a clear understanding of the views of the Company’s Shareholders. 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Remuneration and Nomination Committee (the ‘Committee’)
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is responsible, inter 
alia, for review the remuneration payable to the Directors taking 
into account the relevant circumstances of the Company, the time 
commitment and relevant experience and skills of the Board and 
the average fees paid to the Board of the Company’s competitors. 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee comprises Kenneth 
MacRitchie, Patricia Rodrigues and David MacLellan. The Committee 
is chaired by Kenneth MacRitchie.

As the Company had been in operation for less than six months at 
year end, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee did not 
meet during the period under review. 

Annual Chairman’s Statement
I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report for the period to 
31 December 2019 which has been prepared in accordance with 
sections 420-422 of the Companies Act 2006. The law requires 
the Company’s auditor to audit certain sections of the Remuneration 
Report; where this is the case the relevant section has been indicated 
as such.

As this is the first financial period of the Company’s operations, 
there has been no change in the Board’s composition or remuneration 
from the disclosures contained in the Company’s prospectus. 

AGM approval of the Remuneration Policy and Remuneration 
Implementation Report 
In accordance with the requirements of Schedule 8 of the Large 
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008, as amended (the Regulations), the Board is 
required to put forward for shareholder approval at its first AGM, 
and on a triennial basis thereafter, a Remuneration Policy. Accordingly, 
the Remuneration Policy of the Company set out below will be 
proposed to Shareholders via an ordinary resolution which is a 
binding resolution at the AGM to be held on 8 June 2020. If 
successfully passed at the forthcoming AGM, the provisions set out 
in the below Remuneration Policy will apply from the date of the 
AGM until they are next submitted for shareholder approval, 
expected to be at the Company’s AGM to be held in 2023. In the 
event of any proposed material variation to the Remuneration Policy, 
or should the Remuneration Policy or the Remuneration Implementation 
Report fail at the forthcoming AGM, shareholder approval will be 
sought for a proposed revised Remuneration Policy prior to its 
implementation. 

The Remuneration Implementation Report will require approval via 
an Ordinary resolution on an annual basis. This resolution, is put 
to Shareholders on an advisory, non-binding, basis which means 
that, if the resolution were to fail to attract sufficient votes in favour, 
the Board would continue to be entitled to be remunerated and 
would not be required to amend their contractual relationship with 
the Company. However, if the Remuneration Implementation Report 
were to be voted down by Shareholders, the Board would be 
required to resubmit the Remuneration Policy to Shareholders at 
the AGM following the AGM at which the Remuneration 
Implementation Report failed.

Remuneration Consideration
The Board’s remuneration was set prior to the Company’s incorporation 
on 8 April 2019. In considering the remuneration of the Board and 
each key role, the Board and its advisers considered the Board pay 
of the Company’s peers, the expected time commitment of each 
Board member, the experience and skills of each Board member 
and the market expectation of the remuneration paid to the 
Company’s Board. The Board also considered whether it was 
appropriate to set performance measures and it was agreed that 
it was not. In making this decision the Board was mindful that it 
was not market practice to award performance related pay.

Remuneration Consultants
Remuneration Consultants were not engaged by the Company 
during the period under review and in respect of the Remuneration 
Report.

Loss of Office
There are no agreements in place to compensate the Board for loss 
of office.

Governance (continued)
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In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Board 
fees in aggregate cannot exceed GBP 300,000 per annum, unless 
Shareholders approve via an Ordinary resolution at a General 
Meeting such other sum. 

Directors’ service contracts
The Directors do not have service contracts with the Company. The 
Directors have appointment letters which provide for an initial term 
of three years. In accordance with the AIC Code of Corporate 
Governance the Board will seek annual re-election. 

Fees payable on recruitment
The Board will not pay any incentive fees to any person to encourage 
them to become a director of the Company. The Board may, however, 
pay fees to external agencies to assist the Board in the search and 
selection of Directors. No such external agency was engaged during 
period under review.

Effective date
The Remuneration Policy is effective from the date of approval by 
Shareholders.

Current and future policy

Component Director Purpose of reward Operation

Annual fee Chairman of the Board For services as Chairman of a Plc Determined by the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee

Annual fee Other Directors For services as non-executive 
Directors of a Plc

Determined by the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee

Additional fee Chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee and Chair-
man of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 

For additional responsibility and 
time commitment

Determined by the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee

Expenses All Directors Reimbursement of expenses 
incurred in the performance of 
duties

Submission of appropriate sup-
porting documentation

Remuneration Implementation Report (Audited)
The table below provides a single figure for the total remuneration of each Director for the period 31 December 2019. 

Director

Fees to  
31 December 2019

EUR ’000

Directors expenses reimbursed  
to 31 December 2019

 EUR ’000
Total

EUR ’000

Ian Nolan* 54.1 2.1 56.2

David MacLellan* 33.6 0.7 34.3

Kenneth MacRitchie* 30.0 0.2 30.2

Patricia Rodrigues** 28.9 1.7 30.6

Total 146.6 4.7 151.3

* Since appointment on 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019.
** Since appointment on 17 April 2019 to 31 December 2019.

Directors receive fixed fees and do not receive bonuses or other performance related remuneration, share options, pension contributions 
or other benefits apart from the reimbursement of allowable expenses.

No Director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments from the Company or any subsidiary undertaking.

Remuneration Policy

All the Directors are non-executive Directors and the Company has no other employees. The components of the remuneration package 
for non-executive Directors, which are contained in the Remuneration Policy are as detailed below:
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Fees
Since incorporation on 8 April 2019 fees have been payable at an 
annual rate of EUR 75,000 to the Chairman and EUR 46,000 for 
the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and EUR 41,000 
for each Director. 

There has been no change to the Board fees during the period 
under review. 

Directors’ indemnities
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Company 
has agreed to indemnify each Director against all Liabilities which 
any Director may suffer or incur arising out of or in connection with 

any claim made or proceedings taken against him, or any Application 
made by him, on the grounds of his negligence, default, breach of 
duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company or any Associated 
Company.

Performance
The following chart shows the performance of the Company’s NAV 
and share price (total return) by comparison to for the period since 
the Company was listed assuming GBP 100 was invested at the 
point the Company was listed. The Company does not have a 
specific benchmark but has deemed FTSE 250 Index to be the most 
appropriate comparator for its performance.

Relative importance of spend on pay 
The following table sets out the total level of Directors’ remuneration compared to the distributions to Shareholders by way of dividends 
and share buybacks, and the operating expenses and Investment Advisor’s fees and operating expenses incurred by the Company.

Period to 31 December 2019
EUR 

Interest Income 1,609,000

Spend on Directors’ fees 146,600

Company’s operating expenses and advisers fees 1,464,000

Dividends paid and payable to Shareholders 2,322,200

The disclosure of the information in the table above is required 
under The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 with the exception 

of performance fees and operating expenses which have been 
included to show the total expenses of the Company.

Governance (continued)
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Directors’ holdings (Audited)
At 31 December 2019 and at the date of this report the Directors had the following holdings in the Company. There is no requirement for 
Directors to hold shares in the Company. All holdings were beneficially owned.

Ordinary Shares 
As at 31 December 2019

Ian Nolan 100,000

David MacLellan 75,000

Kenneth MacRitchie 50,000

Patricia Rodrigues 50,000

Shareholders views
Shareholders have not expressed any views on the Company’s 
Remuneration policy or remuneration report.

Statement
On behalf of the Board and in accordance with Part 2 of Schedule 
8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, I confirm that the 
above Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Implementation 
Report summarises, as applicable, for the period to 31 December 
2019: 

(a) the major decisions on Directors’ remuneration;

(b)  any substantial changes relating to Directors’ remuneration 
made during the period; and

(c)  the context in which the changes occurred and decisions have 
been taken.

Kenneth MacRitchie
Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
27 April 2020
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

Role of the Audit and Risk Committee
The AIC Code of Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’) recommends 
that the Board should establish an audit committee comprising 
at least three, or in the case of smaller companies, two independent 
non-executive Directors. The Board is required to satisfy itself 
that the audit committee has recent and relevant financial 
experience and has competence relevant to the sector in which 
the Company operates. 

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee which 
has extended responsibility to monitor and review the Company’s 
emerging and principal risks and internal controls. The Audit 
and Risk Committee meets formally at least three times a year 
for the purpose, among other things, of considering the 
appointment, independence, objectivity and remuneration of 
the auditor and to review the audit plan, annual financial 
statements and half-yearly financial report. Where non-audit 
services are provided by the auditor, full consideration of the 
financial and other implications on the independence of the 
auditor arising from any such engagement are considered before 
proceeding.

Composition
David MacLellan, Kenneth MacRitchie and Patricia Rodrigues are 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee which is chaired by 
David MacLellan. The Audit and Risk Committee has formal 
written terms of reference and copies of these are available on 
the Company’s website or on request from the Company Secretary. 
All members of the Audit and Risk Committee have recent and 
relevant financial experience and competence relevant to the 
sector in which the Company operates. 

Internal Audit 
The Audit and Risk Committee has considered the need for an 
internal audit function and considers that this is not appropriate 
given the nature and circumstances of the Company as an externally 
managed investment company with external service providers. The 
Audit and Risk Committee keeps the needs for an internal audit 
function under periodic review. 

Meetings
There were two Audit and Risk Committee meetings held during 
the period ended 31 December 2019 at which all Committee 
members were in attendance. Further Audit and Risk Committee 
meeting were held in February and April  2020 at which all Committee 
members were in attendance.

Financial aspects of internal control
The Directors are responsible for the internal financial control 
systems of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. The 
aim of the internal financial control system is to ensure the maintenance 
of proper accounting records, the reliability of the financial information 
upon which business decisions are made and which is used for 
publication and that the assets of the Company are safeguarded. 

The Board has contractually delegated to external agencies the 
services the Company requires, but they are fully informed of the 
internal control framework established by each relevant service 
provider who provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness 
of internal financial controls.

The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial 
statements is on page 52 and a Statement of Going Concern is on 
page 40.

The Report of the Independent Auditor is on pages 53 to 58.

Financial statements and significant accounting matters
The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the financial statements 
and considered the following significant accounting issues in relation 
to the Company’s financial statements for the period ended 
31 December 2019;

Valuation and existence of investments
The valuation of the Company’s assets is the most material matter 
in the production of the financial statements. The Audit and Risk 
Committee reviewed the procedures in place for ensuring the 
accurate valuation and existence of investments and approved the 
valuation of the Company’s investments and their existence at the 
period end with the Investment Adviser and AIFM and other service 
providers.

The Board has approved a Valuation Policy which sets out the 
valuation process. The process includes a valuation by the Investment 
Adviser using fair market valuations of the SPV Companies that 
hold the Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments on an annual 
basis as at 31 December each year. The valuations are updated as 
at 31 March, 30 June and 30 September each year. The valuation 
principles used to calculate the fair value of the assets are based 
on International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 
Guidelines.

Fair value for each investment is derived from the present value of 
the investment’s expected future cash flows, using reasonable 
assumptions and forecasts for revenues and operating costs, and 
an appropriate discount rate. 

Recognition of income
Income may not be accrued in the correct period and/or incorrectly 
allocated to revenue or capital. The Audit and Risk Committee 
reviewed the Administrator’s procedures for recognition of income 
and reviewed the treatment of income receivable in the period 
under review. 

Tax status
The Company may suffer tax on gains on the realisation of investments 
if investment trust status is not maintained. The Audit and Risk 
Committee reviewed the compliance of the Company during the 
period with the eligibility conditions in order for investment trust 
status to be maintained.

Governance (continued)
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Going concern
The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the Company’s financial 
resources and concluded that it is appropriate for the Company’s 
financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis as 
described in the Directors’ Report on page 40.

Calculation of the Investment Adviser’s fees
The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the Investment Advisers 
fees and concluded that these Investment Adviser’s fees have been 
correctly calculated.

Conclusion with respect to the Annual Report
The Audit and Risk Committee has concluded that the Annual 
Report for the period to 31 December 2019, taken as a whole, is 
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for Shareholders to assess the Company’s business model, 
strategy and performance. The Audit and Risk Committee has 
reported its conclusions to the Board of Directors. The Audit and 
Risk Committee reached this conclusion through a process of review 
of the document and enquiries to the various parties involved in 
the production of the annual report.

Audit Arrangements
 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’) was selected as the Company’s 
auditor at the time of the Company’s launch following a competitive 
process and review of the auditor’s credentials. The current audit 
partner, Jonathan Wiseman, has held the role since that date.  
The auditor was formally appointed in November 2019. The 
appointment of the auditor is reviewed annually by the Audit and 
Risk Committee and the Board and is subject to approval by 
Shareholders. In accordance with the Financial Reporting Council’s 
(‘FRC’) guidance, the audit will be put out to tender within ten 
years of the initial appointment of PwC. Additionally, the audit 
partner must be rotated every five years and is next eligible for 
rotation in 2024. 

The Audit Plan was presented to the Audit and Risk Committee 
at its November 2019 Committee meeting, ahead of the 
commencement of the Company’s period end audit. The Audit 
Plan sets out the audit process, materiality scope and significant 
risks. 

Internal control and risk
The Board together with the AIFM and other service providers 
carefully considered the Company’s matrix of risks and uncertainties 
and appropriate mitigating actions prior to the Company’s IPO. The 
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee, together with the AIFM 
reviewed the matrix of risks prior to presenting them for consideration 
at the Company’s first Audit and Risk Committee meeting held in 
November 2019.  At that meeting the Committee carefully considered 
the risk matrix and approved a procedure for identifying emerging 
risks.  The procedure for identifying emerging risks can be found 
on page 26 and the Company’s principal risks can be found on 
pages 26 to 32. 

At its March 2020 meeting, the Committee considered the internal 
controls reports of its AIFM, Investment Adviser, Registrar and 
Depositary. The Committee reviewed these reports and concluded 
that there were no significant control weaknesses or other issues 
that needed to be bought to the Board’s attention.

Auditor’s Independence
PwC have provided reporting accountant services on the Company’s 
Initial Public Offering (‘IPO’). The IPO accounting services is considered 
a non-recurring service and the work was performed by a team 
independent of the audit team and the audit team place no reliance 
on the output of the IPO services provided. The Audit and Risk 
Committee does not believe that the provision of this service affects 
the independence of PwC, particularly as the reporting accountant 
services were provided in relation to the Company’s IPO and are 
non-recurring. The auditor has provided assurance that they complied 
with the relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements. In 
addition, the Audit and Risk Committee have discussed with PwC 
the independence matter identified in the Auditor’s Report and 
the Committee are satisfied that there are no independence or 
other issues arising from it.

Effectiveness of external audit
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the external audit process. The Audit and Risk 
Committee received a presentation of the audit plan from the 
external auditor prior to the commencement of the audit and a 
presentation of the results of the audit following completion of the 
main audit testing. Additionally, the Audit and Risk Committee 
received feedback from the Company Secretary, Administrator and 
AIFM regarding the effectiveness of the external audit process. 
Following the above review, the Audit and Risk Committee has 
agreed that the re-appointment of the auditors should be recommended 
to the Board and the Shareholders of the Company.

Provision of non-audit services
The Audit and Risk Committee has put a policy in place on the 
supply of any non-audit services provided by the external auditor. 
Such services are considered on a case-by-case basis and may only 
be provided to the Company if the provision of such services is at 
a reasonable and competitive cost and does not constitute a conflict 
of interest or potential conflict of interest which would prevent the 
auditor from remaining objective and independent. The IPO services 
were provided before the Company was listed in June 2019. 

David MacLellan
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
27 April 2020
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected 
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the European 
Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 
profit or loss of the company for that period, In preparing the 
financial statement the Directors are required to:

 � select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently; 

 � make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; 

 � state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

 � prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements and the Director’s Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006. The Directors are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the Company’s website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmation statement
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in 
the Corporate Governance section, confirm to the best of their 
knowledge that:

(a)  the Company financial statements, which have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable accounting standards, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit of the Company; and 

(b)  this Director’s Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and position of the Company, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that it faces. 

Having taken advice from the Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Directors consider that the Annual Report taken as a whole is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary 
for Shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, 
business model and strategy.

For and on behalf of the Board

Ian Nolan
Chairman
27 April 2020 
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc’s 
financial statements:

 � give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit and cash flows for 
the 9 month period (the ‘period’) then ended;

 � have been properly prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union; ; and

 � have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the 
Annual Report, which comprise: the Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2019, the Statement of Comprehensive Income; 
the Statement of Changes in Equity; the Statement of Cash Flows 
for the 9 month period then ended, and the Notes to the Financial 
Statements, which include a description of the significant accounting 
policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)’) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, 
as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We have identified that a network firm of PwC provided tax 
structuring services to the Company during the period. This service 
is prohibited by 5.167R a(vii) of the FRC Ethical Standard. The scope 
and extent of the service was limited in nature and we have not 
had cause to place reliance on it for the purposes of our audit.  We 
confirm that based upon our assessment of this breach and the 
subsequent actions taken we have not, in our view, compromised 
our independence. 

Other than the matter referred to above, and to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, we declare that no non-audit services 
prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were provided to the 
Company.

Other than those disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements, 
we have provided no non-audit services to the Company in the 
period from 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019.

Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality  � Overall materiality: €3,178,000, based on 2% of net assets.

Audit scope  � The Company invests in renewable energy infrastructure investments through its investment in its 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Tesseract Holdings Limited.

 � The Company is an Investment Trust Company and has appointed Aquila Capital 
Investmentgesellschaft mbH (the ‘Investment Adviser’) to manage its assets.

 � The financial statements are prepared for the Company by and using information from PraxisIFM 
Fund Services (UK) Limited (the ‘Administrator’) to whom the Investment Adviser has, with the 
consent of the Directors, delegated the provision of certain administrative functions.

Key audit matters  � Valuation of investments held at fair value through profit or loss.
 � Recognition of interest income.
 � Consideration of the impact of COVID-19.

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and 
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. 
In particular, we looked at where the Directors made subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting 
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future 
events that are inherently uncertain. 

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including 
fraud

Based on our understanding of the Company and industry, we 
identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations related to breaches of UK regulatory principles, such 
as those governed by the Financial Conduct Authority (see  
page 32 of the annual report), and we considered the extent to 
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which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial 
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that 
have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements 
such as the Companies Act 2006 and section 1158 of the Corporation 
Tax Act 2010. We evaluated the Directors’, Investment Adviser’s 
and the Administrator’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent 
manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of 
override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were 
related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase income 
or reduce operating expenses, and bias in accounting estimates. 
Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

 � Enquiries of the Board of Directors, Investment Adviser and 
the Administrator, including consideration of known or 
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulation and fraud;

 � Challenging of assumptions and judgements made by the 
Board of Directors and the Investment Adviser  in their 
significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to 
the valuation of investments held at fair value through profit 
or loss (see related key audit matters below);

 � Identifying and testing of selected journal entries;
 � Reviewing relevant meeting minutes, including those of the 

Board of Directors and Audit and Risk Committee;
 � Testing the Company’s compliance with s1158 of the 

Corporation Tax Act 2010 in the current year;
 � Reviewing of financial statement disclosures to underlying 

supporting documentation; and

 � Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability 
around the nature, timing or extent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described 
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the 
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. 
Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud 
is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery 
or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the 
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of 
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results 
of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by 
our audit. 

Governance (continued)

Key audit matter H ow our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investments held at fair value through profit or loss

Refer to page 50 (Report of the Audit and Risk Committee), page 65 
(Accounting Policies) and page 67 (Notes to the Financial Statements).

The fair value of the Company’s investments in Tesseract Holdings 
Limited (‘the HoldCo’) is determined based on the net assets of the 
HoldCo and, accordingly, the fair value of the underlying investments 
within the HoldCo. The investments represent a material balance 
in the financial statements and the valuations of the investments 
held by the HoldCo require the application of estimations, assumptions 
and judgement.

Changes to the estimates, assumptions and/or the judgements 
made can result, either for an individual investment or in aggregate, 
in a material change to the valuation. 

We have assessed whether the valuation methodology adopted for 
the underlying investments within the HoldCo was appropriate and 
in line with IFRS requirements and industry guidelines. 

On a targeted basis, we performed procedures over the fair value of 
the investments which included:

 � Compared the investment valuations to recently completed 
transactions;

 � Independently assessed, supported by our internal experts, 
the appropriateness of the key assumptions applied in the 
valuations (such as the discount rate);

 �  Considered whether the assumptions applied were 
reasonable based on our market knowledge and expertise;

 �  Testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models; 
and

 �  Performed substantive procedures on a sample basis to 
corroborate inputs to the valuation model, such as cashflow 
projections, to contracts and other supporting documents.

No material issues were identified.
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Key audit matter H ow our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recognition of interest income

Refer to page 50 (Report of the Audit and Risk Committee), page 66 
(Accounting Policies) and page 71 (Notes to the Financial 
Statements). 

Income from investments comprise interest income. We focused on 
the accuracy, completeness and occurrence of interest  income rec-
ognition, as incomplete or inaccurate income could have a material 
impact on the Company’s net asset value and dividend cover. 

We also focused on the accounting policy for income recognition 
and its presentation in the Income Statement as set out in the require-
ments of The Association of Investment Companies Statement of 
Recommended Practice (the “AIC SORP”) as incorrect application 
could indicate a misstatement in income recognition.

 � We assessed the accounting policy for interest income 
recognition for compliance with accounting standards and 
the AIC SORP and performed testing to check that income 
had been accounted for in accordance with this stated 
accounting policy;

 � Obtained an understanding of the nature of the revenue as 
well as each principal revenue stream on a disaggregated 
basis;

 � Obtained an understanding of the controls over revenue 
recognition; and

 � Recalculated interest income earned during the period for 
the shareholder loans and agreed to supporting 
documentation on a sample basis.

No material issues were identified. 

Consideration of the impact of COVID-19

Refer to the Chairman’s Statement (page 4), Principal Risk and 
Uncertainties (page 28), Viability Statement (page 35), the Going 
Concern Statement (page 40) and Subsequent Events note (page 78), 
which disclose the impact of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic.

From a small number of cases of an unknown virus in 2019, the 
COVID-19 viral infection has become a global pandemic. It has caused 
disruption to supply chains and travel, slowed global growth and 
caused volatility in global markets and in exchange rates during the 
first quarter of 2020. The impact of COVID-19 has been treated as 
a non-adjusting event after the end of the reporting period as these 
are indicative of conditions that arose after the end of the reporting 
period.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company 
on a going concern basis, and believe this assumption remains 
appropriate.  This conclusion is based on the assessment that 
notwithstanding economic disruption from COVID-19 and the related 
uncertainties, they are satisfied that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue to operate for a period of at least 12 months 
from the approval of the financial statements. 

We evaluated the Directors’ assessment of the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the Company by:

 � evaluating the Company’s updated risk assessment and 
considering whether it addresses the relevant threats 
presented by COVID-19.

 � evaluating management’s assessment of operational impact 
on the Company and the underlying investments held by the 
HoldCo, considering their consistency with other available 
information and our understanding of the business and 
assessing the potential impact on the financial statements.

 � We obtained and evaluated the Directors’ going concern 
assessment by obtaining  evidence to support the key 
assumptions and the forecasts. This included reviewing the 
Directors’ assessment of the Company’s financial position as 
well as their review of the operational resilience of the 
Company and oversight of key third party service providers. 

We considered whether, in our view, the disclosures in the financial 
statements relating to the valuation of investments (and related 
sensitivity disclosures), risk management and going concern were 
reasonable and supportable in light of the emergence of COVID-
19 pandemic subsequent to the period end.

We read  the other information, including the Principal Risk and 
Uncertainties and the Viability Statement set out in the Strategic 
Report, and assessing its consistency with the financial statements 
and the evidence we obtained in our audit. Our conclusions relating 
to other information are set out in the ‘Reporting on other 
information’ section of our report.

We found that the directors’ assessment of the impact of COVID-
19 on the Company’s financial statements was reasonable and 
supportable. Our conclusions relating to going concern are set 
out in the ‘Conclusions relating to going concern’ section below.
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Governance (continued)

In accordance with ISAs (UK) we report as follows:

Reporting obligation Outcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add or 
draw attention to in respect of the Directors’ statement in the financial 
statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
financial statements and the Directors’ identification of any material 
uncertainties to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval 
of the financial statements..

We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, 
this statement is not a guarantee as to the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

We are required to report if the Directors’ statement relating to Going 
Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially incon-
sistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We have nothing to report.

How we tailored the audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed 
enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements 
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which it 
operates. 

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of mate-
riality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, 

together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine 
the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items 
and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both 
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality 
for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall materiality €3,178,000.

How we determined it 2% of net assets.

Rationale for benchmark applied We believe that net assets is the primary measure used by the shareholders in assessing the 
performance of the Company, and this is also a generally accepted auditing benchmark used 
for Investment Trusts.

In addition to overall materiality, a specific materiality was also 
applied to certain areas of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Our specific materiality is aligned with the individual line items  in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income that we believe are of 
particular interest to shareholders and we determined those line 
items to be Gain on investments, Interest Income, Investment 
Advisory fees, Other expenses, and Finance costs. We applied a 
materiality level of 10% of Investment Advisory fees and Other 

expenses, €146,400, in order to reflect their specific characteristics.

We agreed with the Audit and Risk Committee that we would 
report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
€158,917  as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our 
view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern
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Reporting on other information 

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual 
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion 
or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, 
any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we 
are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is 
a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also 
considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies 
Act 2006 have been included.  

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work 
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 
(CA06), ISAs (UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA) require us also to report certain opinions and 
matters as described below (required by ISAs (UK) unless otherwise 
stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the 
audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ 
Report for the period ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with 
the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. (CA06)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and 
its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not 
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and 
Directors’ Report. (CA06)

The Directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Company 
and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or 
liquidity of the Company
We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

 � The Directors’ confirmation on page 45 of the Annual Report 
that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal 
risks facing the Company, including those that would 
threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or 
liquidity.

 � The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks 
and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

 � The Directors’ explanation on page 35 of the Annual Report 
as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Company, 
over what period they have done so and why they consider 
that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to 
whether they have a reasonable expectation that the 
Company will be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the 
Directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment 
of the principal risks facing the Company and statement in relation 
to the longer-term viability of the Company. Our review was 
substantially less in scope than an audit and only consisted of 
making inquiries and considering the Directors’ process supporting 
their statements; checking that the statements are in alignment 
with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
(the “Code”); and considering whether the statements are consistent 
with the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit. (Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report 
when: 

 � The statement given by the Directors, on page 52, that they 
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, 
balanced and understandable, and provides the information 
necessary for the members to assess the Company’s position 
and performance, business model and strategy is materially 
inconsistent with our knowledge of the Company obtained in 
the course of performing our audit.

 � The section of the Annual Report on pages 50 to 51 
describing the work of the Audit and Risk Committee does 
not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

 � The Directors’ statement relating to the Company’s 
compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a 
departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified, 
under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006. (CA06)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the 
audit

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
set out on page 52, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as 
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they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible 
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only 
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you 
if, in our opinion:

 � we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit; or

 � adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

 � certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by 
law are not made; or

 � the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment
Following the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
we were appointed by the Directors on 5 November 2019 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 
subsequent financial periods. This is therefore our first year of 
uninterrupted engagement.

Jonathan Wiseman  
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
27 April 2020

Governance (continued)
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Financial statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the period from incorporation on 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019

 Notes
Revenue
EUR ’000

Capital
EUR ’000

Total
EUR ’000

Gain on investments 4 – 8,608 8,608

Net foreign exchange losses  – (13) (13)

Interest Income 5 1,609 – 1,609

Investment Advisory fees 6 (654) – (654)

Other expenses 7 (810) – (810)

Profit on ordinary activities before finance costs and taxation  145 8,595 8,740

Finance costs 8 (199) – (199)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  (54) 8,595 8,541

Taxation 9 – – –

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation  (54) 8,595 8,541

Return per Ordinary Share (cents) 10 (0.04c) 7.11c 7.07c

Return per Ordinary Share-diluted (cents) 10 (0.04c) 7.09c 7.05c

The total column of the Statement is the profit and loss account of the Company.

All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations. No operations were acquired or discontinued 
during the period.

Return on ordinary activities after taxation is also the “Total comprehensive income for the period”.

The notes on pages 63 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements (continued)

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2019

 Notes
As at 31 December 2019

EUR ’000

Fixed assets   

Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 4 118,660

  

Current assets  

Trade and other receivables 11 1,927

Cash and cash equivalents  38,862

  40,789

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  

Other creditors 12 (532)

  (532)

Net current assets  40,257

Total assets less total liabilities  158,917

Capital and reserves: equity  

Share capital 13 1,547

Share premium 313

Special distributable reserve 14 148,516

Capital reserve  8,595

Revenue reserve  (54)

Total Shareholders’ funds  158,917

  

Net assets per Ordinary Share (cents) 15 102.7c

The financial statements on pages 59 to 78 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 April 2020 and signed on its behalf by

(Chairman)

Company number 11932433

The notes on pages 63 to 78 form part of these financial statements.



© 2020 AERIF – For Professional Investors Only 61

Job No: 42667 Proof Event: 27 Black Line Level: 8 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Praxis Project Title: Aquila R&A 2019 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the period from incorporation on 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019

  Notes

Share 
capital 

EUR ’000

Share 
premium 
account  

EUR ’000

Special 
distributable 

reserve  
EUR ’000

Capital 
reserve  

EUR ’000

Revenue 
reserve

EUR ’000
Total  

EUR ’000

Opening equity as at 8 April 2019 – – – – – –

Shares issued in period 13 1,547 153,112 – – – 154,659

Share issue costs  – (3,123) – – – (3,123)

Transfer to special distribution reserve 14 – (149,676) 149,676 – – –

Profit for the period  – – – 8,595 (54) 8,541

Dividend paid 16 – – (1,160) – – (1,160)

Closing equity as at 31 December 2019 1,547 313 148,516 8,595 (54) 158,917

The Company’s distributable reserves consist of the Special distributable reserve, Capital reserve and Revenue reserve.

The notes on pages 63 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements (continued)

Statement of Cash Flows

For the period from incorporation on 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019

 Notes EUR ’000

Operating activities   

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  8,541

Adjustment for unrealised gains on investments  (8,608)

Increase in other debtors  (1,927)

Increase in other creditors  532

Net cash flow used in operating activities  (1,462)

  

Investing activities  

Purchase of investments 4 (110,052)

Net cash flow used in investing activities  (110,052)

  

Financing activities  

Proceeds of share issues 13 154,659

Share issue costs  (3,123)

Dividend paid  (1,160)

Net cash flow from financing activities  150,376

Increase in cash  38,862

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period  –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  38,862

The notes on pages 63 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the period from incorporation on 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019

1. General Information
Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc (the ‘Company’) is a public Company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales 
on 8 April 2019 with registered number 11932433. The Company is domiciled in England and Wales. The Company is a closed-ended 
investment company with an indefinite life. The Company commenced its operations on 5 June 2019 when the Company’s Ordinary Shares 
were admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange. The Directors intend, at all times, to conduct the affairs of the Company as to 
enable it to qualify as an investment trust for the purposes of section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, as amended.

The registered office and principal of business of the Company is Mermaid House, 2 Puddle Dock, London EV4V 3DB. The Company’s initial 
154,304,752 Ordinary Shares were admitted to the premium segment of the London Stock Exchange, raising gross proceeds of  
EUR 154.3 million. 

The Company’s investment objective is to generate stable returns, principally in the form of income distributions, by investing in a diversified 
portfolio of Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments.

International Fund Management Limited acts as the Company’s Alternative Investment Fund Manager (the ‘AIFM’) for the purposes of 
Directive 2011/61/EU on alternative investment fund managers (‘AIFMD’). In accordance with the terms of the AIFM agreement dated 10 
May 2019 between the Company and the AIFM, the AIFM provides portfolio and risk management services to the Company. The AIFM is 
authorised and regulated by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission.

The Company’s Investment Adviser is Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH authorised and regulated by the German Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority.

PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited (the ‘Administrator’) provides administrative and company secretarial services to the Company under 
the terms of an administration agreement between the Company and the Administrator.

2. Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as 
adopted by the European Union, and applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies 
using IFRS. These comprise standards and interpretations of the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee 
as approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee (‘IASC’) that remain in effect, to the extent that IFRS have been adopted 
by the European Union.

The financial statements have also been prepared as far as is relevant and applicable to the Company in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (‘SORP’) issued by the Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’) in November 2014 and updated in October 
2019.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. These policies are consistently applied.

The functional currency of the Company is Euros as this is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company 
operates. Accordingly, the financial statements are presented in Euros rounded to the nearest thousand Euros, unless otherwise stated. 
Euro/GBP exchange rate as of 31 December 2019 was 0.8457.

Accounting for Subsidiary 
The Company owns 100.0% of its subsidiary Tesseract Holdings Limited (‘HoldCo’) the registered office and principal of business of the 
Company is Mermaid House, 2 Puddle Dock, London EV4V 3DB. The Company has acquired Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments 
(the ‘SPVs’) through its investment in the HoldCo. The Company finances the HoldCo through a mix of loan investments and equity. The 
loan investment finance represents shareholder loans (the ‘Shareholder loans’) provided by the Company to HoldCo. The Company meets 
the definition of an investment entity as described by IFRS 10. Under IFRS 10 an investment entity is required to hold subsidiaries at fair 
value through profit or loss and therefore does not consolidate the subsidiary.

The HoldCo is also an investment entity and as described under IFRS 10, values its SPVs investments at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
Characteristics of an investment entity
Under the definition of an investment entity, the Company should satisfy all three of the following tests:

I.   Company obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investors with investment management 
services; 

II.   Company commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment 
income, or both; and

III.   Company measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

In assessing whether the Company meets the definition of an investment entity set out in IFRS 10 the Directors note that:

I.   the Company has multiple investors and obtains funds from a diverse group of Shareholders who would otherwise not have access 
individually to investing in Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments due to high barriers to entry and capital requirements;

II.   the Company intends to hold these Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments for the remainder of their useful life for the purpose 
of capital appreciation and investment income. The Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments are expected to generate renewable 
energy output for 25 to 30 years from their relevant commercial operation date, the Directors believe the Company is able to generate 
returns to the investors during that period; and

III.   the Company measures and evaluates the performance of all of its investments on a fair value basis which is the most relevant for 
investors in the Company. Management use fair value information as a primary measurement to evaluate the performance of all of the 
investments and in decision making. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company meets all the typical characteristics of an investment entity and therefore meets the 
definition set out in IFRS 10. The Directors agree that investment entity accounting treatment appropriately reflects the Company’s activities 
as an investment trust. 

The Directors believe the treatment outlined above provides the most relevant information to investors.

Going concern
The Directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Company has adequate operational resources to continue in operational existence for at least twelve months from the date of 
approval of these financial statements.

Details of the Directors assessment of the going concern status of the Company, which considered the adequacy of the Company‘s resources 
and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, are given on page 40.

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires the application of estimates and assumptions which may affect the results reported 
in the financial statements. Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgement and available information. 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and liabilities 
are those used to determine the fair value of the investments as disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. 

As disclosed above, the Directors have concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity as defined in IFRS 10. 
This conclusion involved a degree of judgement and assessment as to whether the Company met the criteria outlined in the accounting 
standards. 

The key assumptions that have a significant impact on the carrying value of the Company’s underlying investments in SPVs are useful life 
of the assets, the discount factors, the rate of inflation, the price at which the power and associated benefits can be sold and the amount 
of electricity the assets are expected to produce.
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Useful lives are based on the Investment Adviser’s estimates of the period over which the assets will generate revenue which are periodically 
reviewed for continued appropriateness. The assumption used for the useful life of the wind farms is 25 years and solar PV is 30 years. The 
actual useful life may be a shorter or longer period depending on the actual operating conditions experienced by the asset. 

The discount factors are subjective and therefore it is feasible that a reasonable alternative assumption may be used resulting in a different 
value. The discount factors applied to the cashflows are reviewed annually by the Investment Adviser to ensure they are at the appropriate 
level. The Investment Adviser will take into consideration market transactions, where of similar nature, when considering changes to the 
discount factors used. 

The operating costs of the operating companies are frequently partly or wholly subject to indexation and an assumption is made that 
inflation will increase at a long-term rate. 

The price at which the output from the generating assets is sold is a factor of both wholesale electricity prices and the revenue received 
from the Government support regime. Future power prices are estimated using external third party forecasts which take the form of 
specialist consultancy reports. The future power price assumptions are reviewed as and when these forecasts are updated. There is an 
inherent uncertainty in future wholesale electricity price projection. 

Specifically commissioned external reports are used to estimate the expected electrical output from the wind farm assets taking into account 
the expected average wind speed at each location and generation data from historical operation. The actual electrical output may differ 
considerably from that estimated in such a report mainly due to the variability of actual wind to that modelled in any one period. Assumptions 
around electrical output will be reviewed only if there is good reason to suggest there has been a material change in this expectation.

Adoption of new IFRS standards
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for the annual periods beginning after 1 January 
2019 and have been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the 
measurement of the amounts recognised in the financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 16 – Leases (effective 1 January 2019) specifies accounting for leases and removes the distinction between operating and finance 
leases. This standard is not applicable to the Company as it has no leases.

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments seeks to provide clarity on how to account for uncertainty over income tax treatments 
and specifies that an entity must consider whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will accept each tax treatment or group of 
tax treatments, that it plans to use in its income tax filing. The interpretation also requires companies to reassess the judgements and 
estimates applied if facts and circumstances change. The interpretation would require the Company to recognise uncertain tax positions 
which are more than probable within its financial statements. The interpretation is unlikely to have any impact on the financial statements 
of the Company.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2019 reporting periods 
and have not been early adopted by the Company. These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Comparatives 
There are no comparatives as this is the Company’s first accounting period. 

3. Significant Accounting Policies 
Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
The Company’s shareholder loan and equity investments in HoldCo are held at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or losses resulting 
from the movement in fair value are recognised in the Company’s Statement of Comprehensive Income at each valuation point. As 
shareholder loan investments form part of a managed portfolio of assets whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, shareholder 
loan investments are designated at fair value.

Financial liabilities 
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and other short term monetary liabilities which are initially recognised 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Recognition, derecognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s Statement of Financial Position when the Company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

A Financial liability (in whole or in part) is derecognised when the Company has extinguished its contractual obligations, it expires or is 
cancelled. A financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the Company 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses resulting 
from the movement in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Taxation
Investment trusts which have approval under Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are not liable for taxation on capital gains. 
Shortly after listing the Company received an approval as an Investment Trust by HMRC.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the statement 
of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Investment trusts which have approval as such under Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are not liable for taxation on 
capital gains.

Segmental reporting
The Chief Operating Decision Maker, which is the Board, is of the opinion that the Company is engaged in a single segment of business, 
being investment in renewable energy infrastructure assets to generate investment returns whilst preserving capital. The financial information 
used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker to manage the Company presents the business as a single segment.

Income
Income includes investment income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and finance income.

Investment income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 
investment income when the Company’s right to receive income is established.

Interest earned on shareholder loans are recognised on an accruals basis.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive it is established and is reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
Investment Income.

Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. In respect of the analysis between revenue and capital items presented within the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, all expenses are presented as revenue.

Payment of Investment Advisory fees in shares
The Company issues shares to the Investment Adviser in exchange for receiving investment advisory services. The fair value of the investment 
advisory services received in exchange for shares is recognised as an expense at the time at which the investment advisory fees are earned, 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the investment advisory services is calculated by reference to the definition of 
investment advisory fees in the Investment Advisory Agreement.



© 2020 AERIF – For Professional Investors Only 67

Job No: 42667 Proof Event: 27 Black Line Level: 8 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Praxis Project Title: Aquila R&A 2019 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

Foreign currency 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euros at actual exchange rates as at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the period end are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at the period 
end. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of the transaction is included as an exchange gain 
or loss to capital or revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as appropriate. Foreign exchange movements on investments are 
included in the Income Statement within gains on investments.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes deposits held at call with banks and other short-term deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method where necessary.

Share capital and share premium
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares (that would have been avoided if there had 
not been a new issue of new shares) are recognised against the value of the Ordinary Share premium account.

Repurchase of the Company’s own shares are recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

4. Investment Held at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

 

Shareholder 
 Loans 

EUR ’000

Equity  
Investments

EUR ’000
Total

EUR ’000

(a) Summary of valuation

Analysis of closing balance:

Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 67,581 51,079 118,660

Total investments at 31 December 2019 67,581 51,079 118,660

(b) Movements during the period:

Opening balance of investments, at cost – – –

Purchases at cost 67,581 42,471 110,052

Cost of investments at 31 December 2019 67,581 42,471 110,052

Revaluation of investments to fair value:

Unrealised movement in fair value of investments – 8,608 8,608

Balance of capital reserve – investments held at 31 December 2019 – 8,608 8,608

Fair value of investments at 31 December 2019 67,581 51,079 118,660

(c) Gain on investments in period (per Income Statement)

Movement on unrealised valuation of investments held – 8,608 8,608

Gains on investments – 8,608 8,608

During the period, the HoldCo incurred transaction costs on purchases on underlying SPVs totalling in aggregate EUR 712,000.

The fair value of the Company’s equity and the shareholder loans investments in HoldCo are determined by the underlying fair values of 
the SPV investments, which are not traded and contain unobservable inputs. As such, the Company’s equity and the shareholder loans 
investments in HoldCo have been classified as level 3. 
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. Investment Held at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)
Fair value measurements
IFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurement by level. The level of fair value hierarchy within the financial assets or financial liabilities 
is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are classified in their entirety into only one of the following 3 levels:

Level 1 
The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market data) for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 
Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability.

The classification of the Company’s investments held at fair value is detailed in the table below:

As at 31 December 2019

 
Level 1 

EUR ’000
Level 2 

EUR ’000
Level 3 

EUR ’000
Total 

EUR ’000

Investments at fair value through profit and loss

Equity investments in HoldCo – – 51,079 51,079

Shareholder loan investments in HoldCo – – 67,581 67,581

– – 118,660 118,660

Due to the nature of the investments, they are always expected to be classified as level 3. There have been no transfers between levels 
during the period ended 31 December 2019.

The movement on the Level 3 unquoted investments during the period is shown below:

 
As at 31 December 2019 

EUR ’000

Opening balance –

Additions during the period 110,052

Unrealised gain on investments 8,608

Closing balance 118,660

Valuation methodology
The Company owns 100.0% of its subsidiary HoldCo. The Company meets the definition of an investment entity as described by IFRS 10, 
as such the Company’s investments in the HoldCo are measured at fair value.

The Company acquired underlying investments in SPVs through its investment in the HoldCo.
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The Investment Adviser has carried out fair market valuations of the SPV investments as at 31 December 2019 and the Directors have 
satisfied themselves as to the methodology used, the discount rates and key assumptions applied, and the valuation. All SPV investments 
are at fair value through profit or loss and are valued using the IFRS 13 framework for fair value measurement. The following economic 
assumptions were used in the valuation of the SPVs.

Valuation Assumptions
As at 31 December 2019

Discount rates The valuation methodology comprises country and asset-specific discount rates for each asset.

Power prices Power prices are based on an initial two years of market forward pricing, and then a rolling 
average of capture rates (i.e. technology and country or region specific power price curves) to 
reflect the forecasted impact of intermittent electricity on power prices and to limit quarterly 
volatility. Power price forecasts are independently sourced from a provider with coverage in 
almost all European markets.

Energy yield / load factors Estimated based on third party energy yield assessments and operational performance data 
(where applicable). 

Inflation rates Long-term inflation is based on central bank targets for the respective Jurisdiction.

Asset life In general, an operating life of 25 years for onshore wind and 30 years for solar PV is assumed. 
In individual cases a longer operating life is assumed where the contractual set-up (ie. O&M 
agreement with availability guarantee) supports such assumption. The operating life of 
hydropower assets are estimated in accordance with their expected concession term.

Operating expenses The operating expenses are primarily based on the respective contracts and, where not contracted,  
on the assessment from a technical adviser

Taxation rates The underlying country-specific tax rates are derived from due diligence reports from leading 
tax consulting firms. 

Valuation Sensitivities
The fair value of the Company’s investments in HoldCo are ultimately determined by the underlying fair values of the SPV investments. As 
such sensitivity analysis is produced to show the impact of changes in key assumptions adopted to arrive at the SPV valuation.

For each of the sensitivities, it is assumed that potential changes occur independently of each other with no effect on any other base case 
assumption, and that the number of investments in the SPVs remains static throughout the modelled life. 

The NAV per share impacts from each sensitivity is shown below.

(i) Discount rates
The DCF valuation of the SPV investments represents the largest component of the NAV of the Company and the key sensitivities are 
considered to be the discount rate used in the DCF valuation and assumptions. 

The weighted average valuation discount rate applied to calculate the SPV valuation is 7.6% at 31 December 2019. 

An increase or decrease of 0.5% in this rate at project level has the following effect on valuation.

Discount rate 

NAV per 
 share impact  

EUR cents

-0.5%
Change 

EUR ’000

Total  
NAV  Value  

EUR ’000

+0.5%
Change 

EUR ’000

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 3.97 165,057 158,917 153,209 (3.69)
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. Investment Held at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)
(ii) Power Price
Long term power price forecasts are provided by a leading market consultant and are updated quarterly. The sensitivity below assumes a 
10.0% increase or decrease in power prices relative to the base case for every year of the asset life, which is relatively extreme (a 10.0% 
variation in short term power prices, as reflected by the forward curve, would have a much lesser effect). The sensitivity considers a flat 
10.0% movement in power prices for all years, i.e. the effect of adjusting the forecast electricity price assumptions in each of the jurisdictions 
applicable to the SPV down by 10.0% and up by 10.0% from the base case assumptions for each year throughout the operating life of 
the SPV.

A 10.0% increase or decrease in the forecast electricity price has the following effect effect on valuation, as shown below.

Power price

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

-10.0%
Change 

EUR ’000

Total  
NAV  Value  

EUR ’000

+10.0%
Change 

EUR ’000

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (9.09) 144,854 158,917 172,723 8.93

(iii) Energy yield
The base case assumes a ‘P50’ level of output. The P50 output is the estimated annual amount of electricity generation (in MWh) that has 
a 50.0% probability of being exceeded both in any single year and over the long term and a 50.0% probability of being under achieved. 
Hence the P50 is the expected level of generation over the long term. The sensitivity illustrates the effect of assuming ‘P90 10 years’ 
(a downside case) and ‘P10 10 years’ (an upside case) energy production scenarios. A P90 10 years downside case assumes the average 
annual level of electricity generation that has a 90.0% probability of being exceeded over a 10 years period. A P10 10 years upside case 
assumes the average annual level of electricity generation that has a 10.0% probability of being exceeded over a 10 years period. This 
means that the SPV aggregate production outcome for any given 10 years period would be expected to fall somewhere between these 
P90 and P10 levels with an 80.0% confidence level, with a 10.0% probability of it falling below that range of outcomes and a 10.0% 
probability of it exceeding that range. The sensitivity does not include the portfolio effect which would reduce the variability because of 
the diversification of the portfolio. The sensitivity is applied throughout the next ten years. 

The table below shows the sensitivity of the SPV value to changes in the energy yield applied to cash flows from project companies in the 
SPV as per the terms P90, P50 and P10 explained above.

Energy yield

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

P90  
10 year Total

EUR ’000

Total  
NAV Value  

EUR ’000

P10  
10 year Total

EUR ’000

NAV  per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (8.71) 145,450 158,917 171,783 8.32

(iv) Inflation rates
The projects’ income streams are principally a mix of subsidies, fixed-price PPAs and merchant revenues. Subsidies and fixed-price PPAs 
tend not to be inflation linked, whilst merchant revenues are generally subject to inflation. The current contractual life of subsidies and 
fixed-price PPAs are shorter than their respective asset lives, meaning from a valuation perspective, the assets are more exposed to merchant 
revenues over the asset life. The projects’ management and maintenance expenses typically move with inflation, but debt payments are 
fixed. This results in the portfolio returns and valuation being positively correlated to inflation. The SPVs valuation assumes long-term 
inflation of 2.0% p.a.

The sensitivity illustrates the effect of a 0.5% decrease and a 0.5% increase from the assumed annual inflation rates in the financial model 
for each year throughout the operating life of the SPV.

Inflation

NAV per  
share impact  

EUR cents

-0.5%
Change

EUR ’000

Total  
NAV  Value  

EUR ’000

+0.5%
Change

EUR ’000

NAV  per  
share impact  

EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (3.72) 153,167 158,917 165,108 4.00
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(v) Asset life
In general, an operating life of 25 years for onshore wind and 30 years for solar PV is assumed. In individual cases a longer operating life 
is assumed where the contractual set-up (i.e. O&M agreement with availability guarantee) supports such an assumption. The operating life 
of hydropower assets are estimated in accordance with their concession term.

The sensitivity below shows the impact on the valuation of assuming all assets within the portfolio have a year longer and a year shorter 
asset life assumed.

Asset life

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

-1 year
Change

EUR ’000

Total NAV 
Value  

EUR ’000

+1 year
Change

EUR ’000

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 (3.12) 154,094 158,917 163,286 2.82

(vi) Operating costs
The sensitivity shows the effect of a 10.0% decrease and a 10.0% increase to the base case for annual operating costs for the SPV, in each 
case assuming that the change to the base case for operating costs occurs with effect from 1 January 2020 and that change to the base 
case remains reflected consistently thereafter during the life of the projects.

An increase or decrease of 10.0% in operating expenses at the SPV level has the following effect on valuation, as shown below.

Operating expenses

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

-10.0%
Change

EUR ’000

Total  
NAV 

Value  
EUR ’000

+10.0%
Change

EUR ’000

NAV  
per share

impact  
EUR cents

Valuation as of 31 December 2019 3.64 164,545 158,917 153,280 (3.64)

5. Interest Income

 
For the period ended 31 December 2019 

EUR ’000

Income from investments

Interest received from shareholder loans 1,609

Total Income 1,609

6. Investment Advisory Fees
For the period ended 31 December 2019

 
Revenue 
EUR ’000

Capital
EUR ’000

Total 
EUR ’000

Investment Advisory fees 654 – 654

Under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the following fee is payable to the Investment Adviser:

a) 0.75 per cent. per annum of NAV (plus VAT) of the Company up to EUR 300 million;

b) 0.65 per cent. per annum of NAV (plus VAT) of the Company between EUR 300 million and EUR 500 million; and

c) 0.55 per cent. per annum of NAV (plus VAT) of the Company above EUR 500 million

During the first two years of its appointment, the Investment Adviser has undertaken to apply its fee (net of any applicable tax) in subscribing 
for, or acquiring, Ordinary Shares. If the Ordinary Shares are trading at a premium to the prevailing NAV, the Company will issue new 
Ordinary Shares to the Investment Adviser. If, however, the Ordinary Shares are trading at a discount to the prevailing NAV at the relevant 
time, no new Ordinary Shares will be issued by the Company and instead the Company will instruct its broker to acquire Ordinary Shares 
to the value of fee due in the relevant period.

The Investment Adviser is also entitled to be reimbursed for certain expenses under the Investment Advisory Agreement. These include 
out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by the Investment Adviser in providing services, including transactional, organisational, operating 
and/or travel expenses.
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

6. Investment Advisory Fees (continued)
Share based payments
The Company settled investment advisory fees by issuing Ordinary Shares. The Company has issued following shares to settle investment 
advisory fees in respect of the period under review:

In respect of the period to Investment advisory fees in EUR Issue price in cents Number of shares Date of issue

30 September 2019 353,704 97.35 363,332 11 November 2019

31 December 2019 300,417 103.50 290,258 17 February 2020

7. Other Expenses
For the period ended 31 December 2019

 
Revenue 
EUR ’000

Capital 
EUR ’000

Total 
EUR ’000

Secretary and administrator fees 105 – 105

Tax compliance 159 – 159

Directors’ fees 147 – 147

Directors’ other costs 18 – 18

Broker retainer 60 – 60

Auditor’s remuneration*

– Statutory audit fee 81 81

– Initial accounts audit 24 – 24

AIFM fees 58 – 58

Registrar’s fees 16 – 16

Marketing fees 44 – 44

FCA and listing fees 32 – 32

Other expenses 66 – 66

Total expenses 810 – 810

*  Auditor’s remuneration includes VAT of GBP 14,000 on statutory audit fees and GBP 4,000 for audit of the Company’s initial accounts. 

Prior to appointment as the Company’s Auditor, the auditors received EUR 100,100 (excluding VAT of EUR 20,020) for non-audit services 
related to the IPO which have been treated as a capital expense and included in ‘share issue costs’ disclosed in the Statement of Changes 
in Equity on page 61.

8. Finance Costs
For the period ended 31 December 2019

 
Revenue 
EUR ’000

Capital 
EUR ’000

Total 
EUR ’000

Interest charges 198 – 198

Bank charges 1 – 1

Total 199 – 199
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9. Taxation
(a) Analysis of charge in the period

For the period ended 31 December 2019

 
Revenue 
EUR ’000

Capital 
EUR ’000

Total 
EUR ’000

Corporation tax – – –

Taxation – – –

(b) Factors affecting total tax charge for the period:
The standard rate of UK corporation tax at 31 December 2019 was 19%. The tax charge differs from the charge resulting from applying 
the standard rate of UK corporation tax for an investment trust company. 

The differences are explained below:

 
Revenue 
EUR ’000

Capital 
EUR ’000

Total 
EUR ’000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation (54) 8,595 8,541

Corporation tax at 19.0% (10) 1,633 1,623

Effects of:

Movement in management expenses not utilised/recognised 10 – 10

Foreign exchange gains – 2 2

Gain on investments held at fair value not taxable – (1,635) (1,635)

Total tax charge for the period – – –

Investment companies which have been approved by the HM Revenue & Customs under section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are 
exempt from tax on capital gains. Due to the Company’s status as an Investment Trust, and the intention to continue meeting the conditions 
required to obtain approval in the foreseeable future, the Company has not provided for deferred tax on any capital gains or losses arising 
on the revaluation of investments.

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of EUR 206,000 based on the prospective UK corporation tax rate of 17%. No asset 
has been recognised in the accounts because, it is not likely that this asset will be utilised in the foreseeable future.

10. Return Per Ordinary Share
Return per Ordinary Share is based on the profit for the period of EUR 8,541,000 attributable to the undiluted weighted average number 
of Ordinary Shares in issue of 120,853,408 and the diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue of 121,143,666 in the 
period to 31 December 2019. Revenue and capital (losses)/profits are (EUR 54,000) and EUR 8,595,000 respectively.

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
 Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic earnings per share 120,853,408 

The effect settled investment advisory fees by issuing Ordinary Shares 290,258 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
diluted earnings per share 121,143,666 

11. Trade and Other Receivables 

 
As at 31 December 2019 

EUR ’000

Interest due from shareholder loans 1,609

Receivable from HoldCo 286

Prepaid expenses 32

Total 1,927
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

12. Other Creditors

 
As at 31 December 2019 

EUR ’000

Accrued expenses 532

Total 532

13. Share Capital

 

As at 31 December 2019

No. of Ordinary Shares EUR ’000

Allotted, issued and fully paid:  

Redeemable Ordinary Shares of 1p each (‘Ordinary Shares’) 154,668,084 1,547

Total 154,668,084 1,547

On incorporation, the issued share capital of the Company was 1 Ordinary Share of EUR 0.01 issued to the subscriber to the Company’s 
memorandum. The Company’s issued share capital was increased by GBP 50,000 represented by 50,000 Management Shares of nominal 
value GBP 1.00 each, which were subscribed for by the Investment Adviser. Following admission, the Management Shares were redeemed 
by the holder. On admission on 5 June 2019, 154,304,752 Ordinary Shares were allotted and issued to Shareholders as part of the placing 
and offer for subscription in accordance with the Company’s prospectus dated 10 May 2019. The Company raised gross proceeds of 
EUR 154.3 million.

For the period from 8 April 2019 to 31 December 2019

Shares in 
issue at the 

beginning of 
the period)

Shares  
subscribed

Shares  
redeemed

Shares in 
issue at the 

end of  
the period

Management Shares – 50,000 (50,000) –

Ordinary Shares – 154,668,084 – 154,668,084

On 6 November 2019, the Company issued 363,332 Ordinary Shares to the Company’s Investment Adviser, in relation to advisory fees 
payable for the period ended 30 September 2019. Since the period end, the Company issued a further 290,258 Ordinary Shares to the 
Company’s Investment Adviser, in relation to advisory fees payable for the period ended 31 December 2019.

14. Special Distributable Reserve
As indicated in the Company’s prospectus dated 10 May 2019, following admission of the Company’s Ordinary Shares to trading on the 
London Stock Exchange, the Directors applied to the Court and obtained a judgement on 30 July 2019 to cancel the amount standing to 
the credit of the share premium account of the Company. The amount of the share premium account cancelled and credited to a special 
distributable reserve was EUR 149,675,608.

15. Net Assets Per Ordinary Share
Net assets per Ordinary Share as at 31 December 2019 is based on EUR 158,916,758 of net assets of the Company attributable to the 
154,668,084 Ordinary Shares in issue as at 31 December 2019. 

16. Dividend Paid
The Company has paid the following interim dividends in respect of the period under review:

In respect of the period to
Dividend amount per 

Ordinary Share in cents
Amount

EUR ’000 Pay Date

1st Interim Dividend 30 September 2019 0.75 1,160 29 November 2019

2nd Interim Dividend 31 December 2019 0.75 1,162 20 March 2020
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17. Financial Risk Management
The Investment Adviser, AIFM and the Administrator report to the Board on a quarterly basis and provide information to the Board which 
allows the Board to monitor to monitor and manage financial risks relating to Company’s operations. The Company’s activities expose it 
to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. These 
risks are monitored by the AIFM. Each risk and its management is summarised below.

(i) Currency risk
Foreign currency risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of future cashflows will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in Euro and substantially all of its revenues and expenses are in Euro. 
The Company is not considered to be materially exposed to foreign currency risk.

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Company’s interest rate risk on interest bearing financial assets is limited to interest earned on shareholder loans. The Board considers 
that, as shareholder loans investments bear interest at a fixed rate, they do not carry any interest rate risk.

The Company’s interest and non-interest bearing assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019 are summarised below:

Assets 

Interest 
bearing 

EUR ’000

Non-interest 
bearing 

EUR ’000
Total 

EUR ’000

Cash and cash equivalents – 38,862 38,862

Trade and other receivables – 1,927 1,927

Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 67,581 51,079 118,660

Total assets 67,581 91,868 159,449

Liabilities

Other creditors – (532) (532)

Total liabilities – (532) (532)

(iii) Price risk
Price risk is defined as the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument held by the Company will fluctuate. Investments are measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. As of 31 December 2019 the Company held investments with an aggregate fair value of EUR 118,660,000. 
All other things being equal, the effect of a 10.0% increase or decrease in the value of the investments held at the year end would have 
been an increase or decrease of EUR 11,866,000 in the profit after taxation for the period ended 31 December 2019 and the Company’s 
net assets at 31 December 2019.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty to fulfil its contractual obligations. The Company is exposed 
to credit risk in respect of Trade and other receivables, cash at bank and shareholder loan investments. The Company’s credit risk exposure 
is minimised by dealing with financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings and making shareholder loan investments which are 
equity in nature. The Company has advanced shareholder loans to HoldCo, when advancing shareholder loans to the HoldCo, the Company 
consider available security for the loans.

 
As at 31 December 2019 

EUR ’000

Investments at fair value through profit or loss – Shareholder loan investments 67,581

Trade and other receivables 1,927

Cash and cash equivalents 38,862

Total 108,370

The cash and cash equivalents are held with RBS International and the Standard & Poor’s credit rating of RBS International is BBB-.
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Financial statements (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

17. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund an obligation when due. The Investment 
Adviser, AIFM and the Board continuously monitor forecast and actual cashflows from operating, financing and investing activities to 
consider payment of dividends, repayment of the Company’s shareholder loans or further investing activities.

Financial assets and liabilities by maturity at the period end are shown below:

 
Less than 1 year 

EUR ’000
1-2 years 
EUR ’000

2-5 years 
EUR ’000

Total 
EUR ’000

Assets     

Investments at fair value through profit or loss – Shareholder loan 
investments – – 67,581 67,581

Trade and other receivables 1,927 – – 1,927

Cash and cash equivalents 38,862 – – 38,862

Liabilities

Other creditors (532) – – (532)

 40,257 – 67,581 107,838

As at 31 December 2019, across the Company’s investment portfolio there is approximately EUR 85.0 million of non-recourse, project debt 
(on a proportional basis) at the asset SPV level.

Capital management 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 
the return to equity Shareholders.

In accordance with the Company’s investment policy, the Company’s principal use of cash (including the proceeds of the IPO and placings) 
is to investing in a diversified portfolio of Renewable Energy Infrastructure Investments, as well as expenses related to the share issue when 
they occur, ongoing operational expenses and payment of dividends and other distributions to Shareholders in accordance with the 
Company’s dividend policy.

The Company considers its capital to comprise ordinary share capital, distributable reserves and retained earnings. The Company is not 
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The Company’s share capital and reserves that are shown in the Statement of 
Financial Position at a total EUR 158,917,000.

The Board, with the assistance of the Investment Adviser, monitors and reviews the Company’s capital on an ongoing basis.

Use of distributable reserves is disclosed in note 19.

Share capital represents the 1 cent nominal value of the issued share capital.

The share premium account arose from the net proceeds of new shares.

The capital reserve reflects any increases and decreases in the fair value of investments which have been recognised in the capital column 
of the income statement.

The revenue reserve reflects all income and expenditure recognised in the revenue column of the income statement and is distributable by 
way of dividend.
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18. Transactions with the Investment Adviser and Related Party Transactions
Fees payable to the Investment Adviser are shown in the Income Statement. As at 31 December 2019, the fee outstanding to the Investment 
Adviser was EUR 300,417.

Fees are payable to the directors, effective from appointment of the directors at 8 April 2019, at an annual rate of EUR 75,000 to the 
Chairman, EUR 46,000 to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and EUR 41,000 to the other directors. 

During the period, the Company advanced shareholder loans to HoldCo of EUR 67,581,000. The accrued interest and the shareholder loans 
outstanding at the period end was EUR 69,190,000.

The directors had the following shareholdings in the Company, all of which were beneficially owned.

 
Ordinary Shares

At 31 December 2019

Ian Nolan 100,000

David MacLellan 75,000

Kenneth MacRitchie 50,000

Patricia Rodrigues 50,000

19. Distributable Reserves
The Company’s distributable reserve consists of the Special distributable reserve, Capital reserve and Revenue reserve. The Company 
currently pays dividends from the Special distributable reserve.

20. Commitments and Contingencies
On 20 December 2019, the Company announced it had entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement to acquire a 100.0% interest in a 
construction-ready wind farm project in Finland Project Korkeakangas for total consideration of EUR 36.7 million. The Company’s right to 
purchase this asset runs until December 2020. The conditions to completion have yet to be met by the vendor, and until that time the 
Company will work closely with the vendor to monitor the construction progress.

21. Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Associates
The following table shows subsidiaries of the Company. As the Company is regarded as an Investment Entity, as explained in Note 2, these 
subsidiaries have not been consolidated in the preparation of the financial statements.

Subsidiary entity name
Effective  
ownership % Investment

Country of 
incorporation

Profit/(loss) for 
the year ended 
31/12/2019
EUR million*

Capital balances 
as at  
31 December 2019
EUR million* Registered address

Tesseract Holdings Limited 100.0 HoldCo United Kingdom 8.6 118.5

Mermaid House 
2 Puddle Dock 
London EC4V 3DB

Holmen II Wind Park ApS 100.0 Holmen II Denmark 1.3 26.9

Gyngemose 
Parkvej 50, 2860 
Søborg, Denmark

Aalto Wind No 2 Ltd. Oy 100.0 Olhava Finland (0.3) 55.7

Oy, Bulevardi 1, 
6th floor,00100 
Helsinki, Finland 

Svindbaek Vindkraft HoldCo 
ApS** 100.0 Svindbaek Denmark N/A N/A

Gyngemose 
Parkvej 50, 2860 
Søborg, Denmark

Svindbaek Vindkraft GP 
ApS** 100.0 Svindbaek Denmark N/A N/A

Gyngemose 
Parkvej 50, 2860 
Søborg, Denmark

* Unaudited balances.
** Svindbaek investment was acquired on 17 December 2019 as such financial data is not available.

The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are held through HoldCo. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

21. Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Associates (continued)
The following table shows associates of the Company. The Company’s investments in associates are held through HoldCo. 

Associate entity name
Effective 
ownership % Investment

Country of 
incorporation

Profit/(loss) for 
the year ended 
31/12/2019
EUR million*

Capital balances 
as at  
31 December 2019
EUR million* Registered address

Aquia Enlica, Lda 18.0 Sagres Portugal 9.5 92.3

RuaFilipe Folque, 
nº 10 J, 2º direito, 
Lisbon, Portugal

Midtfjellet Vindkraft AS 25.9 Tesla Norway (0.7) 116.2
Sandviksvågen 45, 
Fitjar, Norway

* Unaudited balances.

As disclosed in Note 4, the Company finances the HoldCo through a mix of shareholder loans and equity. The shareholder loans accrue at 
an interest rate range of 5.3% to 10.3%.

The HoldCo finances its SPV investments through a mix of shareholder loans and equity. The shareholder loans accrue at an interest rate 
range of 5.5% to 10.5%. 

There are no restrictions on the ability of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates to transfer funds in the form of interest and dividends.

The Company and the HoldCo do not provide financial support, guarantees or any other financial benefits to the unconsolidated subsidiaries 
and associates.

22. Post Balance Sheet Events
On 6 March 2020 the Company successfully raised EUR 40.0 million under its placing programme to fund future acquisition opportunities.

On 23 March 2020, the Company also acquired an additional, 9.6 MW operating wind farm in Denmark (Svindbaek II) for EUR 13.2 million.

The recent outbreak of a novel and highly contagious form of COVID-19 which the World Health Organization has declared to constitute 
a pandemic, has resulted in numerous deaths, adversely impacted global commercial activity and contributed to significant volatility in 
certain equity markets. The global impact of the outbreak is rapidly evolving, and many countries have reacted by instituting quarantines, 
prohibitions on travel and the closure of offices, businesses, schools, retail stores and other public venues. Businesses are also implementing 
similar precautionary measures.

The Company’s existing investments in Sagres, Holmen II, Tesla, Olhava, Svindbaek I and II are connected to the power grid as existing 
investments and continue to produce electricity regardless of current market conditions. There is no project development risk for these 
investments. 

Each of the Company’s existing investments continue to benefit from contracted revenue either in the form of government subsidies FiT 
or private PPAs which last between 6 and 10 years. As a result, the electricity prices for a large portion of the production volume are 
protected and not fully dependent on short to medium term macroeconomic developments. Over 70% of the present value of Company’s 
forecast revenue over the next 5 years is contracted in the form of governmental subsidies or fixed price PPA.

The Investment Adviser’s asset management teams are in close contact with the technical and commercial operating managers of the 
affiliated companies in order to continue to ensure the best possible operation of the plants and, if necessary, to react to changing risk 
profiles. The Investment Adviser and other stakeholders have implemented procedures to ensure the safety and wellbeing of all employees, 
as well as preserving business continuity.

As explained above, the economic and financial implications in the medium to long term are unclear and a prolonged and deep market 
decline could lead to falling values in underlying businesses or interruptions to cash flow which would impact the fair value of investments. 
The Board considers the emergence of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event and therefore 
this impact is not yet recognised within these financial statements. It is uncertain and not yet capable of reliable estimation. 

Financial statements (continued)



© 2020 AERIF – For Professional Investors Only 79

Job No: 42667 Proof Event: 27 Black Line Level: 8 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Praxis Project Title: Aquila R&A 2019 T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

Other information

 Alternative Performance Measures

APMs are often used to describe the performance of investment companies although they are not specifically defined under IFRS. APM 
calculations for the Company are shown below.

Premium
The amount, expressed as a percentage, by which the share price is more than the NAV per Ordinary Share.

As at 31 December 2019 Page

NAV per Ordinary Share (cents) a 3 102.7

Share price (cents) b 3 107.8

Premium (b÷a)-1  4.9%

Ongoing charges        
A measure, expressed as a percentage of average net assets, of the regular, recurring annual costs of running an investment company.

As at 31 December 2019 Page

Average NAV a n/a 154,567

Annualised expenses b n/a 2,557

Ongoing charges (b÷a)  1.7%

Total return        
A measure of share price and NAV performance over the reporting period. 

As at 31 December 2019 Page Share price NAV

Opening at 6 June 2019 (cents) a n/a 100.0 98.0

Closing at 31 December 2019 (cents) b 3 107.8 102.7

Total return (b÷a)-1  7.8% 4.8%

n/a = not applicable.
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Other information (continued)

Glossary

AIC Association of Investment Companies

Alternative Investment Fund or ‘AIF’ An investment vehicle under AIFMD. Under AIFMD (see below) 
Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc is classified as  
an AIF.

Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive or ‘AIFMD’ A European Union directive which came into force on 22 July 2013 
and has been implemented in the UK.

Annual General Meeting or ‘AGM’ A meeting held once a year which Shareholders can attend and 
where they can vote on resolutions to be put forward at the meeting 
and ask directors questions about the company in which they are 
invested.

the Company Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc

Discount The amount, expressed as a percentage, by which the share price is 
less than the net asset value per share.

Dividend Income receivable from an investment in shares.

Ex-dividend date The date from which you are not entitled to receive a dividend which 
has been declared and is due to be paid to Shareholders.

EU European Union

Financial Conduct Authority or ‘FCA’ The independent body that regulates the financial services industry 
in the UK.

Gearing A way to magnify income and capital returns, but which can also 
magnify losses. A bank loan is a common method of gearing. See 
also ‘leverage’ below.

Gearing effect The effect of borrowing on a company’s returns.

GWh Gigawatt hour

The HoldCo Tessseract Holdings Limited, the wholly owned Subsidiary of the 
Company.

Index A basket of stocks which is considered to replicate a particular stock 
market or sector.

Investment company A company formed to invest in a diversified portfolio of assets.

IPO Initial Public Offering

Investment Trust An investment company which is based in the UK and which meets 
certain tax conditions which enables it to be exempt from UK 
corporation tax on its capital gains. The Company is an investment 
trust.

IRR Internal rate of return
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Leverage An alternative word for ‘Gearing’.

Under AIFMD, leverage is any method by which the exposure of an 
AIF is increased through borrowing of cash or securities or leverage 
embedded in derivative positions.

Under AIFMD, leverage is broadly similar to gearing, but is expressed 
as a ratio between the assets (excluding borrowings) and the net 
assets (after taking account of borrowing). Under the gross method, 
exposure represents the sum of a company’s positions after deduction 
of cash balances, without taking account of any hedging or netting 
arrangements. Under the commitment method, exposure is calculated 
without the deduction of cash balances and after certain hedging 
and netting positions are offset against each other.

Liquidity The extent to which investments can be sold at short notice.

MWh Megawatt hour

Net assets or net asset value (‘NAV’) An investment company’s assets less its liabilities.

NAV per Ordinary Share Net assets divided by the number of Ordinary Shares in issue (excluding 
any shares held in treasury).

Ongoing charges A measure of the regular, recurring annual costs of running an 
investment company, expressed as a percentage of average  
net assets.

Ordinary Shares The Company’s Ordinary Shares in issue.

Portfolio A collection of different investments held in order to deliver returns 
to Shareholders and to spread risk.

Premium The amount, expressed as a percentage, by which the share price is 
more than the net asset value per share.

PPAs Power Purchase Agreements

PV Photovoltaic

Share buyback A purchase of a company’s own shares. Shares can either be bought 
back for cancellation or held in treasury. 

Share price The price of a share as determined by a relevant stock market.

Total return A measure of performance that takes into account both income and 
capital returns. This may take into account capital gains, dividends, 
interests and other realised variables over a given period of time.
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Other information (continued)

Company Information

Directors (all non-executive) Ian Nolan (Chair)
David MacLellan
Kenneth MacRitchie
Patricia Rodrigues

Registered office Mermaid House
2 Puddle Dock
London
EC4V 3DB

AIFM International Fund Management Limited
Sarnia House
Le Truchot
St Peter Port
Guernsey
GY1 1GR

Investment Adviser Aquila Capital Investmentgesellschaft mbH
Valentinskamp 70
D-20335
Hamburg
Germany

Sponsor and Bookrunner Numis Securities Limited
The London Stock Exchange Building
10 Paternoster Square
London
EC4M 7LT

Administrator and Company Secretary PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
Mermaid House
2 Puddle Dock
London
EC4V 3DB

Registrar and Receiving Agent Computershare Investor Services Plc
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol
BS13 8AE

Independent Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
7 More London Riverside
London
SE1 2RT

*Registered in England and Wales No. 11932433
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Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Aquila European Renewables Income Fund Plc will be held at The Car Park, 
Abinger Hatch Pub, Abinger Lane, Abinger Common, Dorking RH5 6HZ on 8 June 2020 at 2:00p.m. for the following purposes: 

To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolutions of which resolutions 1 to 11 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and 
resolutions 12 to 14 will be proposed as special resolutions.

Ordinary resolutions

1.  To receive the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019, with the reports of the Directors and 
auditors thereon.

2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report included in the Annual Report.

3.  To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Implementation Report included in the Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

4. To elect Ian Nolan as a Director of the Company.

5. To elect Patricia Rodrigues as a Director of the Company.

6. To elect David MacLellan as a Director of the Company.

7. To elect Kenneth MacRitchie as a Director of the Company.

8. To appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors to the Company.

9.  To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the auditors until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company.

10.  That the Company be authorised, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, to send, convey or 
supply all types of notices, documents or information to shareholders by electronic means, including making such notices, documents 
or information available on a website.

11.  That the Directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised (in substitution for all subsisting authorities to the extent 
unused) to exercise all powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (as defined in section 551 of the Companies Act 2006) up to 
an aggregate nominal amount equal to EUR 643,511.92 PROVIDED THAT the Directors may not allot relevant securities of an aggregate 
nominal amount more than 33.33 per cent. of the nominal value of the issued share capital (excluding Treasury Shares) at the date of 
the Annual General Meeting and that this authority shall expire (unless previously varied, revoked or renewed by the Company in 
general meeting) at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2021 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 
15 months from the passing of this resolution (the “section 551 period”) but so that the Directors may, at any time prior to the expiry 
of the section 551 period, make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry 
of the section 551 period and the Directors may allot relevant securities in the pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority 
granted by this resolution had not expired.

Special resolutions

12.  That, subject to the passing of resolution 11 in the notice convening the meeting at which this resolution is to be proposed (the ‘‘notice 
of meeting’’) and in substitution for all existing powers, the Directors be and are hereby generally empowered pursuant to section 570 
of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘‘Act’’) to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 (1) of the Act) for cash pursuant to the 
authority under section 551 of the Act conferred by resolution 11 in the notice of meeting as if section 561 of the Act did not apply 
to any such allotment, provided that this power:

 (i)  expires at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or, if earlier, 15 months from the date this resolution 
is passed, but the Company may make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities  to  be  allotted  after 
expiry of this power and  the  Directors may allot equity securities  in pursuance of that offer or agreement as if that power had 
not expired; and
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Other information (continued)

 (ii) shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities for cash up to an aggregate nominal amount of EUR 193,053.57.

  This power applies in relation to the sale of shares which is an allotment of equity securities that immediately before the allotment are 
held by the Company as treasury shares as if in the opening paragraph of this resolution the words ‘‘subject to the passing of resolution 
11 in the notice convening the meeting at which this resolution is to be proposed (‘‘the notice of meeting”)’’ and ‘‘pursuant to the 
authority under section 551 of the Act conferred by resolution 11 in the notice of meeting’’ were omitted.

13.  That, in addition to the authority granted in resolution 12 and subject to the passing of resolution 11 in the notice convening the 
meeting at which this resolution is to be proposed (the ‘‘notice of meeting’’) and in substitution for all existing powers, the Directors 
be and are hereby generally empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘‘Act’’) to allot equity securities 
(as defined in section 560 (1) of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority under section 551 of the Act conferred by resolution 11 
in the notice of meeting as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power:

 (i)  expires at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or, if earlier, 15 months from the date this resolution 
is passed, but the Company may make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after 
expiry of this power and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of that offer or agreement as if that power had 
not expired; and 

 (ii)  shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities for cash in connection with the Company’s discount control mechanism up 
to an aggregate nominal amount of EUR 193,053.57.

  This power applies in relation to the sale of shares which is an allotment of equity securities that immediately before the allotment 
are held by the Company as treasury shares as if in the opening paragraph of this resolution the words ‘‘subject to the passing of 
resolution 11 in the notice convening the meeting at which this resolution is to be proposed (‘‘the notice of meeting”)’’ and ‘‘pursuant 
to the authority under section 551 of the Act conferred by resolution 11 in the notice of meeting’’ were omitted.

14  That the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 701 of the Companies Act 
2006 (“the Act”) to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its Ordinary Shares of 1p each, 
provided that:

 (a)  the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased shall be 289,387 (representing 14.99 per cent of 
the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital at the date of the notice of this meeting);

 (b) the minimum price (exclusive of any expenses) which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is 1 cent;

 (c)  the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for an Ordinary Share is not more than the higher of (i) 5 per cent 
above the average of the middle market quotations for the Ordinary Shares for the five business days immediately before the day 
on which it purchases that share and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current independent 
bid for the Ordinary Shares; (d) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company in 2021 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 15 months from the passing of this resolution, unless such authority is renewed 
prior to such time; and (e) the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares under the authority hereby conferred 
prior to the expiry of such authority, which will or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiration of such authority and may 
make a purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract.

15.  That a general meeting of the Company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 days’ notice, provided 
that this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting after the date of the passing of this 
resolution.

Registered Office: 

  For and on behalf of
Mermaid House, Brian Smith
Puddle Dock  For and on behalf of
London PraxisIFM Fund Services (UK) Limited
EC4V 3DB
  By order of the Board
  Company Secretary
  27 April 2020
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Notes to the notice of meeting

COVID-19 Measures
1.  The Governments Stay at Home Measures (the ‘Stay at Home Measures’) currently in force because of the COVID-19 pandemic would 

make the attendance of any shareholders above the number necessary to form a quorum potentially unlawful. For this reason, the 
Annual General Meeting will be restricted to two attendees (for example, the Chairman and the Company Secretary), both of whom 
will be shareholders for the purposes of forming a quorum and comply with the Measures as a gathering that is “essential for work 
purposes”.

Website address
2.  Information regarding the meeting, including the information required by section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, is available from 

www.aquila-european-renewables-income-fund.com

Entitlement to attend and vote
3.  Only those holders of Ordinary Shares registered on the Company’s register of members at close of business on 4 June 2020 or, if this 

meeting is adjourned, at close of business on the day two days prior to the adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at 
the meeting, subject to the Stay at Home Measures referred to above.

Appointment of Proxies
4.  Members entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting meeting, subject to the Stay at Home Measures referred to above. If you 

wish to appoint a proxy please use the Form of Proxy enclosed with this document or follow the instructions at note 7 below if you 
wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service. In the case of joint members, only one need sign the 
Form of Proxy. The vote of the senior joint member will be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint members. For this 
purpose, seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of the members appear in the register of members in respect 
of the joint shareholding. The completion and return of the Form of Proxy will not stop you attending and voting in person at the 
meeting should you wish to do so, subject to the Stay at Home Measures referred to above. A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share 
or shares held by you. If you choose to appoint multiple proxies use a separate copy of this form (which you may photocopy) for each 
proxy, and indicate after the proxy’s name the number of shares in relation to which they are authorised to act (which, in aggregate, 
should not exceed the number of Ordinary Shares held by you). Please also indicate if the proxy instruction is one of multiple instructions 
being given. All forms must be signed and returned in the same envelope.

5.  You can appoint the Chairman of the Meeting, or any other person, as your proxy. If you wish to appoint someone other than the 
Chairman, cross out the words “the Chairman of the Meeting” on the Form of Proxy and insert the full name of your appointee.

6.  You can instruct your proxy how to vote on each resolution by ticking the “For” and “Against” boxes as appropriate (or entering the 
number of shares which you are entitled to vote). If you wish to abstain from voting on any resolution please tick the box which is 
marked “Vote Withheld”. It should be noted that a vote withheld is not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation of the 
proportion of votes “For” and “Against” a resolution. If you do not indicate on the Form of Proxy how your proxy should vote, he/she 
can exercise his/her discretion as to whether, and if so how, he/she votes on each resolution, as he/she will do in respect of any other 
business (including amendments to resolutions) which may properly be conducted at the meeting. 

  A company incorporated in England and Wales or Northern Ireland should execute the Form of Proxy under its common seal or otherwise 
in accordance with Section 44 of the Companies Act 2006 or by signature on its behalf by a duly authorised officer or attorney whose 
power of attorney or other authority should be enclosed with the Form of Proxy. 

Appointment of Proxy using Hard Copy Form
7.  The Form of Proxy and any power of attorney (or a notarially certified copy or office copy thereof) under which it is executed must be 

received by Computershare Investor Services  at 12 noon on 4 June 2020 in respect of the meeting. Any Forms of Proxy received before 
such time will be deemed to have been received at such time. In the case of an adjournment, the Form of Proxy must be received by 
Computershare Investor Services no later than 48 hours before the rescheduled meeting.

  On completing the Form of Proxy, sign it and return it to Computershare Investor Services  at the address shown on the Form of Proxy 
in the envelope provided. As postage has been pre-paid no stamp is required.
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Other information (continued)

Appointment of Proxy through CREST
8.  CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the 

meeting to be held on the above date and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST 
Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), 
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

  In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST 
Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain 
the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes 
the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be 
transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s agent (ID: RA10) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified in 
the notice of meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to 
the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in 
the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to a proxy’s appointee through CREST should be communicated 
to the appointee through other means. 

  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited 
does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore 
apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the 
CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his 
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means 
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting 
service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system 
and timings.

  The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001.

  All messages relating to the appointment of a proxy or an instruction to a previously appointed proxy, which are to be transmitted 
through CREST, must be lodged at 12 noon on 8 March 2020 in respect of the meeting. Any such messages received before such time 
will be deemed to have been received at such time. In the case of an adjournment, all messages must be lodged with Computershare 
Investor Services no later than 48 hours before the rescheduled meeting.

Termination of proxy appointments
9.  In order to revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform the Company. Please send a signed hard copy notice clearly stating your 

intention to revoke your proxy appointment to Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZY.

  In the case of a member which is a company, the revocation notice must be executed under its common seal or otherwise in accordance 
with section 44 of the Companies Act 2006 or by signature on its behalf by an officer or attorney whose power of attorney or other 
authority should be included with the revocation notice. 

  If you attempt to revoke your proxy appointment but the revocation is received after the time specified in note 2 opposite then, subject 
to the paragraph directly below, your proxy will remain valid. 

  Completion of a Form of Proxy will not preclude a member from attending and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy and 
attend the meeting in person, your proxy appointment will be automatically terminated.

  If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment in respect of the same Ordinary Shares, the appointment received last before 
the latest time for receipt of proxies will take precedence. 
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Nominated Persons
10. If you are a person who has been nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights:

 � You may have a right under an agreement between you and the member of the Company who has nominated you to have information 
rights (Relevant Member) to be appointed or to have someone else appointed as a proxy for the meeting.

 � If you either do not have such a right or if you have such a right but do not wish to exercise it, you may have a right under an 
agreement between you and the Relevant Member to give instructions to the Relevant Member as to the exercise of voting rights.

 � Your main point of contact in terms of your investment in the Company remains the Relevant Member (or, perhaps, your custodian or 
broker) and you should continue to contact them (and not the Company) regarding any changes or queries relating to your personal 
details and your interest in the Company (including any administrative matters). The only exception to this is where the Company 
expressly requests a response from you.

  If you are not a member of the Company but you have been nominated by a member of the Company to enjoy information rights, you 
do not have a right to appoint any proxies under the procedures set out in the notes to the form of proxy.

Questions at the Meeting
11.  If the Stay at Home Measures continue in force as at the date of the AGM, shareholders are invited to submit to the Company Secretary 

any questions they would otherwise have asked at the AGM via email to aquilacosec@praxisifm.com. Such questions will be considered 
by the Board. If any relevant questions are received, the Company Secretary will respond to those questions directly and may also, if 
the Board so determines, and subject to any regulatory restrictions, publish on the Company’s website a summary of responses to 
questions received.

Issued Ordinary Shares and total voting rights
12.  The total number of shares in issue in the Company is 193,053,577 Ordinary Shares of 1 cent each. On a vote by a show of hands, 

every holder of Ordinary Shares who (being an individual) is present by a person, by proxy or (being a corporation) is present by a duly 
authorised representative, not being himself a member, shall have one vote. On a poll every holder of Ordinary Shares who is present 
in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every Ordinary Share held by him.

Communication
13.  Except as provided above, members who have general queries about the meeting should use the following means of communication 

(no other methods of communication will be accepted):

 � calling Computershare Investor Services Shareholder helpline (lines are open from 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. Monday to Friday, excluding 
public holidays) +44 371 664 0300 (calls cost 12p per minute plus network extras); or

 � in writing to Computershare Investor Services. You may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice of meeting or in 
any related documents (including the Form of Proxy for this meeting) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than 
those expressly stated.




